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Dear Investors:

In 2016, Chinasoft recorded its 13th consecutive year of revenue increase since listing, and has over 47,000 employees. 

The Group achieved revenue of RMB6.78 billion, and service revenue of RMB6.57 billion, 100 times more than when the 

Group was listed in 2003. Chinasoft continues to rise in rankings in China’s ITS industry and has been regarded as one of 

the leaders in this industry.

i. HeLPinG ouR LARGe cuSToMeRS TRAnSFoRM

We have gained a lot through our competition with our peers in the Indian ITS industry, and were able to fully 

participate in helping our biggest global banking clients to realize its digital transformation. This shows that our large 

customers in key industries globally have moved from the concept of digital transformation to actual implementation. 

In this round of construction, China’s software service companies, including ourselves, have gained first-mover 

advantages. Whether it’s our service implementation for Tencent’s WeBank, or financial big data implementation 

with Huawei, the Group’s experience and practices in DevOps and Agile development have become the basis for 

oversea clients to choose us. Software services are experienced services, and currently our big customers are 

experiencing changes in the development stage. These changes will become our opportunities to “overtake” our 

peers. We can see how evident these changes are just by looking at the changes in Microsoft’s office decorations 

and layout. Before, Microsoft’s signature office view was to have one software engineer in his/her own cubicle. Now, 

Microsoft has completed its cloud transformation to become the world’s second biggest public cloud service 

provider, and its office now resembles more of a startup. Catapult, our subsidiary in America that was named 

Microsoft’s Partner of the Year in 2016, not only witnessed this transformation, but also as a pioneer in digitalization, 

aided in this transformation. Catapult designed and developed Digital Workforce Suite based on Azure, and we are 

looking forward to see their first success in this field in the US market. As the first company to pass Huawei’s 

certification to become its cloud service partner, the Group has witnessed firsthand how aggressive Huawei, known 

for its execution, is when they march head on into cloud computing. New disruptions are happening and industry 

landscapes will be changed. These changes are truly exciting!

ii. BeGinninG oF SoFTWARe SeRVice inDuSTRY’S uPGRADinG TRAnSFoRMATion

Our “dual-wheel” growth strategy is a foresight of ours for the future development of the software service industry. 

We believe that there will be a wave of software and consumer services when customers are fully connected with the 

providers, and when everyone has access to a powerful “computer” within their palms. The to C (consumer 

application) market will reverse overtake the to B (business application) market, and the software and ITS will no 

longer be on a pedestal. We see how powerful, clean, and intuitive these “no downloads required, easy to share” 

WeChat small programs are. Most importantly, the investment required for development is very small, and there is no 

room to “over-sale” with the software developments! We see that there is an industry consensus that the software 

and ITS industries are in urgent need of transformation. Jointforce was able to initially and continuously provide 

answers for this upgrading transformation. This is the most heartfelt reward in year zero of the Jointforce 

development.
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New “Man + Machine” enabled software services are on the rise. Our “Application Development: Done on Jointforce 

through Huawei Cloud”, which revealed our joint improvements with Huawei in its software development cloud, is 

not only a market slogan, but also a mutual understanding between Huawei and us for the nature of the industry. Our 

goal is to become a strategic partner that “shares the same boat”, as we further bundle both parties’ functions and 

services. Jointforce will co-construct a new ecosystem for ITS industry though “cloud-based software industry park” 

and “cloud based IT center”.

iii. MoVinG ToWARDS AcTiVe oFFenSe AnD “STARTinG AGAin”.

Active offense means the Group’s lines of business will face a full on sales-driven transformation. More specifically, 

that there will be a transition towards younger management and first-line managers (decreasing the average age by 

10 years). We will reward accomplishments, promote “warriors” (talents), continue to hire new personnel, and 

embrace these “new bloods”. We will leverage the global market, lead technological revolutions, establish industry 

ecosystem, and become a top global ITS enterprise. This is our vision of active offense, and starting again.

In the domestic market, the state continued to increase the supply for structure reform efforts to accelerate the 

integration of manufacturing and Internet development, promoting a comprehensive industry upgrade. China 

Manufacturing 2025, Internet +, big data and etc. has became the state’s strategy. New smart city will become the 

trend for city developments. These brought unprecedented opportunities for the domestic IT industry and allows 

Chinese IT enterprises to grow rapidly and exemplify a sense of maturity, coming from “foundation strengths” and 

“internal strengths”, to compete in the global market.

There is huge demand for global ITS industry cloud services, big data, and more. The state’s “the Belt and Road” 

strategy will be largely deployed, and all these will become huge business opportunities for Chinese IT enterprises to 

globalize under this “digital China” integrative solution.

The Group will continue to consolidate its core businesses, providing custom services for our core clients, and 

enroot in software service center cities including Xi’an, Shenzhen, Nanjing, Chengdu, Wuhan, Beijing, Shanghai, and 

Guangzhou. The Group will continue to develop new innovative services as we grow, and as the leading enterprise, 

we will demonstrate and contribute to the development of China’s IT industry. The Group sees the global market as 

a motivating source, and will leverage that along with our innovative advantages to compete with Indian IT 

companies. The Group will increase its pace for global layout, and plan to establish new centers an India, Middle 

East, North Africa, and Russia, while improving existing centers in America, Hungary, and Malaysia. Lastly, the Group 

will leverage cloud-based digital transformation services to complete its global layout, service global clients, and 

establish Chinese influence in the global IT industry.



Chinasoft International Limited     Annual Report 2016

Chairman’s Letter 5

The smart application of data allows enterprises to obtain a clear competitive advantage. Whether it is domestic or 

global, enterprises are all “hugging” big data, exploring and establishing their competitiveness. In 2016, the Group 

established an advantageous and unique industry crossover big data servicing capability, and achieved key 

breakthroughs in finance, transportation, and energy industry, and laid a strong foundation to expand its big data 

business into different industries. Because of our leading capabilities in big data, we were rewarded as one of the 

China’s Top 100 Big Data Companies in 2016. In the future, the Group’s big data business will continue to contribute 

in the areas of government, banks, insurance, securities, financial regulators, transportation, logistics, energy, 

manufacturing, and media. Big data businesses will become a strong engine for promoting the Group’s future 

development and strategy transformation.

As the Group’s “Starting Again” campaign develops, a new round of growth for the Group has opened. “Walk the 

world, build Jointforce”, we will be on the offense. The Group‘s future is worth the anticipation!

chairman

Chen Yuhong
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i) neW DeVeLoPMenT HiGHLiGHTS:

• The Jointforce platform entered into a “mission” strategic cooperation with the Huawei Software Development 

Cloud and initiated a cloud-based revolution. The Group will build a brand new software customization 

development ecosystem.

• The Group’s strategic relationship with Huawei strengthened as it established a new joint innovative big data 

laboratory in Xi’an and will work hand in hand with Huawei Software Development Cloud and build a new 

customizable development ecosystem.

• The Group entered into a strategic cooperation with Tencent to become Tencent Cloud’s highest ranked 

channel partner.

• Catapult Systems was on the cover of “CIO Review”, and rewarded as the “The Company with the Most 

Potential as Microsoft’s Service Provider” in 2016.

• The Group was inaugurated as the first class of the “Level One Enterprise in IT System Integration and 

Services in China”.

ii) coMPAnY STRATeGY

1. Globalization: Leverage the “the Belt and Road” and establish chinese influence in the Global iT 

community

In essence, the “the Belt and Road” development strategy is a system upgrade and input of the different 

unique Chinese cities’ experiences. It is an opportunity arisen based on the basic infrastructure establishment, 

city operation, financial support, human resource, innovative technologies, cultural integration, and other 

industries. The basis of this system upgrade is the wide usage of ICT to increase a leapfrog development of 

the country. In truth, the “the Belt and Road” strategy is the country’s digitalization plan, and for it to 

consolidate, advances, and promotes the evolution of different cities. The “the Belt and Road” provides a 

huge business potential for “Digital China”.

The Group, in long term, provides IT services, Microsoft, Huawei, HSBC and other Fortune 500 companies in 

32 different countries and have accumulate customer experiences for a large amount of global clients. The 

Group will leverage the digital “the Belt and Road”, combining Huawei’s product and industry experience and 

speed up the Group’s global expansion plans. The Group will establish global centers in Russia, India, Middle 

East and North Africa, and improve its centers in America, Hungary, and Malaysia. The Group will become a 

global IT company and establish a Chinese It presence in the global IT community through its digital 

transformational services.
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2. Jointforce: consolidate the Best ecosystem Resources and enter into Regional Markets

The Jointforce platform has been commercialized for a year and a half. Its brand recognition and influences 

increased significantly and businesses increased. As of the end of 2016, there are over 1,000 teams, close to 

3,000 companies, and over 130,000 engineers available on the platform. There are close to 20,000 

contracting companies posting over RMB600 million worth of contracts on the platform, fully verifying the IT 

Model 2 (transformational and innovative IT development). The init ial industry ecosystem has been 

established.

Currently, Jointforce is in over 387 cities. Jointforce successfully launched “famous city” events in Xi’an, 

Guangzhou, and Nanjing, and established regional platform organizations in key software cities including 

Beijing, Shanghai, Xi’an, Dalian, Chengdu, Wuhan, Guangzhou and Shenzhen. In the future, Jointforce will 

fully participate in regional smart city construction projects. The company is resolved to work with Huawei as 

strategic partners and leverage its core capabilities and ecosystem to devote to cloud migration and 

integration, big data city operation (new smart city), software cloud based on cloud, smart manufacturing 

cloud, education cloud and other core businesses and unique competitive advantages. The Group will 

strengthen the cooperation between ResourceOne and PaaS layer products, and though Jointforce to 

provide more application and operation management services. The goal is to “share the same boat” with 

Huawei and continue to improve end customers’ satisfactions.

3. Big Data: core competitiveness through industry Barriers, Breakthrough in Data Value

The IDC predicts that the big data and analytic market will grow from USD130 billion to USD203 billion from 

2016 to 2020. The Group’s increased available data, the emergence and development of next-generation 

technologies, and the cultural transformation of data-driven decision-making have continued to stimulate 

market demand for big data and analyt ic services. In 2016, the Group quickly establ ished unique 

cross-industry big data services advantages, including establishing a high quality big data service team 

covering consulting, implementation, development, quality and professional pragmatism, an advanced 

independent software platform and cross-industry consulting and implementation methodology, end-to-end 

solutions, technical service capabilities to help customers plan and design rational and scientific big data 

structures, methodical integration of data sharing, precision marketing and micro management, and 

operational risk control capabilities improvements. In the past year, the Group’s big data business maintained 

its leading positions in the financial sector and built on its existing foundations. In the insurance and regulatory 

market, the Group improved its market regulation standardization and precision. The Group big data platform 

achieved breakthrough in the core institutions of China’s capital market with its big data application, Huawei’s 

IT services in data communication, energy industry, transportation industry, media industry, and etc. Lastly, 

the Group was successfully selected as the Top 100 Big Data Companies in 2016.

In the future, the Group’s data business will continue to contribute in the areas of financial regulators, 

government and high-tech parks, industry authorities, banks, insurance, securities, transportation, logistics, 

energy, manufacturing, public security, medical and health care, and media. The Group will leverage its 

knowledge in multiple industries, effective business lines, and technology training system to provide a 

comprehensive big data services and decision support. Big data will become the Group’s new growth engine.
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iii) BuSineSS LAnDScAPe

The Group is positioned to provide integrated software and information services, i.e. end-to-end IT services, 

including consulting services, technical services outsourcing services, and training services. The technical services 

mainly involve IT solutions and outsourcing services, including ITO, BPO, EPO, and more. The Group’s customers 

are in industry sectors that possess high IT growth potentials, including finance, telecommunication, government and 

manufacturing, high technology, and etc. The Group’s customers are located in China, United States of America, 

and Asia Pacific region. The Group owns more than 300 software copyrights and patents, including Resource-One 

(R1), the middleware platform software that provides application support for industry solutions, and TopLink, the 

software platform product that supports big-data exchange.

i. Technology professional services group (TPG）

1. Software Platform Products

2. Strategy, Business, and IT Consulting

3. Industry and General Application Software and Solution Development

4. System Integration and Services

5. Product Engineering

6. Application Development and Management Services

7. Enterprise Application Services

8. Business, Engineering and Knowledge Process Outsourcing

9. Mobile Internet Products and Services

10. Big Data Products and Services
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ii. internet iT services group（iiG）

1. JointForce Platform

2. Cloud Migration and Operation Services

3. Cloud Consulting and SaaS Services

4. PaaS Products and Services

5. Training Business

1. Segment Descriptions

i.	 Introduction of TPG business

TPG is the first “wheel” of our bi-model structure that services large customers and large industries 

that require the Group’s experienced project management skill sets, human resource capabilities, and 

control of certain specific resources. The Huawei and financial lines of business are TPG’s leading 

lines of business.

The Group has over the years consistently used the consulting-driven business model, based on its 

independently developed software platform products, and provided end-to-end professional services 

that combine consult ing methodology with the information technology practices of China’s 

enterprises. It adheres to the philosophy to focus on the industry, and prioritize services and strive for 

customers’ success. In addition, the Group has trained a large number of experts in the industries that 

it serves, and established harmonious reciprocal win-win business environment with its customers, 

with a high level of market appeal and customer loyalty, which has effectively established the leading 

position of the Group in the solutions field in China. The Group is also committed to provide global 

customers with complete, flexible, and scalable high quality IT outsourcing services. With experienced 

management and technology specialists as well as a variety of delivery models, the Group is able to 

adapt to changing business and technology environments.

• Software Platform Products

The Group currently has two series of proprietary software platform products, the Resource-

One and TopLink/TSA+. The Group integrated the concept of “Products are services and 

services are products” into the design structure of these products, which also allows the 

Group to find a balance between stability and changing market demand. The Group continued 

to invest and improve its software platform products for over a decade to enhance the 

technical applicability and performance of the products, thereby continuously enhancing the 

levels and standards of customer services.
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The Group’s Big Data middleware (Ark) is a one-stop, large data scenario development 

platform in the big data market that encapsulates the technical detai ls of the current 

mainstream data technology framework (such as Hive, Hbase, HDFS, Spark, and etc.) The 

platform can help enterprise users to quickly visualize and create a big data processing 

process, help companies quickly migrate existing data to large data technology system, and to 

enjoy the large data technology for data processing to bring forth new changes. Meanwhile, 

Ark can largely reduce the cost for enterprise users learning how to use big data technologies, 

and help enterprise users to unify its application and maintenance, allowing the users to freely 

navigate through the sea of potential valuable data.

• Strategy, Business, and iT consulting

Consulting services sit at the top end of the business value chain of the Group. By providing 

strategy and business consulting services, the Group can more clearly understand the intrinsic 

nature of customers’ business and understand their real needs. The Group’s consulting 

products and services are based on rigorous and proven scientific methods and frameworks. 

In the areas of business processes, technology and outsourcing, the Group analyzes and 

evaluates the existing environment to determine the optimizing opportunity, and provides 

customers with the strategic development path that can significantly save costs and increase 

productivity.

• Vertical and cross-industry Application Software and Solution Development

The Group provides customers in a variety of industries with End-To-End process services that 

include vertical and cross-industry application software and solutions. The Group uses 

Resource-One application supporting platform to penetrate through the entire project cycle of 

“Planning – General Design – Development – Overall Integration – Operation and Maintenance”, 

in which the integration methodology of the Group has been incorporated, including:

×

 In the planning and design phase, the Group dispatches appropriate industry 

consultants and qualified designers, armed with in-depth knowledge of the best 

practices of information technology, to understand the customer’s business needs and 

form a business components map that can be assembled using the R1 platform and an 

integrated business framework.

×

 In the scalable development and testing phase, the Group’s on-site team members will 

work closely with the customer, keeping up with the customer’s changing needs. The 

Group assigns a large amount of development and testing work to the Center of 

Excellence (COE) to be conducted in different professional expertise areas including 

Java,.net appl icat ions, c loud comput ing, and mobi le solut ions. By using the 

development tool of the R1 platform, our COE ensures a unif ied technological 

architecture and quality, thus effectively increasing repeat usage as well as reducing 

development time and costs.
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×

 In the application integration phase, the Group’s implementation engineers will use the 

integration methodology of Resource-One as well as other robust, scalable and 

extensible platform tools to conduct integration tests and assemble the components of 

complex business applications according to their levels and categories.

×

 In the operation and maintenance phase, the Group’s platforms, application software 

and solutions have been adopted by a number of strategic industries nationwide; the 

Group has simultaneously completed the layout with specialized operation and 

maintenance teams in all key areas of China.

With years of experience and the successful practice of a large number of projects, the Group 

has gained industry service capability, customer service capability, regional service capability 

and large project service capability. Relying upon its R1 platform software, the Group focuses 

on process control in development and business management, while adhering to standard 

requirements of quality control systems ISO9001, ISO20000, ISO27001 and CMMI, fully 

ensuring the service quality and delivery time.

• System integration and Services

The Group has extensive experience in services with “A” qualification for system integration, 

and the major services provided include system integration, system maintenance and system 

operation. Together with other services, the Group covers the entire life cycle of information 

systems, ensuring smooth construction and operation of medium to large information systems.

• Product engineering

The Group provides product engineering services to technology product development 

companies, including independent software vendors and telecommunications equipment 

developers. The Group’s capability of fast delivery can help customers improve the speed of 

product development, and save development costs, thus gaining the time advantage in 

marketing their products. The development of products by the Group includes operating 

system, database, middleware, network protocol, speech recognition and human-machine 

interface, telecom value-added applications and other software products. The Group can also 

provide specialized products and services, including product design, development, and quality 

assurance and testing.
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• Application Development and Maintenance

To specific customers, the Group offers application development and management services 

such as application software development, system maintenance and system optimization, 

based on the needs of industry customers. The Group’s ADM services were designed to help 

customers realize the scientific management of spending in IT outsourcing, enabling customers 

to focus more on their core competencies. The Group has experienced and well-structured 

ADM service teams in application environments such as mainframe computers, client servers, 

internet and mobile internet, as well as a variety of platform software programs including 

various mainframe system, Windows series, Linux/Unix and Android, Symbian, IPhone OS, etc. 

The Group can deliver the ADM services in its Centers of Excellence (COE) or at customers’ 

sites.

• enterprise Application Services

The Group provides consulting-driven enterprise application services. While keeping standard 

functions of system application unchanged, the Group takes into consideration the differences 

in customized needs of enterprises, managerial needs and proposes an application solution 

meeting their needs. This enhances management quality of enterprises, and allow customers 

to realize goals of supporting business of enterprises.

The Group’s enterprise application services cover a number of mainstream ERP systems and 

e-business packages, including enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems, customer 

relationship management (CRM), supply chain management (SCM), enterprise application 

integration (EAI), and etc. Specific services provided by the Group include: packaged software 

implementation, customized development, maintenance and product upgrades, business 

intelligence (BI)/data warehouse (DW).

• Business, engineering and Knowledge Process outsourcing

The Group offers BPO, EPO and KPO services to customers within different fields including 

finance, manufacturing, medical and healthcare, transportation and logistics, targeting at 

markets in Japan, Europe, America and the Greater China regions. The Group provides 

customers with multilingual BPO, EPO and KPO services, including back office processing, 

shared service centers, data processing, desktop publishing (DTP), CAD, Call Centers, 

business intelligence and data mining.

• Mobile internet product and service

The Group is the one of earlier mobile application product designers and is also one of largest 

professional mobile end developer and adaptation of service providers. The Group provides 

Instant message, fusion of communication, mobile social, mobile payment, enterprise mobile 

application, application shopping mall, and internal product design, as well as development 

and operating marketing service.
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• Big Data Products and Services

The Group provides big data related consulting, implementation and development services, 

and the Group is committed to provide government and enterprises with data strategy 

consulting, data platform, data management and data analysis services. The Group is focused 

on the development of government and enterprises’ data and technology solutions for China’s 

national conditions, and with its plentiful experience in industry-level and enterprise-level 

project construction, the Group is able to help customers plan and design scientific and 

reasonable big data overall structure, achieve data integration and sharing open, so as to 

enhance the level of fine management, strengthen capability of operational risk control, help 

the government to innovate the government administration methods, help industry enterprises 

and financial institutions to achieve business transformation and upgrading.

ii.	 Introduction of IIG business

IIG is the other “wheel” in the Group’s bimodal structure. The Internet ITS business is focused on what 

we call “on-line” business with customers that are more price sensitive and projects that are best 

handled by flexible resources. Majority of the work in IIG will be performed through our JointForce (JF) 

platform. With the JF platform, developers from anywhere in the country can freely bid and work on 

projects listed on the platform, allowing the business to pick and choose the best developers at the 

lowest cost.

At the same time, projects that have only periodical service needs can come to the platform when 

services are needed and pay no continued fixed costs when the projects are completed. This greatly 

alleviates the waiting cost in traditional ITS models for projects that have long waiting periods between 

tasks.

• JointForce

The JF platform was created to relieve the difficulties facing the industry. Recent technology 

innovation in SMAC played a pivotal role enabling the platform to exist and operate as 

intended. Through JF we can offer the industry an alternative to the more traditional IT service 

delivery model and in the process created a sort of a clearing house for IT services at a price 

that is agreeable to both the buyer and seller of this service. Like AirBnB, we are tapping into 

the share-economy/crowd sourcing concept for our industry.

• cloud migration and operation and maintenance services

The Group has been carrying out technical services including l ight Cloud migrat ion, 

independent host migration, system configuration, software configuration, data backup, data 

transfer and system configuration, Clients cover individual user, professional user, as well as 

enterprise user. It also provides maintenance service for users. In the near future the Group will 

provide more technical cloud servicing capabilities in accordance to new technologies, acquire 

new partners, and expansion into new industries.
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• cloud consulting and SaaS customization services

The era of cloud computing has arrived for those that want to simplify IT, push innovation, 

increase returns on IT investments, and increase efficiency in operations. The Group entered 

into a strategic agreement with Ali-Cloud, the leading Chinese cloud computing company, to 

provide cloud consulting and customized services. Innovation is treated as a standard today, 

including rich social experience, mobile payment, friendly user interface, structured and 

unstructured instant search data and regularly and upgrade without interference, The Group’s 

SaaS solution project combine user needs by innovation technology. These innovation 

functions are able to disrupt the cl ient’s core business and enhance its core system 

performance. Furthermore, the Group already signed strategic cooperation with Alibaba Group 

to participate in its “Digital Internet City” project. The Group will work on the PaaS level.

• PaaS (Software interface in the cloud products) and services

Radar Cloud PaaS platform is the Group’s proprietary PaaS product that enables cloud 

development, integration, management, and serves as a portal to link with other cloud 

partners. Radar Cloud PaaS platform is the result of the Group’s business innovation and 

dedication to products. It is also the result of the Group’s strategy to go smart in verticals 

including government, medicinal, transportation, real estate, education, and etc, The Group 

focuses on new technology, new models, and will use the Radar Cloud PaaS platform as the 

base for cloud computation to improve the Group’s cloud capabilities, further pushing smart 

transformation.

• eTc Training business

The Group’s Excellence Training Center (ETC) is a practical training base of computer 

technology for college students, as certified by the Ministry of Education of China. It is one of 

the industry’s leading brands for mid-end to high-end IT training. Through cooperation with 

colleges and universities, practical training based on real positions and projects are provided 

for college students majoring in computer sciences or other related areas. So far, the Group 

has established training centers in Beijing, Tianjin, Dalian, Changsha, Wuxi, Chongqing, 

Xiamen, Nanjing, and Shenyang.
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2. industry Verticals

The Group has strong presence in the following industry verticals:

i.	 Government and Enterprises

Over the years, as a pioneer for e-government, the Group has leveraged its extensive industry 

experience and its understanding of the intrinsic nature of customers’ needs and based on Resource-

One, has undertaken a number of key national technological projects. As the chief integrator, the 

Group has achieved outstanding results in a number of national Golden Projects, such as Golden 

Auditing, Golden Quality, Golden Insurance, Golden Agriculture (Agricultural Management and Service 

Information System), Golden Macroeconomic Management (Macroeconomic Management Information 

System) and Golden IC-Card Projects, by which Resource-One was recognized by CCID as the top 

brand among e-government appl ication support platform products in China, establ ishing a 

comprehensive leading position in e-government. According to IDC market research, the Group has 

maintained among the top three in the overall rankings in the market of government industry solutions 

for a number of consecutive years. Through cooperation with Ali-Cloud, the Group achieved a 

breakthrough in the f ield of government cloud, and became one of the leading providers of 

government cloud services in China.

ii.	 Manufacturing and Circulation (Tobacco)

Leveraging on the Group’s in-depth understanding of manufacturing and circulation industry, 

combined with its professional IT experience and service capabilities deployed around the country, the 

Group has made intensive efforts over years in the manufacturing industry with a number of 

proprietary software systems such as MES and Logistics Execution Systems (LES). The Group provide 

customers with “end-to-end” services covering from automation system at the bottom to decision 

support system at the top, from factories application to group management and from management 

consulting and IT planning to systems development and IT operation and maintenance, while 

occupying a leading position. The Group’s business covers tobacco, military industry machinery, 

automobile, steel, pharmaceutical, printing, etc. In particular, as a strategic partner in tobacco industry 

information services, the Group has such core strengths as the leading IT and comprehensive 

all-rounded capabilities, and is engaged in the establishment of industry application standards, 

achieving 100% coverage of Chinese cigarette top 100 brands. MES, with its market leading scale 

and its big data projects of the industry, has further enhanced and accumulated its capabilities in 

big-data, and expanded its applications to other industries.
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iii.	 Financial Services and Banking

Thanks to professional services and TopLink, the payment platform product with proprietary 

intellectual properties, the Group provides personalized financial services, with secured payment as its 

core, to its customers in financial and banking sector. The Group has a long history in providing 

industry solutions, system integration services and related high-end services for its key customers 

including five major state-owned banks, postal savings banks, a number of joint-stock commercial 

banks and city commercial banks, as well as foreign-invested financial institutions in China. The Group 

accumulated extensive experience in industry application and achieved “Three Firsts” in China – the 

first inter-bank bankcard payment network system, the first financial IC card payment and clearing 

system and the first e-commerce online payment and settlement system. In particular, the “electronic 

funds transfer and retail banking application system” was recognized as one of the outstanding 

projects of the fifteenth National Torch Program. In 2016, the Group became the only global service 

provider in China. According to IDC market research, the Group was ranked among the top five for 

many years in the payment and clearing solutions market of the banking industry, and was ranked the 

first in bankcard system markets in 2010. High level of customer recognition has been achieved 

regarding its capabilities in business advisory and solutions segments of Internet Finance.

iv.	 Insurance and Securities

With strong technical strength and extensive experience in the financial industry, the Group has 

already secured many prestigious customers in the insurance and securities industry, and is highly 

recognized by the customers for its service practices. In addition, it has established leading technical 

position in high-end insurance sectors, including core business operations, channels management 

and marketing support, back desk management, business intelligent (BI) and insurance/securities 

content and knowledge management. The Group has also penetrated into the core business and 

high-end business to become a key market player in the insurance and securities industry, helping 

customers to secure more competitive advantages.

v.	 Telecommunications and Internet

The Group is one of the early service providers in wireless Internet platform design, development and 

operation, and also one of the largest professional service providers in application development and 

adaptation for mobile clients. As a trusted partner of China’s telecommunications operators and 

equipment makers, the Group provides its customers with product design and development, and 

operation and promotion services such as mobile payment, mobile instant messaging, mobile SNS, 

enterprise mini blog, mobile application stores, PTT (push to talk intercom phones), embedded 

browser, mobi le advertising platform, etc. Through development of products for Fetion of China 

Mobile, its foundation has been laid, and it will promote integrated communication strategy for China 

Mobile.

The Group has been providing long-term services for well-known Internet IT companies. The Group 

strengthened customer cooperation and established capability centers, improving service efficiencies. 

Leveraging on the accumulation of Internet industry experiences, the Group achieved breakthroughs 

in multiple large customers in the Internet industry. The Group consolidated its industry solutions and 

provided customers with “end-to-end” services, further maintaining its leading industry position. The 

key customers in the Internet industry include Tencent, Sina, Baidu, and etc. Lastly, the Group signed 

a strategic cooperation with Tencent Cloud to become its highest ranked channel partner.
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vi.	 Public Services (Transportation)

After years of accumulated professional experiences, the Group is in a leading position in the public 

transportation areas such as subway transport, rail transit and airport management, and has 

established three “First System in China” – the nation’s first smart card payment and settlement 

system in urban transport, the nation’s first one-tickettransfer payment system in urban rail transit, 

and the nation’s first Automatic Fare Collection system (AFC) with independent intellectual property 

rights. The Group provides customers in the transportation industry with solutions and professional 

application integration, operation and maintenance services such as Smart Card, Automatic Fare 

Collection system (AFC), AFC Clearing Centre (ACC), intelligent transportation, and airport operation 

management system. The Group’s smart-card-type solutions enjoys the largest market share in China, 

which have been adopted by nearly 30 cities. More than 100 mill ion cards have been issued 

throughout the network systems and stood up well to the test of very large customer traffic. The 

Group also has a definite advantage in this space with mobile operations’ payment business. Through 

cooperation with strategic partners, the mobile payment business has been successfully established 

in the overseas market.

vii.	 Electricity Distribution and Energy

Through years of experience in corporate control, ERP, supply chain management, management 

services, etc., the Group targets at strengthening the macro-management of enterprises engaging in 

the provision of electricity and oil in the energy industry, enhancing the overall requirement on 

corporate control, which allows it to partially enter into the core business system and management 

information system in the energy industry.

Leveraging on its “end-to-end” service capabil ity and continuously making use of the overall 

requirement for the industry in the macro economy, the Group laid a solid foundation for the 

systematization of its customers in the energy industry with the support of a professional team and an 

excellent operation system. Its clients confirm its capability in electricity sales, operational inspection 

in terms of material, and its market position is stabilized.

viii.	 High-Technology Business

The Group’s high-technology business has clients located in America, Europe, Japan and Greater 

China, to whom the Group provides comprehensive and tailor-made services. Standardized delivery of 

services was achieved through delivery centers set up around the world. According to IDC’s market 

research reports, the Group was ranked the top 3 in China’s overall offshore outsourcing market, 

ranked the top 2 in the European and American market. For the 7th consecutive year, the Group was 

named as “Global Outsourcing 100” by IAOP (International Association of Outsourcing Professionals). 

The Group’s major customers include Microsoft, GE, etc.
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The Group is Microsoft’s first Global Premier Vender in the PRC, Microsoft’s most valuable global 

vendor, and a preferred supplier of Microsoft’s MCS (Microsoft Consulting Services) in the PRC. It has 

also obtained the certification COPC (Customer Operations Performance Center). Meanwhile, the 

Group’s Catapult unit is one of only 32 Microsoft National Solutions Providers, and has expertise 

across the entire Microsoft stack. In 2015, Catapult Systems held 11 gold Microsoft competencies 

and 2 silver competencies, and was recognized for various awards including 20 Most Promising Azure 

Solution Providers. Catapult is an outstanding consulting service provider specializing on Microsoft 

business, resulting in closer strategic cooperation between the Group and Microsoft, as well as 

enhancement of the Group’s capabilities in cloud computing and serving Microsoft’s customers 

globally.

iV) BuSineSS DeVeLoPMenT HiSToRY

In February 2000, Chinasoft International was incorporated with headquarter in Beijing. The Group’s main businesses 

were to provide government customers with system integrations and customized software development solutions. In 

the same year, the Group introduced its proprietary application support platform Resource-One V1.0.

In 2002, Chinasoft International was awarded as the sole service provider for the e-government construction projects 

in China’s top seven Economic and Technological Development Zones (Tianjin, Dalian, Harbin, Beij ing and 

Guangzhou, Suzhou, Xi’an), and subsequently the Group won contracts for the construction of office automation 

projects for the National Audit Office, the Ministry of Transport, the Ministry of Agriculture, the Ministry of Civil Affairs, 

the Ministry of Construction, and etc..

In 2003, the Group was listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 

Supported by the capital platform, the Group adopted a new development model of organic growth + growth via 

mergers and acquisitions. This led to rapid growth in both financial performance and scale. The vertical industries 

that the Group served expanded from government to state-guided large-scale manufacturers, and the Group 

gradually underwent a transformation from a traditional distributor and integrator of hardware and software to a 

solutions provider. Furthermore, it adhered to independent research and development, upgraded Resource-One to 

V3.0 based on the SOA architecture, and successfully promoted it to different verticals and industries.

In 2004, the Group entered the IT training field through the acquisition of Computer Training Centre of CS & S.

In 2005, the Group kept up with the changing landscape of the time by entering into the IT outsourcing (ITO) market 

through successfully merging and integrating with Chinasoft Resources Information Technology Services Limited. It 

then established strategic partnerships with top international enterprises such as Microsoft, and set up operation in 

the United States. Later that year, the Group acquired Powerise International and expanded its ITO business to 

Japan. Leveraging on the flourishing ITO business, the Group successfully expanded from China’s domestic market 

into a broader oversea market.
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In 2007, the Group acquired and integrated Hinge Global Resources, and extended its services into financial and 

transportation industries. In addition, the Group added specialized BPO services. Leveraging its comprehensive 

capabilities and industry position, the Group became a top SOA partner for International Business Machines 

Corporation (IBM). Together they built the Group’s SOA Innovation Center. In addition, the Group’s Excellence 

Training Centers (ETCs) set up practical training bases in Beijing, Changsha, Dalian, Wuxi, Chongqing, Xiamen, 

Tianjin, and Nanjing; each with an area of 1,000–5,000 square meters, with total annual training capacity of over 

10,000 people.

In 2008, The Group successfully up-listed from the GEM Board to the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 

(Ticket: HKSE.354). In 2010, the group acquired Han Consulting, which significantly strengthened the Group’s 

front-end consulting capabilities. The Group has completed its end-to-end capabilities which included IT consulting, 

technology services, outsourcing services, and training services. In the same year, the Group entered into the 

telecom and mobile Internet industries through acquisition of MMIM Technologies, Inc.

In 2011, the Group introduced Hony Capital as a strategic investor and formed a strategic partnership. The Group 

will carry out integration in the information service business as an enterprise that is used as a platform. In the same 

year, the Group formed a brand new campus (will fit over 10,000 employees) located at the New Software City in 

Xi’an High-Tech Zone.

2012 was a momentous year for the Group as it partnered with Huawei and launched the joint venture (JV). The 

Group soon entered into an operational stage with a stable growth trend in performance. The Group became the top 

vender for Huawei and synergies emerged in the JV early on. In the same year the Group also entered into the 

electricity industry through the acquisition of a supplier for the State Grid Electric Power.

In 2013, Catapult, a US service provider specialized in consultancy services on Microsoft products and technologies, 

was acquired to enhance the Group’s cloud integration and high-end servicing capabilities in the new technology IT 

services such as Cloud computing, mobile and social media. This has laid a solid foundation for the development of 

global market through the strengthened strategic cooperation with Microsoft. The Group achieved a closer 

cooperation with Ali-Cloud and became a chief promoter of Yunqi Cloud Alliance, the country’s first alliance in cloud 

computing organized by Ali-cloud. The Group worked closely with Ali-Cloud in the promotion of the development of 

cloud related industry, and together signed an agreement with Zhejiang Province government administration to build 

a demonstration pilot project of smart cloud, achieving the implementation of homegrown electronic administration 

cloud solution.
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In 2014, the Group’s business with Huawei grew strongly. The JV with Huawei provided experience that improved 

the Group’s delivery (global and local) capabilities, service types, and laid out foundations in different industries at its 

two year anniversary mark. Furthermore, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation with Huawei to become its 

enterprise business line’s gold level agent, completing the first phase of the Group’s plan, which is to gain mutual 

trusts from both partners. The Group now enters into phase two, which is to leverage Huawei and grow. The Group 

invested in a top SaaS company that is focusing on CaaS through a Silicon Valley startup fund. The Group also 

strengthened its strategic cooperation with Huawei and Ali-Cloud. The Group also became the only full suite capable 

cloud service provider in the Ali-Cloud ecosystem, gaining recognition from customers for the Lishui and Guizhou 

projects. The Group won bids for China Mobile Fetion, unified communication, and 139 mailbox and became the 

core provider for many of China Mobile’s business lines.

2015 was a turning point for the Group’s business. As the world entered the “digitalization era”, the Group began to 

re-organize its business according to on-line and off-line IT services. Joint Force, the Group’s trusted ITS crowd 

sourcing platform was first launched late 2014 but officially launched to the enterprise market in mid-year 2015. This 

the Group’s new model for on-line ITS services, with the new group called IIG (Internet ITS Group). Traditional IT 

services continues to be served by our TPG (Technology Professional Group). Catapult Systems, our US subsidiary, 

started to market and sell Solution as a Service and began its transformation to the cloud and digital world in 

earnest.

2016 was an important year for the Group as it began its strategic transformation and moves toward in becoming a 

global IT enterprise. The Group was selected by HSBC as the only strategic partner designated in China and 

implemented full coverage service for HSBC. At the same time, the Group has fully established large data 

capabilities, formed a big data service team covering consulting, implementation and development, and precipitated 

advanced methodology of the independent software platform and cross-industry consulting and implementation. 

Group is rated No.18 of top 100 software companies in China, 2016 China’s top ten competitive enterprises of 

software and information technology services, 2016 China’s top 100 big data companies. By the end of 2016, the 

total number of employees reached 47,188 (49,032 according to human resources department), business expanded 

to Central America, South America, Britain, India, Africa, Southeast Asia and the Middle East, and established 

subsidiary company in mainland China, Hong Kong, Europe, Japan and other 39 cities, formed a global submission 

capacity.

V) coMPeTiTiVe LAnDScAPe AnD coRe STRenGTHS

1. Rich industry experience

The Group has accumulated many years of experiences in consulting, technology services and outsourcing 

services, and has in-depth expertise in serving the main industry sectors such as government and 

manufacturing, finance, telecommunications, and hi-tech, which heavily rely on IT services. The Group has 

formed more than 50 standardized industry solutions, with over 300 software copyrights and a variety of 

patents, all of which helped to establish its dominant position in the industries and areas.
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2. end-to-end Service Model

The foundation for the Group’s continued and steady business growth was built upon its end-to-end business 

model that integrates consulting, technology, outsourcing and training services. The Group provides superior 

services to its customers because of the rich industry experience it has and also a strong culture of customer 

service. The Group also provide outsourcing services to its customers, creating cross-sales of different 

services to increase customer loyalty.

3. Global Delivery capability

The Group has global delivery capability, with a quick response mechanism in place for business deliveries in 

different parts of the world such as China, the United States and Japan. By fully leveraging on the industry 

knowledge and experiences gained from serving its global customers, the Group achieved its business 

expansion in domestic market, while helping overseas customers to enter the market in China. Through the 

enhanced interaction of markets at home and abroad, the Group also increased its successful contract 

signing rate and its industry capabilities, further consolidating its relationship with customers, leading to 

strategic partnerships with a variety of customers.

4. Technological innovations and Advantages

The Group’s R1 platform product benefited from years of practical experiences in the industry’s information 

technology, integrating CMMI, ISO9000, RUP, agile development theory, and the usage of SOA architecture 

and technologies (including PaaS and SaaS) supported by cloud computing applications. It is an excellent 

tool for industry managers to perform business application integration and IT system extension when they are 

faced with complex management objects. The R1 platform has three tiers of capabilities: the first tier is its 

structuring capabilities consisting of platform based integration of middleware components; the second tier is 

the R1’s project management methods and tools; and the third tier is the capability of rapid development as 

represented by R1 BizFoundation. Through the three-tiered capabilities, component re-use is strongly 

supported and development cost is reduced, while the Group accumulates its capability of software 

structuring in different industries. Significant progress has been achieved for R1 in respect to cloud 

computing. Through the cooperation with Ali-Cloud to jointly develop PaaS platform, both parties worked 

together to embed R1 products (including FramePortal, SOA Suite and BizFoundation) in Ali OS, and 

provided Java-based development services and cloud-based SOA services.

As one of the industry’s most widely used support platforms, R1 enjoys a wide range of applications and a 

great number of successful cases in government, manufacturing and other industries. A number of national 

and industry level projects that have been successfully implemented are proof that integration of consulting, 

design, and development using the R1 platform can ensure success for the entire project.
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5. excellent, Stable Workforce and Strong Platform for Talent Supply

The Group has an excellent and stable workface and a strong human supply platform. As up 31 December, 

2016, the Group employs 47,188 employees, distributed in regions including China, Hong Kong, Japan, the 

United States, and the United Kingdom. Among which, project managers, senior technicians and consultants 

accounted for one tenth (1/10) of the total number of technicians. This elite group has outstanding IT skills, 

extensive management experience, deep industry knowledge, and most of them had worked in the Group for 

more than five years, fully identifying themselves with its corporate culture. Meanwhile, in order to maintain 

the stability of the Group’s core staff, the Group has developed a clear mechanism for talent promotion, and 

also incentive and training programs.

6. A Win-Win Strategic cooperation

The Group established a comprehensive cooperation in investment and business, with a number of world 

class strategic partners. This has allowed the partners to share client resources and finally achieve a win-win 

situation. The Group and Huawei established a joint venture in 2012, aimed at building a business process 

and IT outsourcing Service Company that gets a foothold in the PRC and serves the globe.

Vi) RecenT DeVeLoPMenT

• JointForce (JF) –Joint Force-progress of internet outsourcing platform: During the reporting period, the 

JF’s (JointForce platform) business is developing rapidly, and constantly gathering IT resources from various 

industries, technical categories and different geological areas, now it has more than 1,000 outsourcing 

teams, almost 3,000 outsourcing companies, more than 130,000 outsourcing engineers, nearly 20,000 

contractor enterprises, more than RMB600 million worth job posted.

During the reporting period, the Group successfully held Famous City activities in Xi’an, Guangzhou and 

Nanjing, and took part in the third World Internet Conference, the 2016 China (Beijing) International Trade 

Fair, China International Electronic Commerce Expo, the fourth China International Cloud Computing 

Technology and Application Exhibition and other major national conferences, greatly improved the Group’s 

domestic awareness and influence. Group was awarded 2015 Ministry of Industry and Information brand 

cultivation model enterprises because of brand training practice for the “JointForce” platform. JointForce’s 

sub-brand “Jieke coffee” was awarded “China Torch Innovation Space” honorary title by Ministry of Science 

and Technology.

Within the reporting period, JointForce launched mission-level strategic cooperation with Huawei in software 

development, deep binding functions and services of both companies, using Huawei’s capability in agile 

development, code quality inspection, test management, Cloud IDE, project manager management 

experience and software metrics to give users of JointForce a more professional choice, improving the 

delivery quality of the project, create a new software custom development ecology and open the new era of 

software development intelligence together with Huawei.

• Huawei: During the reporting period, the Group strengthened its strategic cooperation with Huawei. The 

Group established a joint innovative big data laboratory, co-constructed cross-industry general product and 

key industry application solution based on FusionInsight, Huawei’s big data foundational platform, and 

finished its layout in the financial industry.
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During the reporting period, on the basis of Huawei Onebox platform, the Group launched its Cloud Storage 

Customization Solution, and successfully applied to Huawei’s “three clouds”, China Merchants Bank, ICBC 

Hong Kong and many other important customers. In the field of process IT, the full implementation of product 

delivery, the construction of specialized end-to-end delivery team, significant improvement of delivery quality 

and efficiency helped to pave the way for following high-end cooperation projects.

• HSBc: During the reporting period, the Group was selected as the only strategic partners in China by HSBC. 

The quality management capability and delivery capability were highly recognized by HSBC, HSBC’s global 

CIOs visited the Group and signed contract worth about 20 million in a short time. Xi’an ODC department 

now has more than 2,400 staff, doubled comparing to previous year.

Within the reporting period, the Group cooperated with the HSBC project to help HSBC successfully deliver a 

number of products and systems in many countries and regions including HSBC China VTM, HSBC China 

Micro Bank, HSBC Electronic Tax System, data warehouse construction of commercial banks in Europe, The 

Middle East, North Africa, North America and other regions, HSBC Hong Kong Apple Pay, HSBC China 

Credit Card System, HSBC “SZ-HK Connect”project and so on, achieved full coverage of HSBC services.

• Big data: During the reporting period, the Group has established a big data service team covering consulting, 

implementation and development, and has achieved a number of key breakthroughs in the financial, 

insurance, energy, transportation and media industries.

During the reporting period, the Group continued to consolidate its leading position of big data business in 

the financial industry and extended its experience in consulting and implementation of big data to the 

insurance and securities industries. The Group successively signed benchmarking customers of the industry 

including Sun Life Assurance Company, China Insurance Information Technology Corporation, China 

Securities Depository and Clearing Company.

During the reporting period, the Group focused on the strategy opportunity of domestic financial innovation, 

rapid expanded two areas of business: big data management and business innovation of financial institutions 

and data-driven financial regulation and risk prevention and innovation of government. The Group successfully 

won the bid of Ampang Group’s distributed big data platform construction project, which shows strategic 

significance and has a demonstration effect in the industry.

During the reporting period, the Group successfully won the bid of the global leader in wind power generation 

– gold wind technology digita l management project, deeply part ic ipated in customer’s strategic 

transformation, achieved symbolic breakthrough in big data area of large-scale equipment manufacturing and 

power energy industry. In the transportation industry, the Group successfully won the bid of the data center 

construction project of Western Region Airport, helped the Group to establish advance position when 

expanding market in the next wave of domestic airport data construction in next two to three years.
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• Artificial intelligence: During the reporting period, the Group provided a famous global software enterprise 

with technical support in the voice recognition field. The Group used modeling technologies based on the 

pioneering cloud platform in order to increase the precision of identifying different languages.

• cloud migration: During the reporting period, about 1600 cloud hosts and physical machines realize the 

migration; there are 151 clients and projects totally; 545 sets of application system are migrated. Pertaining 

to the customized service of large and medium-size enterprise, two-stage system of governmental client 

(national bureau and provincial bureau) is successfully migrated onto Huawei Cloud Platform, and the uniform 

acceptance management is realized and the virtualization resources for different manufacturer types are 

monitored, becoming a benchmarking project in domestic administrative affairs industry.

• cloud Storage: During the reporting period, the group successfully pushes out the self-developed enterprise 

network disk product, establishes the end-to –end service team from channel management, product design 

and development and operation and maintenance implementation to operation generalization as well as 

successfully expands such industrial benchmarking clients in China Merchants Bank and Vanke; pertaining to 

medium small and micro-sized enterprises, the cooperation intention with some branch of China Telecom is 

reached to provide the services for united operation. In future, while continuously forcing via centering on the 

cloud storage direction and enriching the cloud storage product line simultaneously, form the pertinent 

industrial solution.

• Manufacturing/tobacco: During the reporting period, the circulation (tobacco) business continuously 

remains the industry leading advantage, actively seeks the digitalization transformation, constructs “ 

Reflection” network service platform as well as fuses and forges the mobile-end integral solution for full 

tobacco supply chain. Currently, this scheme has been implemented in multiple provinces nationwide; the 

data analysis mobile development platform (M-QSP)1.0 version is issued to effectively improve the rapid 

development capability of mobile end and provide the powerful support for parallel submission and pre-sale 

generalization work of numerous projects’ mobile end; group’s smart manufacturing system (SMES)has 

completed the inspection and acceptance for mult iple projects, SMES wisdom concept has been 

benchmarking in tobacco industry; the implementation concept and implementation standard that SOP is 

served as core is strictly implemented and fulfilled on uniform platform of tobacco industry to realize the 

transformation on informatization innovation mode and deployment mode so as to highlight group’s overall 

implementation and management control capability.

• Audit: During the reporting period, on the base that the advanced potential in the auditing informatization 

field is remained, successfully develop the generalization of mobile auditing products and realize the new 

industry breakthrough as well as reach the implementation for vital construction contents of national golden 

auditing Phase III project. And the strategic cooperation agreement with Changde Auditing Bureau is reached 

to develop and implement the first mobile auditing application nationwide as well as realize the paperless 

office in multiple mobile equipment (mobile phone and PAD) so as to become the reference standard for 

domestic other auditing organizations. The independently-developed new-generation Tianjin big data auditing 

system is reported by XINWEN LIANBO on CCTV, and the effect on corruption prevention and improvement 

for auditing efficiency is notable.
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During reporting period, successfully enter in internal audit and supervision field of financial industry and audit 

management system construction project of Postal Savings Bank of China winning the bid; accumulate and 

form the audit analysis model for power generation industry. In 2017, team will constantly construct big data 

center to integrate Cloud and Mobile in audit solution, and continuously carry out internal audit of new 

industry, promotion of internal control information-based system and project arrangement work.

• Financial and banking industry: During report period, obtain significant progress in the aspects of major 

client development, research and development of products and regional client arrangement. For the aspect 

of research and development of products, make a great investment on internet finance, risk control 

management, decision-making platform, big data application and infrastructure. Internet credit, on-line supply 

chain, telecoms anti-fraud, mobile payment and other product markets take the leading position; depending 

on productization implementation, the internet finance, industry finance, business finance and other emerging 

markets develop rapidly. For client arrangement, realize complete coverage to large state-owned bank and 

nationwide joint-stock bank and establish the strategic cooperation relations with large quantities of 

city-commercial bank and rural credit cooperative union; keep stable development of foreign bank business, 

and achieve a breakthrough of integrating capacity for cross-border payment and overall payment platforms 

in the Japanese bank field.

During reporting period, the Group is rated as the annual best service manufacturer by many clients. Big data 

project wins the grade I achievement award issued by China Banking Regulatory Commission and a lot of risk 

control projects get the science and technology development prize awarded by People’s Bank of China.

• insurance and securities industry: During the reporting period, successfully win the bid for a large project 

for insurance internet sales platform, further strengthen the cooperation on life insurance core business field, 

data analysis, e-commerce and other fields with clients, expand Haitong Securities, Sinolink Securities and 

other major clients in this industry and win the bid for software development project of a large-scale security 

company. The SZ-HK Stock Connect project developed by Group successfully runs on the line, so as to open 

the second step for interconnection between A share market and Hong Kong share market.

• Public utilities (communication): During the report period, the railway traffic field still holds the leading 

potential and successfully prompts subway big data application project of Chengdu, which is regard as a 

special case, equipped with industrial leading level and multi-industry big data vertical application, has been 

chosen to participate the 2017 international show of Huawei in Barcelona. During report period, when Xiamen 

encountered the strongest typhoon “Meranti”, the group dispatched personnel to five BRT lines and forty-two 

stations, recovered “BRT system of Xiamen” the same day and safeguarded the lines running, the timely 

responsiveness gained highly praise from the clients.

• High-tech business: During the reporting period, successfully sign the strategic cooperation agreement with 

Tencent cloud, become the top class channel partner, jointly build Internet+ enterprise ecological system. 

Group ranks the second list in Ali Supplier Rating and have jointed in the core supplier series. Successfully 

being the channel cooperation partner of Jingdong cloud, will jointly build public ecological cooperative 

partners circle.
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• catapult: During the reporting period, Catapult has an excellent performance in Microsoft partner community 

and gained the highest honor of the Microsoft: America’s annual partner. Honored stepped on the cover of 

magazine CIO Comment and has been awarded as one of “100 Most Potential Microsoft Solution Providers 

in 2016”.

During the reporting period, users of Fuse Premiere, which is a service product of Catapult, break through 

50.000 to effectively assist clients improve the production rate and strength cooperation. Based on the 

success of this product, Catapult issued the standard edition of Fuse during the report period that is more 

suitable for middle and small companies.

During the reporting period, Catapult issues the brand new business process automatic solution—Launch to 

effectively guide the clients of the important digital transformation directions nowadays.

During the reporting period, Catapult gains huge progress on aspect of expanding cloud business and 

became the leader in the scope of cloud application modernization and cloud migration.

• Japan and Korea: During the reporting period, businesses toward Japan increases steadily. Direct operation 

with clients of Nomura, Softbank, JAST, etc. realized, business increase in the future is expectable. Has 

joined the core supplier series of Seven Bank and the cooperation scale has realized double increasing.

• Turning (eTc) business: During the reporting period, group newly built fifteen training bases in Hangzhou, 

Qingdao, Nanning, Shanghai, Xi’an, etc. and built strategic partnership with Hubei University of Technology, 

etc. seven universities, continuously deepen the cooperation between universities and enterprises. “Institute 

of House Guest” (academy edition) is formally issued and proposed solutions for IT educational cloud platform 

for universities. “Open Educational Resource Co-Construction and Sharing All iance in colleges and 

Universities IT Field of Institute of House Guest”. The company is awarded with “Excellent Partner Award of 

2016 Annual Production and Study Working Together Cooperation Educate Project of the Higher Education 

Department of the Ministry of Education, and “ Largest Scale Award of Service Outsourcing Talents Training” 

of China Council for the Promotion of International Investment.
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In 2016, the Group’s businesses achieved high growths. The revenue, service revenue, profit attributable to owners of the 
Company and basic EPS increased by 32.3%, 36.1%, 57.9% and 44.8% YoY respectively.

2016 2015

% Increase 
(decrease) over 

the same period 
last year

RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 6,783,367 5,129,111 32.3%
Service revenue* 6,573,770 4,831,722 36.1%
Profit for the year attributable to
 owners of the Company 442,081 280,056 57.9%
Basic earnings per share (cents) 20.34 14.05 44.8%

KeY oPeRATinG DATA

2016 2015

% Increase 
(decrease) over 

the same period 
last year

RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 6,783,367 5,129,111 32.3%
 Service revenue* 6,573,770 4,831,722 36.1%
Cost of sales and services (4,767,529) (3,605,903) 32.2%

   

Gross profit 2,015,838 1,523,208 32.3%
Other income 41,908 46,259 (9.4%)
Other gains or losses 1,807 (17,625) N/A
Selling and distribution costs (219,022) (178,581) 22.6%
Administrative expenses (806,614) (627,264) 28.6%
Research and development costs (345,269) (195,318) 76.8%
Allowance for doubtful debts (17,958) (62,055) (71.1%)
Other expenses (88,012) (91,961) (4.3%)
Share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method 17,492 1,907 817.3%
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 111,724 N/A
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – (1,074) N/A
Gain arising from changes in fair value of contingent consideration 

payable on acquisition of a subsidiary 20,152 3,283 513.8%
Finance costs (95,735) (92,509) 3.5%

   

Profit before taxation 524,587 419,994 24.9%
Income tax expense (114,754) (87,010) 31.9%

   

Profit for the year 409,833 332,984 23.1%
   

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the company 442,081 280,056 57.9%
Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the company 493,054 251,283 96.2%
Basic earnings per share (cents) 20.34 14.05 44.8%
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PRoFiTABiLiTY

In 2016, the adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company (excluding non-operating and one-time expense) was 

RMB493.054 million (2015: RMB251.283 million), representing a YoY growth of 96.2%. Below is the reconciliation from the 

profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company to the adjusted profit for the year attributable to the owners of 

the Company, after deducting non-operating or one-time expenses:

2016 2015 Growth Rate

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year attributable to

 the owners of the company 442,081 280,056 57.9%

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – (111,724) N/A

Tax on the gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 17,195 N/A

Tax arose from group restructure 52,408 – N/A

(Reversal of allowance) allowance for doubtful debts for other 

receivables relating to disposal of available-for-sale investments* (26,568) 25,944 N/A

Share option expenses 45,285 13,637 232.1%

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – 1,074 N/A

Gain arising from changes in fair value of contingent consideration 

payable on acquisition of a subsidiary (20,152) (3,283) 513.8%

Exchange loss arose from loan in USD – 28,384 N/A
   

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to the owners 

of the company 493,054 251,283 96.2%
   

* After deducting the impact of non-controlling interests. 
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GeneRAL oVeRVieW

The revenue, service revenue, and results of the Group’s different business segments in 2016 are as follow:

Turnover Service revenue Results
   

2016 2015 Growth rate 2016 2015 Growth rate 2016 2015 Growth rate

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Technical and professional 

service Group 5,481,921 3,780,692 45.0% 5,413,546 3,578,708 51.3% 533,611 300,814 77.4%

Internet ITS Group 1,301,446 1,348,419 (3.5%) 1,160,224 1,253,014 (7.4%) 115,656 128,574 (10.0%)
         

Total 6,783,367 5,129,111 32.3% 6,573,770 4,831,722 36.1% 649,267 429,388 51.2%
         

1. TPG achieved a YoY revenue growth of 45%, mainly because the revenue from Huawei increased significantly. TPG 

achieved a YoY results growth of 77.4%, higher than its revenue 45.0% and service revenue 51.3% growth because 

during the reporting period, TPG continued to focus on large industry clients and its offline IT businesses. The selling 

and administrative expenses required to increase large industry clients decreased due to higher efficiencies, resulting 

in a steady increase in margins.

2. The IIG realized a YoY revenue decrease of 3.5% and results decrease of 10.0%. The main reason is because at the 

end of 2015, the Group sold part of its ETC business, and the financials are no longer consolidated. Furthermore, in 

the middle of 2016, the Group underwent an internal restructure and moved parts of the IIG business to TPG 

business. Lastly, the Group also increased its research and development expenses. The combination of these three 

structural factors is the reason for the decrease of IIG.

The Group believes that its revenue and margins will continue to increase steadily as cloud, big data, and other high margin 

businesses increase.
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Since listing on the GEM board in 2003, the Group has maintained a high revenue and service revenue growths, recording a 

CAGR of 33.0% and 43.9% respectively from 2003 to 2016. The details are as follow:
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65.1% 63.6% 38.6% 12.7% 31.2% 24.5% 16.7% 14.2% 12.7% 7.8% 4.3% 3.1%5.8%6.4%

Products Revenue

Service Revenue

Revenue growth：
33.0%

Service Revenue CAGR：
43.9%

Percentage of products revenue to the total revenue

Total revenue

cuSToMeRS

The Group’s customers include large enterprises headquartered in Great China, Europe, United States, and Japan. In the 

China market, the Group has acquired a larger market share in finance and banking, telecommunication, Internet and 

high-technology industry. In 2016, the service revenue from the top five and ten customers are 66.1% and 71.0%.

In 2016, the Group has 1,465 active customers and 79 large customers (contributed to more than RMB6 million of service 

revenue within the past 12 months).

MARKeT

During the reporting period, the Group’s businesses were concentrated in the Greater China region, as the Group believes 

that the Greater China region holds great market potential and growth opportunities for the Group. The Group provides IT 

services to customers in 32 countries and a group for Fortune 500 companies. In the process the Group has accumulated 

large global IT servicing experiences. In the future, the Group will work closer with large clients in large industries, leveraging 

on its cloud-based digital transformation services, and achieve a global layout. The Group will speed up its global expansion 

plans and improve the delivery centers in United States, Hungary, and Malaysia as well as build more delivery centers in 

Russia, India, Mexico, and more.
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HuMAn ReSouRceS

As of the end of 2016, the Group has a total of 47,188 employees, representing a YoY increase of 49.8% (2015: 31,504). 

During the reporting period, the annual average employee size was 39,346, representing a YoY increase of 37.2% (2015: 

28,680), which is in line with the Group’s service revenue increase of 36.1%.

As of the end of 2016, the Group employs 45,188 technical staffs, accounting for 95.8% of the total employees. Of which, 

17,918 technical staffs are project managers and consultants (core talents), accounting for 39.7% of the total 

technical staffs.

The Group’s business continues to boom. The rapid growth in employment size since listing on the Growth Enterprise 

Market in 2003 is as follows:

2003A 2004A 2005A 2006A 2007A 2008A 2009A 2011A 2012A 2016A2015A2014A2013A2010A

477 1,055
4,363 4,816

7,759

14,496
10,940

2,382
238

25,856

47,188

31,504

23,607
18,946

employment size
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oPeRATinG ReSuLTS

The Group’s consolidated income statements in 2015 and 2016 are as follow:

Percentage Percentage

2016 Percentage of service 2015 Percentage of service

RMB’000 of turnover revenue RMB’000 of turnover revenue

Revenue 6,783,367 5,129,111

 Service Revenue 6,573,770 4,831,722

Cost of sales and services (4,767,529) (70.3%) (72.5%) (3,605,903) (70.3%) (74.6%)
      

Gross profit 2,015,838 29.7% 30.7% 1,523,208 29.7% 31.5%

Other income 41,908 0.6% 0.6% 46,259 0.9% 1.0%

Other gains or losses 1,807 0.03% 0.03% (17,625) (0.3%) (0.4%)

Selling and distribution costs (219,022) (3.2%) (3.3%) (178,581) (3.5%) (3.7%)

Administrative expenses (806,614) (11.9%) (12.3%) (627,264) (12.2%) (13.0%)

Research and development costs (345,269) (5.1%) (5.3%) (195,318) (3.8%) (4.0%)

Allowance for doubtful debts (17,958) (0.3%) (0.3%) (62,055) (1.2%) (1.3%)

Other expenses (88,012) (1.3%) (1.3%) (91,961) (1.8%) (1.9%)

Finance costs (95,735) (1.4%) (1.5%) (92,509) (1.8%) (1.9%)

Share of results of investments accounted for 

using the equity method 17,492 0.3% 0.3% 1,907 0.04% 0.04%

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – – 111,724 2.2% 2.3%

Fair value change on derivative financial 

instruments – – – (1,074) (0.02%) (0.02%)

Gain arising from changes in fair value of 

contingent consideration payable an 

acquisition of a subsidiary 20,152 0.3% 0.3% 3,283 0.1% 0.1%
      

Profit before taxation 524,587 7.7% 8.0% 419,994 8.2% 8.7%

Income tax expense (114,754) (1.7%) (1.7%) (87,010) (1.7%) (1.8%)
      

Profit for the year 409,833 6.0% 6.2% 332,984 6.5% 6.9%

Profit for the year attributable to 

owners of the Company 442,081 6.5% 6.7% 280,056 5.5% 5.8%
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ReVenue

In 2016, the Group’s revenue was RMB6,783.367 million (2015: RMB5,129.111 million), representing a YoY growth of 

32.3%. The Group’s service revenue was RMB6,573.770 million (2015: RMB4,831.722 million), representing a YoY growth 

of 36.1%. The growth mainly came from increasing business volume from existing large customers.

In 2016, TPG and IIG accounted for 80.8% (2015: 73.7%) and 19.2% (2015: 26.3%) of the Group’s total revenue.

2016 Weight 2015 Weight

RMB’000 RMB’000

TPG 5,481,921 80.8% 3,780,692 73.7%

IIG 1,301,446 19.2% 1,348,419 26.3%
    

Total 6,783,367 100% 5,129,111 100%
    

In 2016, TPG and IIG accounted for 82.4% (2015: 74.1%) and 17.6% (2015: 25.9%) of the Group’s service revenue.

2016 Weight 2015 Weight

RMB’000 RMB’000

　

TPG 5,413,546 82.4% 3,578,708 74.1%

IIG 1,160,224 17.6% 1,253,014 25.9%
    

Total 6,573,770 100% 4,831,722 100%
    

coST oF SALeS AnD SeRViceS

In 2016, the Group’s cost of sales and services accounted for 70.3% (2015: 70.3%) of the revenue, the same as that of last 

year. The Group’s cost of sales and services were RMB4,767.529 million (2015: 3,605.903 million), representing a YoY 

growth of 32.2%.

GRoSS PRoFiT

In 2016, the Group’s gross profit was RMB2,015.838 million (2015: 1,523.208 million), representing a YoY growth of 32.3%. 

The Group’s gross margin was 29.7%, the same as that of last year (2015: 29.7%).

In the future, the Group will use the following measures to improve gross margins:

1. Increase the Group’s overall technological capabilities and value added IT services to have a stronger price 

bargaining power with clients;

2. Increase the proportion of oversea businesses and continue its global layout. The oversea businesses are higher 

margin business compared to that in China;
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3. Increase cloud, big data, and other emerging services. The gross margins of these emerging services are on higher 

than that of the traditional IT outsourcing;

4. Increase the number of fixed priced contracts. Fixed price contracts are typically higher margin businesses than that 

of the outsourcing businesses;

5. Increase the number of IP solution businesses. Contracts with the Group’s IP are quicker to scale and have higher 

gross margins.

oTHeR incoMe

In 2016, the Group’s other income was RMB41.908 million (2015: RMB46.259 million), representing a YoY decrease of 

9.4%. The decrease was mainly due to the drop in the government subsidy during the reporting year.

oTHeR GAinS oR LoSSeS

In 2016, the Group’s other gains were RMB1.807 million (2015: other losses were RMB17.625 million). This was mainly due 

to the exchange loss caused by the significant fluctuations in the exchange rate between USD and RMB for the syndicated 

loan. The Group paid back the syndicated loan in early 2016, so there are no significant losses due to foreign exchange 

during the current year.

oPeRATinG eXPenSeS

In 2016, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were RMB219.022 million, representing a YoY increase of 22.6% 

(2015: RMB178.581 million). The Group’s selling and distribution expenses accounted for 3.2% (2015: 3.5%) of the revenue, 

representing a YoY decrease of 0.3%. The Group’s selling and distribution expenses accounted for 3.3% (2015: 3.7%) of 

the service revenue, representing a YoY decrease of 0.4%. The proportion of selling and distribution expenses to revenue 

and service revenue decreased because during the reporting period the proportion of TPG businesses, which is focused in 

large customers and industries, to IIG businesses increased.

In 2016, the Group’s administrative expenses were RMB806.614 million (2015: RMB627.264 million), representing a YoY 

increase of 28.6%. The Group’s administrative expenses accounted for 11.9% (2015: 12.2%) of the revenue, representing a 

YoY decrease of 0.3%. The Group’s administrative expenses accounted for 12.3% (2015: 13.0%) of the service revenue, 

representing a YoY decrease of 0.7%. The decrease of the administrative expense represents the Group’s improved 

administrative efficiency.

In 2016, the Group’s research and development costs were RMB345.269 million (2015: RMB195.318 million), representing 

a YoY increase of 76.8%. The Group’s research and development costs accounted for 5.1% (2015: 3.8%) of the revenue, 

representing a YoY increase 1.3%. The main cause of the increase is because the Group invested more into the research 

and development of cloud, big data, and other emerging servicing capabilities.
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Finance costs and income Tax

In 2016, the Group’s finance costs accounted for 1.4% (2015: 1.8%) of the revenue, representing a YoY decrease of 0.4%. 

The Group’s finance costs were RMB95.735 million, representing a YoY increase of 3.5% (2015: RMB92.509 million).

In 2016, the Group’s income tax was RMB114.754 million (2015: RMB87.010 million), representing a YoY increase of 

31.9%. The reason for the increase of tax is because during the reporting period, the Group underwent a business 

restructure. The tax for the change of the equity of the principal legal entity was RMB52.408 million, compared to the tax for 

the disposal of subsidiaries in the previous year of RMB17.195 million. If taken out the one-time effect of these line items, 

the income tax realized a YoY decrease of 10.7%. The main reason for the decrease is because during the reporting period, 

the principal operating entity of the Group enjoy the preferential tax rate for key software enterprises.

other non-cash expenses

In 2016, the Group’s amortization of intangible assets and trademark usage right accounted for 1.3% (2015: 1.8%) of the 

revenue, representing a YoY decrease of 0.5%. The Group’s amortization of intangible assets and trademark usage right 

were RMB88.012 million (2015: RMB91.961 million), representing a YoY decrease of 4.3%.

In 2016, the Group’s allowance for doubtful debts was RMB17.958 million (2015: RMB62.055 million), representing a YoY 

decrease of 71.1%. This decrease is because in 2015 the Group prepared provisions for bad debts on receivables from 

disposal of available-for-sale investments, and during the reporting period, the amount was received, resulting in the 

differences from 2015 to 2016.

In 2016, the Group’s share option expenses accounted for 0.7% (2015: 0.3%) of the revenue, representing a YoY increase 

of 0.4%. The Group’s share option expenses were RMB45.285 million (2015: RMB13.637 million), representing a YoY 

increase of 232.1%. The main reason for the increase is because during the reporting period, the Group granted 130 million 

shares options to employees.

Profit of the Year and earnings Per Share

In 2016, the Group’s profit for the year was RMB409.833 million, representing a YoY growth of 23.1% (2015: RMB332.984 

million).

Excluding the loss for the year attributable to the non-controlling interests in 2016, the Group’s profit for the year attributable 

to the owners of the Company was RMB442.081 million (2015: RMB280.056 million), representing a YoY growth of 57.9%.

In 2016, the Group’s basic earnings per share (EPS), based on the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the 

Company, was RMB 20.34 cents (2015: RMB14.05 cents), representing a YoY growth of 44.8%.
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Fundraising Activities

On 3 February 2016, the Group entered into the Subscription Agreement with Huarong International Asset Management 

Growth Fund (the “Huarong”) pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue and Huarong has 

conditionally agreed to subscribe for The total amount of the principal amount is US$70,000,000 (equivalent to 

approximately RMB458.649 million) of the Convertible Notes due in 2019. The Convertible Notes will be issued in two 

installments, namely the First Tranche Convertible Notes and the Second Tranche Convertible Notes. The total amount of 

the First Tranche Convertible Notes is US$30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB196.564 million) and the Second 

Tranche Convertible Notes total principal amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB262.085 million) have 

been issued in 15 February 2016 and 10 March 2016. The Group will use the proceeds for general working capital 

purposes.
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A. coRPoRATe GoVeRnAnce PRAcTiceS

The board of directors of the Company believes that corporate governance is essential to the success of the 
Company and has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of corporate governance is maintained. 
The code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing 
Rules have served as guideposts for the Company to follow in its implementation of corporate governance measures.

Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company as well as details relating to the foregoing 
deviation are summarized below.

In the opinion of the Board, the Group has complied with the CG Code from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016, 
except that (i) the Chairman of the Board was not able to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 
18 May 2016 (the “2015 AGM”) (deviated from code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code) due to other business 
commitment. However, one of the independent non-executive Directors attended and acted as the Chairman of the 
2015 AGM; (ii) the roles of chairman and chief executive officer were performed by the same individual. The Board 
believes that by holding both roles, Dr. Chen will be able to provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership, 
and it allows for more effective and efficient business planning and decisions as well as execution of long-term 
business strategies of the Group, As such, the structure is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group. 
(deviated from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code).

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its 
business and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory and professional 
standards and align with the latest developments.

B. DiRecToRS’ SecuRiTieS TRAnSAcTionS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating to dealings in securities. In response to a specific 
enquiry by the Company, the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

c. BoARD oF DiRecToRS
1.	 Composition of the Board of Directors

During the year in review and up to the date of this report, the board of directors of the Company (the 
“Board”) comprises:

executive directors:

Dr. Chen Yuhong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Tang Zhenming
Mr. Wang Hui (retired on 18 May 2016)

non-executive directors:

Dr. Zhang Yaqin
Mr. Samuel Thomas Goodner (appointed on 18 May 2016)

independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Zeng Zhijie
Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick
Dr. Lai Guanrong
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Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the chairman of the Company and the other Directors are set out 

in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report. All 

Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive Director are 

suitably qualified for his position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his 

duties effectively and efficiently.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business and family relationships among 

members of the Board.

2.	 Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board held 25 board meetings, 4 of which were regular board 

meetings for reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance, and considering and 

approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company, 14 of which were for approving the share 

allotment upon the exercise of share options during the year ended 31 December 2016, and 7 of which were 

for other discussions on general operations of the Group. The attendance records of the board meetings and 

general meetings held are set out below:

Attended/

number of

regular board

meetings held

Attended/

number of 

board

meetings

held for

approving

the share

allotment

upon the

exercise of

share options

Attended/

number of

board 

meetings

held for other

discussions on

general

operations

of the Group

Attended/

Total

number of 

board

meetings

held during 

the year

Attended/ 

number of 

general

meetings 

held during 

the year

executive Directors

Dr. Chen Yuhong 4/4 14/14 7/7 25/25 0/1

Dr. Tang Zhenming 4/4 14/14 7/7 25/25 0/1

Mr. Wang Hui 1/1* 5/5* 1/1* 7/7* 0/1*

non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhang Yaqin 4/4 0/14 1/7 5/25 0/1

Mr. Samuel Thomas Goodner 3/3* 0/8* 1/6* 4/17* 0/1*

independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zeng Zhijie 3/4 0/14 1/7 4/25 0/1

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick 4/4 14/14 7/7 25/25 1/1

Dr. Lai Guanrong 4/4 0/14 2/7 6/25 0/1

*  Only the meeting held during his tenure is counted
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The Directors will receive details of agenda items for decision and detailed documents in advance of each 
Board meeting. The Company Secretary is responsible for distributing detailed documents to the Directors 
prior to the Board meetings to ensure that the Directors are able to make informed decisions regarding the 
matters discussed in the meetings. The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures 
of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the 
compliance with the procedures of the Board meetings.

3.	 Functions of the Board of Directors

The Board is currently responsible for corporate strategy and development, overseeing the business 
operations of the Group, financial reporting, legal and regulatory compliance, directors’ appointments, risk 
management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions. Major corporate matters delegated by 
the Board to management include preparation of annual and interim accounts for Board’s approval, execution 
of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board and implementation of internal control system.

4.	 Independent Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors appointed by the Company have appropriate and sufficient 
experience and qualification to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of shareholders. Among the 
three independent non-executive Directors, one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in 
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each 
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence to the Company, and 
the Company considers these Directors to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and Mr. Zeng Zhijie were appointed on 22 March 2006 and 21 April 2003 
respectively and have served as independent non-executive Directors for more than nine years. Pursuant to 
code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, having served the Company for more than nine years could be relevant 
to the determination of an independent non-executive director’s independence. Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick 
and Mr. Zeng Zhijie have not engaged in any executive management of the Group. Taking into consideration 
of their independent scope of works in the past years, the Directors consider Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and 
Mr. Zeng Zhijie to be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact that they have served the Company 
for more than nine years.

5.	 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should 
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Dr. Chen Yuhong currently assumes the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. The Board believes that by holding both roles, Dr. Chen will be able to provide the Group with 
strong and consistent leadership, and it allows for more effective and efficient business planning and 
decisions as well as execution of long-term business strategies of the Group. As such, the structure is 
beneficial to the business prospects of the Group.

6.	 Terms of Appointment of Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors of the Company is appointed for a specific term of three years and is 
subject to re-nomination and re-election by the Company in general meetings unless previously terminated in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the relevant letter of appointment or director’s service contract.
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7.	 Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the articles of association of the Company, one-third of the Directors are required to retire from 
office at each annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation 
at least once in every three years.

Prior to the convening of the annual general meeting of the Company in May 2017, the board of Directors 
resolved that Dr. Chen Yuhong, Dr. Tang Zhenming and Mr. Zeng Zhijie should retire and stand for re-election 
at the annual general meeting in accordance with the requirements under the articles of association of the 
Company.

Pursuant to code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, if an independent non-executive director has served more 
than nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by 
Shareholders. Accordingly, Mr. Zeng Zhijie shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by way of 
a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the AGM.

8.	 Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in a programme of 
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their 
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The Company encourages all Directors to attend 
relevant training courses and continuously updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the 
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their 
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, all Directors have participated in continuous professional 
development, including attending seminars or training sessions and reading newspapers, journals and 
updates relating to economy, general business or directors’ duties and responsibilities etc.. The Company 
also encouraged all Directors to participate relevant courses which enable them to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills for better fulfillment of the directors’ duties.

9.	 Company Secretary

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda of the Board meetings and ensures all 
relevant rules and regulations of the procedures of such meeting are complied with. The Company Secretary 
files for and maintains the detailed minutes of each Board meeting, and makes such minutes available and 
accessible for all Directors.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary of the Company has taken not less than 
15 hours of relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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D. BoARD coMMiTTeeS
1.	 Remuneration Committee

During the year under review, the chairman of the remunerat ion committee of the Company (the 
“Remuneration Committee”) was Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and other members included Dr. Chen Yuhong, 
Mr. Zeng Zhijie and Dr. Lai Guanrong. Dr. Chen Yuhong is an executive Director, and the remaining three 
members are independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 28 June 2005. The role and function of the remuneration 
committee included the determination of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and 
senior management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, 
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making 
recommendations to the board of Directors for the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The 
Remuneration Committee will consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time 
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management of the Company, employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of attendance of the meeting of the Remuneration Committee are set out as follows:

name of Director number of attendance

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick (Chairman) 1/1

Dr. Chen Yuhong 1/1

Mr. Zeng Zhijie 1/1

Dr. Lai Guanrong 1/1

The board of Directors considered that the existing terms of appointment and levels of remuneration of the 
Directors and senior management of the Company are fair and reasonable, and resolved that a review be 
carried out again in the year ending 31 December 2017.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 20 May 2013 to replace the original share option 
scheme adopted on 2 June 2003, which serves as an incentive to attract, retain and motivate talented eligible 
staff, including the Directors. Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 38 to the financial 
statements. The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under 
employment contracts, if any, and as recommended by the Remuneration Committee. Details of the 
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

2.	 Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 2 June 2003 and amended its 
written terms of reference on 31 December 2015 to comply with the requirements in the CG Code. The Audit 
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and supervising the Group’s financial reporting and internal 
control system. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Audit Committee comprised of three 
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zeng Zhijie, Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and Dr. Lai Guanrong. Dr. 
Leung Wing Yin Patrick is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met at least on a 
semi-yearly basis during the year ended 31 December 2016. 

The Group’s unaudited interim results and audited annual results during the year ended 31 December 2016 
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results 
complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been 
made.
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The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is delegated by the Board to assess matters related to the 
financial statements. Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee has, amongst others, the following 
duties:

• making recommendation to the Board on appointment, re-appointment and removal of external 
auditor of the Group and considering the remuneration and terms of engagement of that external 
auditor;

• reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and effectiveness of the audit process 
in accordance with applicable standard;

• reviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk management system;

• reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

• ensuring that management has fulfilled its duty to establish and maintain an effective internal control 
and risk management systems;

• ensuring compliance with applicable statutory accounting and reporting requirements, legal and 
regulatory requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board;

• reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the Groups’ financial statements, annual reports, accounts 
and interim report;

• reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and the 
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and their compliances.

During the year under review, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee. Details of attendance of the 

Audit Committee meetings are set out as follows:

name of member number of attendance

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick (Chairman) 3/3

Mr. Zeng Zhijie 2/3

Dr. Lai Guanrong 3/3
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3.	 Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) on 28 March 2012 with 

written terms of reference in compliance with the requirement in the CG Code. The primary duties of the 

Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and select and make 

recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and senior management. During the year 

ended 31 December 2016, the Nomination Committee comprised of one executive Director, Dr. Chen Yuhong 

and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zeng Zhijie, Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and Dr. Lai 

Guanrong. Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Details of attendance of the meeting of the Nomination Committee are set out as follows:

name of Director number of attendance

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick (Chairman) 1/1

Dr. Chen Yuhong 1/1

Mr. Zeng Zhijie 1/1

Dr. Lai Guanrong 1/1

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and recommending candidates for 

directorships by making reference to the balance of expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, 

personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the requirements of the business of the Group 

and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged 

to carry out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its 
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, 
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the 
selected candidates will bring to the Board. 
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e. AccounTABiLiTY AnD AuDiT

1.	 Director’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s 

consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and 

applicable accounting standards. The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting 

policies have been adopted and applied consistently, and that judgments and estimates made are prudent 

and reasonable.

The Directors acknowledges their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group. Having made appropriate enquiries, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated 

financial statements.

2.	 Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it has the overall responsibility of the internal control system to enhance the 

awareness of risk management and assets protection. The internal control system is designed to provide 

reasonable policies and procedures to manage business risk and to avoid misstatement of the performance 

of the Group. The Company has a clearly defined organisation chart by functions, an effective filing system to 

maintain proper records for accounting and business transactions, well established procedures in approving 

payments and safeguarding the appropriate use of assets. The Company periodically conducted reviews of 

its financial, operational and risk management control activities to ensure the Group’s compliance with 

applicable laws and regulations. The Company also reviews its internal control system periodically and report 

to the senior management of the Company quarterly and to the Audit Committee annually thereafter, taking 

effective actions on recommendation, if any, to improve its system.

3.	 Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditor and reviewing any 

non-audit functions performed by the external auditor, including whether such non-audit functions could lead 

to any potential material adverse effect on the Company. During the year under review, the Group was 

required to pay an aggregate of approximately RMB5,680,000 million to the external auditor for their audit 

services.
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F. RiSK MAnAGeMenT AnD inTeRnAL MoniToRinG

1.	 Accountability

The Board understands that its responsibility is to assess and determine the nature and level of risks that the 

Group is willing to accept in the process of reaching strategic targets, and to ensure the Group establishes 

and maintains an appropriate and effective risk management and internal control system. This system is 

aimed at managing and not eliminating the risk of not meeting business targets, and will provide reasonable 

but not absolute guarantee that major misrepresentations or business losses will not occur.

2.	 Structure of Risk Management and Internal Monitoring Governance

The Board is responsible for the assessment and determination of significant risks and the effectiveness of 

risk management monitoring for the year; it is responsible for the maintenance of an appropriate and effective 

risk management and internal control system; it is responsible to make conclusions as to the effectiveness of 

the risk management and internal control system, after considering the work and review results of the Audit 

Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in the assessment and monitoring of the risks 

encountered by the Group, the management of relevant risks, and the design and performance of the internal 

control system. It reports to the Board after properly reviewing the Group’s annual risk management and the 

effectiveness of the internal control system.

The management is responsible for the proper design, implementation and monitoring of the Group’s risk 

management and internal control system as authorized by the Board, and the confirmation provided to the 

Board as to the effectiveness of the relevant system.

The risk assessment team is responsible for the coordination of risk identification and assessment procedure, 

preparation of risk assessment reports, bringing identified risks to the attention of the Audit Committee, and 

reporting the actions taken in relation to the management of such risks.

The internal audit team is responsible for assisting the Audit Committee to review the effectiveness of the 

Group’s risk management and internal control system, and to conduct independent assessments of the 

established risk management and internal control system in accordance with the internal control procedures.

Business divisions and functional operations department are responsible, in accordance with their duties, for 

identifying, assessing and responding to the risks relevant to their individual departments’, and carrying out 

risk management procedures and internal control measures within the scope of their respective business and 

functional operations areas.
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3.	 Risk Management

3.1	 Risk Management Objectives

The objective of corporate risk management is to manage significant risks that the Company is faced 

with, and take specif ic responsive and monitoring actions on signif icant r isks, through the 

establishment of a proper organizational system and management model. The specific objectives are 

as follows:

• Identify, assess, quantify, respond and manage all current and future significant risks, and 

contain them at all times at a level and in a scope acceptable to management;

• Establish a consistent and effective monitoring and reporting system for all significant risks;

• Provide reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the requirements of relevant 

laws and regulations of external monitoring authorities, and that various departments comply 

with relevant internal rules and regulations;

• Provide reasonable assurance that significant measures to achieve the Company’s targets are 

properly implemented.

3.2	 Major Processes of Risk Management

Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks assessment, risks 

mitigation and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department conducts, at least once in a year, an 

identification of potential internal and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks 

identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the Company’s objectives, 

and major problems or risk incidents in the business activities for the past year. Risks identified are 

summarized and categorized to establish a risk data base.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business and functional 

department reviews the risks identified, and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents 

of impacts in order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of bottom-up 

and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of the Group’s significant risks, which 

are then given rankings. Significant risks are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit 

Committee and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough communication 

and discussion.

Risks mitigation: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates a risk response plan by 

properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk reduction, risk sharing and risk retention, with 

consideration of the Group’s level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate 

resources for risk mitigation or improvements on risk mitigation measures, with an aim to reduce the 

overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.
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Risk monitoring and reporting: Risk monitoring and reporting are carried out by integrating the use of 

risk warning indicators, internal auditing and periodic summarized risk reports.

3.3	 Significant Risks

In accordance with the corporate risk management framework, the Group conducted an overall risk 

audit and assessment in 2016. The following lists the significant risks of the Group and its major 

affiliates, the changes in the nature and level of these risks, and the relevant plans and monitoring 

measures to mitigate these significant risks.

Risk Type Risk Description Response Mitigation Plan Risk Trend

Risk in Market 

Competition

Ferocious competition, with 

possible increase of intensity

Current competition for key 

customers is very keen. 

Competitors have expanded 

market share by establishing JVs 

with key customers and their 

responses to market change has 

been quick. This may further 

aggravate competition in the 

industry, and may have a 

negative impact on Company 

profitability.

Improve the Company’s 

servicing capabilities through 

technological innovations and 

learning advanced customer 

theories, build internal core 

competitiveness, establish 

competitive barriers, and 

improve customer stickiness

Reduced

Risk in Market 

Promotion

Risk in market promotion for 

new type of business

The Company is actively 

exploring the crowdsourcing 

model, on which certain 

investment has already been 

made in the early stage of 

platform construction. As new 

product launch will pose risks for 

the existing markets, and there 

also exist uncertainties regarding 

marketing promotion and 

consumer acceptance, 

crowdsourcing will need a 

transformation of customer habits 

to gain market visibility and 

acceptance. The growth rate of 

the current crowdsourcing 

market is low, which may have 

impact on the Company’s 

operating profit.

Achieve word-of-mouth 

marketing through incessant 

technological innovation to 

improve user experience. 

Interact proactively with 

government institutions, 

organize and participate in 

various industry forums, and 

fully capitalize on different 

types of promotion channels to 

strengthen promotion.

Reduced
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Risk Type Risk Description Response Mitigation Plan Risk Trend

Risk of 

Exchange Rate 

Fluctuation

Risk of exchange rate 

fluctuation

International software business is 

an important part of the 

company’s main business. 

Exchange rate fluctuations may 

have adverse effect on the 

Company’s competitive edge 

against the competitors overseas, 

and on the development of the 

Company’s international 

business. The fluctuations may 

also, to a certain extent, affect 

the Company’s revenue and 

profit levels.

The Company will continue to 

strengthen the analysis and 

studies on exchange rate 

fluctuation, and adopt 

appropriate foreign exchange 

hedging measures, and select 

appropriate currencies for 

quotations to reduce any 

adverse effects brought about 

by exchange rate fluctuations.

No change

Risk in Human 

Resources

Manpower cost control and 

staff structure optimization 

were faced with challenges.

Human resources are an 

important factor for the survival 

and development of a high 

technology enterprise. Core 

technology, combined with sales 

personnel and quality leadership 

team, is the foundation for the 

maintenance and enhancement 

of the Company’s core 

competitiveness. However, as 

labor cost in China continues to 

rise, Company profitability may 

be adversely affected. Meanwhile, 

the Company may be subject to 

pressure and challenge in the 

areas of rising manpower cost, 

attraction and retention of senior 

professional, and structural 

optimization of the human 

resources system.

Strictly control labor idle rate, 

and increase recruitment from 

regions where labor costs are 

lower so as to distribute the 

pressure of manpower cost. At 

the same time, improve the 

incentive system by increasing 

investment in staff training, with 

focus on senior business 

employees so as to build up 

and maintain a reserve of 

talents for the Company’s 

sustained growth.

Increasing
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Risk Type Risk Description Response Mitigation Plan Risk Trend

Risk in Tax 

Management

Tax policy changes leading to 

increase in tax

The Company currently enjoys a 

national preferential tax policy 

granted to hi-tech enterprises or 

key software enterprises. If there 

is any adjustment in this policy, 

the tax incentives enjoyed by the 

Company may be affected, which 

may result in the increase of the 

Company’s tax liabilities, and 

may, to an extent, affect the 

Company’s profitability.

Pay attention to the changes 

and updates of various tax 

laws and regulations, monitor 

all financial indicators of the 

Company to ensure they meet 

current preferential tax policy 

requirements and adopt timely 

response measures 

accordingly.

No change

Intellectual 

Property Risk

Risk of inadequacy of evidence 

in preserving intellectual 

property rights in case of 

infringement

Infringement of rights in the 

industry is common. The 

infringers may take actions such 

as concealment or destruction of 

infringing products, which results 

in relatively big difficulties in the 

preservation of rights, and may 

bring economic loss to the 

Company.

Reinforce the awareness of 

Company’s employees in 

intellectual property rights 

protection, further strengthen 

the efforts in monitoring the 

market with respect to the 

protection of intellectual 

property rights, and take timely 

actions in preserving and 

notarizing evidence in relation 

to the infringement actions.

Reduced
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4.	 Internal Control

4.1	 Internal Control Objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to supervise the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

control system, and a sound and effective internal control system is achieved through a management 

structure with explicit authorization and internal monitoring accountability. The objectives are:

• to reasonably assure that the enterprise is operated and managed in compliance with the laws 

and regulations, its assets are safe, and its financial reports and related information are true 

and complete;

• to enhance operating efficiency and performance;

• to promote the achievement of the enterprise’s development strategies.

4.2	 Internal control

The Group has referred to the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission) framework, and incorporated the Group’s business management characteristics in the 

design of its internal control system, and has established an internal audit team to take responsibility 

of the internal control function. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group completed 

risk-oriented internal assessments on day-to-day fund management, financial reporting management, 

procurement and inventory, asset management, and business and debt collection procedures, and 

periodically followed-up with the rectifications of the problems identified by internal audit. Management 

and Audit Committee reviewed the internal control assessment reports, and assessed the 

effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The scope of the review 

included the Group’s major control and risk management functions, such as financial control, 

operations control and compliance control.

The Board considered that, as at 31 December 2016, the Group had carried out internal control’s 

“plan, review, report and follow-up” processes of the close-loop management system, that the 

Group’s risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate, that the 

Company’s procedures on financial reporting and the compliance of the provisions under the Listing 

Rules were effective and adequate and that no significant areas of concern that might affect the 

Group’s financial control, operations control, compliance control and risk management functions had 

been uncovered.

In the process of the review, the Board considered that the resources, qualifications/experience of 

staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting, as well as their training and budget were 

adequate.
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4.3	 Inside information

The Company is aware of and strictly comply with the requirements of the currently applicable laws, 

regulations and guidelines, including the obligations to disclose inside information under the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information 

issued by the Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses are 

transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability, as well as the handling and 

dissemination procedures in relation to inside information, and has communicated to all relevant 

personnel and provided them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the continuous 

disclosure policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s handling and dissemination procedures and measures  in 

relation to inside information are effective.

G. inVeSToRS AnD SHAReHoLDeRS ReLATionS

The Company commits to promoting transparency and maintaining effective communication with investors, analysts 

and the press. The management periodically meets with existing and potential investors to make corporate 

presentations. The Company also communicates with its shareholders and investors through the publication of 

annual and inter im reports, announcements and press re leases, as wel l as the Company’s website at 

http://www.chinasofti.com. The Company hosts an annual general meeting each year to meet the Company’s 

shareholders and answer their enquiries.

H. SHAReHoLDeR’S RiGHTS

1.	 How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding at 

the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying 

the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition 

to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the 

Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2.	 The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the board and sufficient contract details to enable 
these enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the principal place 

of business of Company in Hong Kong at Units 4607-8, 46th Floor, COSCO Tower, No. 183 Queen’s Road 

Central, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

3.	 The procedures and sufficient contact details for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations, strategy and/or management of 

the Group be discussed at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board by written requisition. 

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal 

should convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as set out above.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 

2016.

PRinciPAL AcTiViTieS

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the 

financial statements. During the year under review, there were no significant changes in the Group’s principal activities.

ReSuLTS AnD DiViDenDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income on page 82.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.012 per ordinary share from share premium 

account of the Company in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016. The proposed dividend payments from share 

premium account of the Company are subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general 

meeting to be held on Thursday, 18 May 2017 at 4:00 p.m.. Upon shareholders’ approval at the upcoming annual general 

meeting, the proposed final dividend will be paid on Tuesday, 13 June 2017 to shareholders whose names shall appear on 

the register of members of the Company on Friday, 2 June 2017.

cLoSuRe oF ReGiSTeR oF MeMBeRS

(a) For the purpose of determining the qualification as shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, the 

register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 15 May 2017 to Thursday, 18 May 2017, both 

days inclusive. In order to qualify as shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered 

holders of shares of the Company are required to lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share 

certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services 

Limited, at Shops 1712– 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for 

registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 May 2017.

(b) For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject to the approval of the 

shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 31 May 2017 to 

Friday, 2 June 2017, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, 

unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required to lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the 

relevant share certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong 

Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, 

Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2017.

DiSTRiBuTABLe ReSeRVeS

The reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2016 are RMB1,770,016,000 approximately.

SHARe cAPiTAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
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PRoPeRTY, PLAnT AnD eQuiPMenT

Details of movements during the year in the Group’s property, plant and equipment are set out in note 12 to the financial 

statements.

FinAnciAL SuMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five years, as extracted from the 

audited financial statements, is set out on page 184. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

BuSineSS ReVieW 

(i) Review of our business

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 is set out in the sections headed 

“Chairman’s Letter” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 3 to 5 and pages 27 to 36 respectively of 

this annual report.

(ii) Principal Risks and uncertainties

The management is already aware of the principal risks associated with the Group’s business and accordingly 

estimates and manages all kinds of risks encountered through inspection under the risk internal control system.

(1) Financial Risk

Capital risk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings, convertible loan notes, 

net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the Company (including share 

capital, share premium, reserves and accumulated profits).

The Directors review the capital structure semi-annually. As part of this review, the Directors consider the 

cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the 

Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new shares 

issues and as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debt.

Interest rate risk

Because of the fluctuations of calculating the interest rate of financial assets and liabilities, the Group bears 

interest rate risks. Interest bearing financial assets are mainly bank deposits (mainly of a short term nature); 

and interest bearing financial liabilities are mainly bank loans which are on a floating rate basis. The Group is 

exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to convertible loan notes, borrowing with fixed interest rates 

and amounts due to related companies. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation 

to variable rate bank borrowings and short-term bank deposits which are mainly concentrated on the 

fluctuation of prevailing interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China and London Inter Bank 

Offered Rate in respect of an unsecured bank loan.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the prime rate.
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Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have bank balances and cash, trade receivables denominated in foreign 

currencies arising from income generated from provision of services, trade and other payables arising from 

purchases denominated in foreign currencies and borrowing, which expose the Group to foreign currency 

risk. The Group’s principal operating subsidiaries are located in the PRC, the United States and Japan, and 

the Group’s principal businesses are conducted in Renminbi. The Group is mainly exposed to United States 

Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and Japanese Yen. The impact of foreign exchange exposure is minimal, and the 

management has kept on monitoring the movement of all foreign currency exposure.

Credit risk

The Group conducts business with credible third parties. The Group’s policy is that all customers intending to 

conduct business on credit are required to pass a credit assessment procedure: in order to minimise the 

credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated specific persons responsible for determination of 

credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to 

recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable at the 

end of each reporting period, based on the evaluation of the age of the trade receivable, the credibility of the 

debtor, payment history and previous revocation experience, to ensure that adequate impairment losses, if 

necessary, are made for irrecoverable amounts.

(2) Business Risk

Market risk

Loss of market share is a market risk encountered by the Group. The Group constantly faces fierce market 

competition in the core markets of the PRC. The financial position of the Group may be adversely affected if it 

fails to respond to market changes resulting to loss of business to opponents. The Group has professional 

sales and client management teams and is committed to ensure that the existing clients and business will be 

retained through competitive quality services and pricing policy.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 

or from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with every function at 

divisional and departmental levels. Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating 

procedures, safety standard, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management will identify and 

assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate risk response can be taken.

(iii) important events after the reporting date affecting the Group

No any important events which happened after the reporting date of 31 December 2016 affecting the Group.

(iv) Future development of the Group

An indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s 

Letter” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 3 to 5 and pages 27 to 36 respectively of this annual 

report.
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(v) compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations; in particular, 

those have significant impact on the Group, such as the Listing Rules and the Revised Hong Kong Financial; 

Reporting Standards. The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and practices 

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the 

applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units 

from time to time. As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company.

(vi) environmental Policies and Performance

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protection in its 

daily business operation. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group is in compliance with international and 

national environmental standards and implemented green production policies to raise efficiency and minimize both 

energy consumption and pollutant discharge. The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and 

will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the Group’s business operation to enhance 

sustainability.

(vii) Key Relationships with employees, customers and Suppliers

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a headcount of 47,188 employees (31 December 2015: 31,504). Salaries 

of employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant 

labour market as well as the minimum wages guideline as prescribed by the local government from time to time.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based upon profit achievements of the Company and 

individual performance. The Company has also adopted a share option scheme in order to attract and retain the best 

available personnel and to align the interests of the employees with the Group’s interests. Being people-oriented, the 

Group ensures all staff are reasonable remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review and update 

its policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health and safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place 

to receive, analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving service 

quality. The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on 

an annual basis.

PeRMiTTeD inDeMniTY

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be 

indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about 

the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has maintained appropriate 

directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Group 

during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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DiRecToRS

The Directors during the year end and up to the date of this report are:

executive Directors: non-executive Directors: independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Chen Yuhong Dr. Zhang Yaqin Mr. Zeng Zhijie

Dr. Tang Zhenming Mr. Samuel Thomas Goodner Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick

Dr. Lai Guanrong

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive 

Directors are independent.

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the Directors (who have been longest in 

office since their last election) will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors’ appointment and resignation are set out in the Corporate Government Report of this annual report.

DiRecToRS’ SeRVice conTRAcTS

Dr. Chen Yuhong has entered into a service agreement with the Company. Particulars of the contract, except as indicated, 

are in all material respects identical and are set out below:

(i) the service contract is of two years duration commencing on 20 June 2003. The service contract shall continue 

thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior written notice, such 

notice not to be given before the expiry of the initial term of two years;

(ii) the monthly salary for Dr. Chen Yuhong is to be reviewed annually by the board of Directors. For the period from the 

expiry of the first year of appointment, the salary of Dr. Chen Yuhong shall be determined by the board of Directors 

but shall not be more than 120 percent of his annual salary for the preceding year;

(iii) Dr. Chen Yuhong is entitled to management bonus by reference to the consolidated net profits of the Group after 

taxation and minority interests but before extraordinary items as shown in the Group’s audited consolidated 

accounts for the relevant financial year (the “Net Profits”) as the Board may approve, provided that the aggregate 

amount of management bonuses payable to all executive Directors in respect of any financial year of the Group shall 

not exceed 5 percent of the Net Profits; and

(iv) Dr. Chen Yuhong shall abstain from voting and shall not be counted in the quorum in respect of the resolution 

regarding the amount of management bonus payable to himself.

Dr. Tang Zhenming has not entered into service agreements with the Group. Dr. Tang Zhenming receive no remuneration for 

holding his office as executive Directors.

Dr. Zhang Yaqin and Mr. Sammel Thomas Goodner have not entered into service agreements as non-executive Directors 

with the Group. Dr. Zhang Yaqin receives an annual remuneration of HK$150,000 for holding his office as non-executive 

Director. Mr. Sammel Thomas Goodner is entitled to receive a director’s salary of US$50,000 per annum for holding his 

office as non-executive Director.
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Mr. Zeng Zhijie was appointed as an independent non-executive Director pursuant to letters of appointment for a term of 2 

years from 20 June 2003, and his appointment have continued since expiry of such term. Mr. Zeng Zhijie receives an annual 

remuneration of HK$120,000 for his office.

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick and Dr. Lai Guanrong have not entered into any service agreements as independent 

non-executive Directors with the Group. Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick receives an annual remuneration of HK$120,000 for his 

office during the reporting year, and Dr. Lai Guanrong receives an annual remuneration of HK$225,000 for holding his office 

as an independent non-executive Director.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in the annual report to the financial statements. Save as disclosed in note 

9 to the financial statements, there were no other emoluments, pension and any compensation arrangements for the 

Directors and past Directors which are required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules, or section 383 of the Companies 

Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) or the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) 

Regulation (Chapter 662G,Laws of Hong Kong). Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract with 

the Company of any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year 

without payment of compensation, other than statutory obligations.

DiRecToRS’ inTeReSTS in SHAReS

As at 31 December 2016, the following Directors had interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and 

shares in an associated corporation (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws 

of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) of the Company as set out below and recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 

of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Long positions in shares of HK$0.05 each in the capital of the company (“Shares”)

name of Director

Total no. of

ordinary Shares

Approximate

percentage of

total issued

ordinary share

capital of the 

company as at

31 December 2016

Chen Yuhong 264,392,861 11.42%

Tang Zhenming 11,827,765 0.51%

Zeng Zhijie 250,000 0.01%
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options to subscribe for Shares

name of Director

exercise

Price

no. of

share options

outstanding

as at

1 January 

2016

no. of

share options

granted

during

the year

no. of

share options

exercised

during

the year

no. of

share options

outstanding

as at

31 December 

2016

Percentage

of total issued

ordinary share

capital of the

company 

as at

31 December 

2016

no of

underlying

ordinary shares

interested in

Percentage

of total issued

ordinary share

capital of the

company

as at

31 December

2016 Note

(HK$)

Chen Yuhong 2.15 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000 0.43% 10,000,000 0.43% (3)

Tang Zhenming 0.97 800,000 – (800,000) – – 12,000,000 0.52% (1)

1.78 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 0.09% (2)

2.15 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000 0.43% (3)

Zhang Yaqin 3.27 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000 0.13% 3,000,000 0.13% (4)

Notes:

(1) These share options were offered on 30 March 2006 under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 2 June 2003 and 

accepted on 27 April 2006. These share options are exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of offer, subject to the 

following conditions:

exercisable Period 

commencing ending number of share options exercisable

30/03/2006 29/03/2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

30/03/2007 29/03/2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

30/03/2008 29/03/2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

30/03/2009 29/03/2016 25% of the total number of share options granted
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(2) These share options were offered on 10 April 2007 under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 2 June 2003 and 

accepted on 8 May 2007. These share options are exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of offer, subject to the 

following conditions:

exercisable Period

commencing ending number of share options exercisable

10/04/2007 09/04/2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

10/04/2008 09/04/2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

10/04/2009 09/04/2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

10/04/2010 09/04/2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

(3) These share options were offered on 23 January 2014 under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 20 May 2013 

and accepted on 31 January 2014. The share options are exercisable for a period of 3 years from the date of offer subject to the 

following conditions:

exercisable Period

commencing ending number of share options exercisable

23/01/2014 22/01/2017 30% of the total number of share options granted

23/01/2015 22/01/2017 30% of the total number of share options granted

23/01/2016 22/01/2017 40% of the total number of share options granted

 This batch of share options are subject to a vesting condition that the market capitalization of the Company shall reach HK$10 

billion or higher for 5 consecutive trading days during the exercise period.

(4) These share options were offered on 16 December 2015 under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 20 May 2013 

and accepted on 31 December 2015. The share options are exercisable for a period of 3 years from the date of offer subject to the 

following conditions:

exercisable Period

commencing ending number of share options exercisable

16/12/2015 15/12/2018 30% of the total number of share options granted

16/12/2016 15/12/2018 30% of the total number of share options granted

16/12/2017 15/12/2018 40% of the total number of share options granted

Save as disclosed above and so far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or chief 

executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, debentures or underlying shares of the 

Company or its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short 

positions which he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to 

section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the required 

standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange.
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As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors had any direct or indirect interest in any assets which had been, since 31 

December 2016 (being the date to which the latest published audited accounts of the Company were made up), acquired or 

disposed of by, or leased to the Company or any member of the Group, or were proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, 

or leased to, any member of the Group.

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors were materially interested in any subsisting contract or arrangement which 

was significant in relation to the business of the Group.

DiRecToRS’ RiGHTS To AcQuiRe SHAReS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was granted any options to 

subscribe for shares of the Company. As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors had any rights to acquire shares in 

the Company save as disclosed above.

ReQuiReD STAnDARD oF SecuRiTieS DeALinGS BY DiRecToRS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company had adopted a code of conduct for directors’ securities 

transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code. Having made 

specific enquiry with all the Directors, the Directors had complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of 

conduct for directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31 December 2016.

SHARe oPTion ScHeMe

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was originally adopted by the Company for a period of 10 years 

pursuant to a written resolution of all the shareholders of the Company on 2 June 2003. Such Share Option Scheme was 

subsequently terminated on 20 May 2013 and a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) with 

substantively similar terms to the Share Option Scheme was adopted on the same day at the AGM of the Company for a 

further 10 years. As at 31 December 2016, share options allowing for the subscription of 12,605,000 Shares granted to 

certain directors and employees of the Group pursuant to the Share Option Scheme were outstanding and 243,500,000 

Shares granted to certain directors and employees of the Group pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme were 

outstanding, representing 0.54% and 10.52%of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 

2016 respectively. The terms on the exercise of such share options granted as set out in note 38 to the financial statements 

and notes 1 to 4 in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares” above.

During the reporting year, an aggregate of 31,880,000 share options were exercised, 2,500,000 share options were lapsed 

and 130,000,000 options has been granted under the New Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, no share options have been granted, exercised or have lapsed pursuant to the Share Option 

Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2016.

eQuiTY-LinKeD AGReeMenT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year 

ended 31 December 2016.
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ARRAnGeMenTS To PuRcHASe SHAReS oR DeBenTuReS

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 

arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 

Company or any other body corporate. None of the Directors, or their spouses or children under 18 years of age, had any 

rights to subscribe for the shares of the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the period.

DiRecToRS’ inTeReSTS in conTRAcTS oF SiGniFicAnce

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiary, its holding 

company or any subsidiary of its holding company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether 

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAnAGeMenT conTRAcTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Group were entered into or existed during the year.

connecTeD TRAnSAcTionS

During the year, the Group had entered into continuing connected transactions as set out below.

During 2015, the Company and Huawei Technology Company Limited (“Huawei”) entered into the Huawei IT Outsourcing 

Agreement pursuant to which the Group shall provide the IT Outsourcing services to Huawei Group on a recurring basis. 

Huawei has been a customer of the Group in respect of its Chinasoft International Technology Services Co., Ltd. (“IT 

Outsourcing Flagship”) since September 2009 and such recurring transactions continue upon the establishment of IT 

Outsourcing Flagship and the equity participation of Huawei in IT Outsourcing Flagship pursuant to Huawei Equity 

Participation Agreement. Since April 2012, Huawei has become a connected person of the Company by virtue of becoming 

a substantial shareholder of the IT Outsourcing Flagship, being a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, holding 

40% of its equity interest immediately upon Completion. And Huawei ceased to be a related party of the Group since 25 

February 2016 after it disposed its entire interest in IT Outsourcing Flagship.

The Annual Cap for the provision of IT Outsourcing service by the Group to Huawei Group is RMB2,400 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2016. During the period from 1 January 2016 to 25 February 2016, the provision of IT Outsourcing 

service by the Group to Huawei Group is RMB354.2 million.

The independent non-executive directors reviewed the above connected transactions, and confirmed that, during the year 

ended 31 December 2016, such transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 

Group; (ii) either on normal commercial terms, or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they 

are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) 

independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are fair and 

reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Each year, the Company’s auditor is engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 

with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of 

Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 

Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the 

board of directors engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions in 

accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 

Reviews of Historical Financial Information" and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on Continuing 

Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the 

continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in page 61 of the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 

of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A copy of the auditor's letter 

has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Directors also confirm the above connected transactions also constitute related party transactions under the accounting 

standards, details of which are set out in note 40 to the financial statements. Related party transactions set out in note 40 

to the financial statements other than those transactions disclosed above are not considered to be connected transactions.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect 

of the above transactions.

Save as disclosed therein, there were no other transactions required to be disclosed as connected transactions and/or 

continuing connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MAJoR cuSToMeRS AnD SuPPLieRS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 

64.1% of the Group’s total turnover and the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 53.6% of the Group’s 

total turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was approximately 50.3% of the 

Group’s total purchases and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 17.3% of the Group’s total 

purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 

more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the 

Group.
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SuBSTAnTiAL SHAReHoLDeRS

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2016, the interest of the persons (not being a Director or chief 

executive of the Company) in the shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept under 

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in Shares

name nature of interest

Approximate

number of

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

total issued

ordinary share of

the company

Approximate

percentage of

total issued

share* of

the company

(million)

Prime Partners Development Limited 

(Note 1)

Beneficial interest 139.07 6.01% 5.75%

*	 The total number of issued share consists of 2,314,174,436 Ordinary Shares and 103,992,922 Convertible Notes, which could be 

converted into 103,992,922 Ordinary Shares.

Note:

1. Dr. Chen Yuhong is deemed to be interested in 139,072,725 shares and through Prime Partners Development Limited, which is 

wholly owned by Dr. Chen Yuhong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December, 2016, no other interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of 

the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

PuRcHASe, SALe oR ReDeMPTion oF THe coMPAnY’S LiSTeD SecuRiTieS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchases, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during 

the year under review.

eMoLuMenT PoLicY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, 

qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having 

regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the 

scheme is set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

ReMuneRATion oF DiRecToRS AnD FiVe HiGHeST PAiD eMPLoYeeS

Details of the remuneration of Directors (on a named basis) and the five highest-paid employed (including the senior 

management of the Group) are set out in note 9 to the financial statements, respectively.
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PRe-eMPTiVe RiGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, 

which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SuFFiciencY oF PuBLic FLoAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2016.

coMPeTinG inTeReSTS

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or the management shareholders of the Company and their respective 

associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competed or might compete with the 

business of the Group.

AFTeR THe RePoRTinG PeRioD

No any subsequent event of the Group which happened after the reporting date of 31 December 2016.

AuDiToR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. chen Yuhong

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Beijing, 27 March 2017
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The Group adheres to the vision of “Striving for Success, Sharing and Growing with the Customers”. It contributes to and 
serves the communities where our operations are located, with a conscientious, fair and sincere working attitude, 
emphasizing cooperation with our business partners and employees. As we strive to achieve healthy financial performance, 
we also continue to improve our efforts in environmental protection, social responsibilities, and efficient governance.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s strategy and reporting in the areas of environmental, social responsibilities and 
governance. The Board is responsible for the assessment and determination of the Group’s risks with respect to 
environment, social and governance, and ensures the Group has established a proper and effective system in environmental, 
social and governance, risk management and internal control, and the management confirms to the Board whether such 
systems are effective. 

The Group sorts out and summarizes the social responsibility management tasks for the year, included the environmental, 
social and governance related issues into this report according to Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules (“Environmental, Social 
and Governance Reporting Guide”). According to the assessment results of the Group, the table below lists the issues 
deemed significant by the Group in the areas of environmental, social and governance, and the scope under the 
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” that these issues belong. This report covers the period from 1 
January 2016 to 31st December 2016 (the “Reporting Period”). Its scope extends to Corporate Headquarters as well as all 
affiliated enterprises.

Scope of “environmental, Social and 
Governance Reporting Guide” Significant issues of the Group

A. environmental

A1 Emissions Carbon emissions, fixed waste management

A2 Use of resources Utilization of energy and water

A3 The environment and natural resources Green commuting and green service

B. Social

B1 Employment Equal opportunity and diversified employment

B2 Health and safety Occupational health and staff safety

B3 Development and training Employee development and training

B4 Labor standards Prohibition of child labor and forced labor

B5 Supply chain management Responsibility and green purchasing

B6 Product responsibility Professional quality service and data privacy management

B7 Anti-corruption Anti-corruption

B8 Community investment Community welfare

A. enViRonMenT
The Group actively responds to the national policy of “construction of an energy saving and environmentally friendly 
society”. It strives to reduce impact on the environment and on climate change, through energy saving and emission 
reduction. The Group strictly complies with environmental laws and regulations such as the “PRC Environmental 
Protection Law” (中華人民共和國環境保護法), the “PRC Atmospheric Pollution Prevention Law” (中華人民共和國大氣
污染防治法), actively fulfills its responsibilities in the environment, and strives to achieve better results in the 
environment. During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-compliance with the relevant environmental 
laws and regulation in the Company that should be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly.

A1 emissions

The Group is a service oriented enterprise mainly with office operations, the daily business poses little impact 
on the environment. The main sources of the Group’s emission are generation of greenhouse gases, 
domestic waste water, discarded computers (electronic garbage) from daily operating office and consumer 
garbage that may be hazardous or non-hazardous. During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of 
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulation in the Company that should be liable to 
be proceeded against and punished accordingly.
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The Group has established a greenhouse gas emission reduction system, and formulated a greenhouse gas 
emission reduction plan, so as to reduce the emission of greenhouse gas. Details of emission policies are set 
out in paragraph A2 of this Chapter under Use of Resources.

Domestic wastewater and garbage generated by the Group’s daily operation are all handled by logistics 
companies and the municipal administration.

The Group places high emphasis on the effective recycling of electronic garbage. It adopts the management 
policy of recycling in whole or in part, repairing and upgrade, to achieve reasonable and effective use of 
assets and to effectively reduce the generation of electronic garbage. Key initiatives include the following:

• Inventory of fixed assets within the company area were taken, and RAMs were added to computers of 
the production departments with slow processing speed, which were reassigned, after replacement of 
power units, to employees with lower demands for computer performance. During the reporting 
period, the Group put a total of 1,865 old computers to use;

• Scrapped computers were disassembled for reuse of their parts, so as to reduce procurement cost 
and asset depletion. During the reporting period, the company at Xian disassembled and re-used 120 
pieces of RAMs, 60 units of power source, 30 hard disks, and reused the parts. A total of 200 
computers were successfully returned to the workforce. Assuming that the procurement cost for a 
new computer is $4,500, the total saving in procurement costs was $900,000;

• A centralized computer appropriation and transfer program is used to redeploy computers belonging 
to different projects and different business teams of the Group, so as to increase utilization rate of 
equipment, and reduce duplicated purchases of idle equipment.

A2 utilization of Resources

The Group advocates Green Office Practices and incorporates the low carbon footprint philosophy into 
production operations so that the Group can maximize resource savings, and achieve energy utilization 
reduction and low carbon emission. The Group has established a series of rules and regulations for the 
purpose of reducing resource and energy consumptions, and actively implements the following in all facets of 
daily office routines:

• Adopt the use of LEDs to reduce electric consumption; lighting/air-conditioning switches are labeled 
with the appropriate energy saving labels;

• “Save Water” labels are posted in lavatories as reminders to cultivate a proper water utilization 
concept and proper water utilization practice among employees;

• Advocate low carbon green commuting to reduce the use of company cars and to fully utilize public 
transport, to reduce the use of petroleum, and to reduce energy consumption in commuting by 
recommending the use of video conferences.

During the Reporting Period, the total renovated office space was 100,903 square meters, all adopted the 
use of the energy saving LEDs. The company at Xian renovated 68,905 square meters of office space, and 
installed 20,000 LEDs. Under the same lighting requirement, LEDs save 25% energy as compare with 
ordinary lightings. This translates into a monthly saving of 16,693 kWh of electricity by the company at Xian 
since the adoption of LEDs in late 2016.

A3 The environment and natural resources

The Group places heavy emphasis on environmental protection and strives to minimize the impact of the 
Company’s operation on the environment. We encourage staff to use public transport to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions so as to achieve “low carbon travelling”.

The Group achieves energy saving and reduced use through standardized energy saving practices, energy 
saving technological innovation, application of renewable energy, enhanced digital management information, 
promotion of electronic marketing service channels and development of energy saving information 
applications. These help the Group achieve its goals in environmental protection, and at the same time, 
provide energy saving information solutions to other industries in the society. During the Reporting Period, 
the Group made significant efforts in promoting the Big Data and Cloud Storage businesses in the financial 
and government sectors, and helped various industries as well as the entire society to lower carbon emission 
through green ICT technology.
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B SociAL
In the process of its high quality development, the Group is attentive to the needs of employees, customers, 
suppliers, social community and related stake holders. It launches its operations in compliance with the laws and 
regulations, and strive to improve the well-being of employees, satisfaction of cooperation partners, and social 
recognition for the optimization of benefits and harmonious development of all stake holders.

B1 employment

Talents are the core competitiveness of the Group. The Group upholds the principle of equal opportunities in 
hiring throughout its recruitment process by strictly comply with the “PRC Labor Law” (中華人民共和國勞動
法 ), the “PRC Labor Contract Law” (中華人民共和國勞動合同法 ), the “Regulat ions of Insurance for 
Employment Injury” (工傷保險條例) and other such laws and regulations for the enhancement of democratic 
elements in management to effectively protect employees’ legal rights. 

At the same time, under the premise of compliance with the national laws and regulation and combined with 
the actual conditions, the Group has issued an “Employee Handbook” as a set of implementation standards 
and operational rules, which serve to give specific requirements for establishing equal employer-employee 
relationship and protection of the employees’ benefits.

The Group acknowledges that diversity in staff composition is a key factor in maintaining the Group’s long 
term competitive advantage. It supports employee diversity through a number of measures, according to the 
competitive characteristics of the industry and the requirements of the enterprise’s strategic development. 
The hiring requirements of different positions are in line with relevant labor laws and regulations. Talents in the 
society are attracted through recruitment of new graduates or introduction of experienced talents, with an 
aim to promoting diversity of staff composition.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total staff of 47,188, distributed in different regions of the country 
and different countries of the world. The total number of ethnic minorities in the workforce, including Hui, 
Tujia, Manchu, Zhuang was 2,110. The male and female ratios, the age distribution, geographical distribution 
and academic distribution of Company’s employees are indicated as below:

Male and Female

employees Rations

Male Female

33%

67%

employees Age 

Distribution

Below 30 30 and above

31%

69%

employees Geographical

Distribution

Shenzhen

Beijing

Xian

Chengdu

Nanjing

Wuhan

Shanghai

Others

16% 22%

23%

12%

5%

7%

9%

6%

employees Age

Distribution

Below
University

University Master and 
Above

76%

20%

4%
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One of the Company’s development strategic initiatives is to recruit new graduates from campus as trainees. 

During the Reporting Period, 3,439 new graduates were hired. The Group received high recognition from 

leadership and students of the target institutes, which greatly enhanced the Group’s visibility in the society.

The Company’s Campus Recruitment Team 2016 Campus Recruitment Event

The Group advocates a “Happy Chinasoft International” and encourages the staff together with the Company 

to “Jointly create a wonderful, glorious success”. During the reporting period, the Group has organized a 

network annual meeting, Mid-Autumn Delicacy Garden Party, Basketball Competition, and other activities to 

promote teamwork and sense of belonging.

2016 Chinasoft International Annual Internet Conversation The Third Session of Basketball League Competition of 

Chinasoft International Process IT LOB

The Group has established a salary incentive system which is closely linked with the individual’s personal 

performance and the organization’s performance. Full consideration is given to have employees’ salaries 

grow in-sync with the Company’s performance, and to ensure that the employees are compensated fairly and 

have their share of return according to their contributions. Performance appraisals are based on objective 

facts and data and the process is open and transparent.
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To motivate employees and to retain those with good performance, the Group organizes recognitions of 
individual employees and teams that excel in various work areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group 
organized the JointForce Carnival and the award ceremonies for the outstanding employees and teams in 6 
cities concurrently across the country.

B2 Health and Safety

Employees are the Company’s most important wealth and resource. As a people-oriented organization, the 
Group places the employees’ health and safety in top priority and strive to provide them with a safe, healthy 
and well-protected work environment.

The Group puts heavy emphasis on the improvement of staff’s work environment and facilities. All office sites 
across the country are equipped with medical kits for emergency situations. For newly renovated office sites, 
air purification treatments are carried out to ensure air quality reaches non-hazardous standards prior to staff 
moving in. Drinking water facilities are regularly cleaned, and water is regularly sampled for quality checks 
and reports. At the same time, the Group provides employees with different types of medical protections, 
organizes annual physical examinations, and arranges for employees’ commercial insurance policies. The 
Group organizes EHS training for management staff to promote knowledge in physical and mental health. In 
2016 the Group received ISO140001 and OHSAS 180001 international accreditations from Bureau Veritas 
Group of UK.

B3 Development and Training

The Group places emphasis on human resources development and training, and strives to fully motivate the 
development of the employees’ potentials. As regard to employee development and training, the Group adopts 
the principle of centralized management and various levels of training. A multi-level and multi-aspect training 
system has been established with job-specific training courses, tailor-made for different levels and roles. 
Employees’ capabilities are constantly enhanced to meet the manpower requirements for the Company’s 
long-term development, as well as to provide support for the employees to realize their individual values.

Catering to the different needs of new employees, the Group has developed training courses such as 
corporate culture and system, information network safety, quality assurance, and programming specifications. 
For project managers, the Group has developed training courses such as project management, operations 
management, finance management, and communication skills. For the managers, the Group has provided 
external training. For example, in June and August of 2016, the Group’s management was sent to Huawei to 
participate in a management training course known as “Dark Horse” training camp. At the same time, the 
Group provides the working staff with professional skills training, such as internal lecturer’s training and 
Project Management certification training to improve staff capabilities and enhance performance. At present, 
over 30 employees have received PMP certifications, making them a significant driving force behind the 
Company’s business development and project implementation.

JoinForce Carnival and Outstanding Performance Award Presentation Night
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has launched high – to mid-level management training for 80 
man-days, project management training with 4,600 participant, and series of induction training for 15,425 
participants.

B4 code of conduct in Labor Relations

The Group strictly complies with the international, national, and local standards, rules and regulations, and 
management policies arising as such, for the prevention of child labor or forced labor, and persists in 
employing labor according to the laws. The Group has established the necessary recruitment information 
collection and review process to ensure the implementation and execution of the standards in employment. 
During the Reporting Period, no incident of violation of any international, national, and local standards, rules 
and regulations has occurred.

B5 Supply chain Management

The Group’s supply chain management standards are constantly updated to achieve a win-win situation for 
both the enterprise and our suppliers and to ensure optimization of the Company’s benefits. The Group has 
formulated a “Supplier Management System” and established an increasing mature supplier management 
system.

The Group adheres to fair, open and unbiased principles in inclusion of suppliers, strictly follows the criteria 
for inclusion of suppliers. Only suppliers who pass the criteria assessments can be listed in the qualified 
suppliers list.

The Group also conducts long tern quality monitoring and regular assessments on suppliers, and will 
immediately terminate the supply contracts with any suppliers whose qualifications have had major changes, 
or whose products pose serious quality problems. If necessary, the suppliers will be taken out from the 
qualified supplier list. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware that any key suppliers had any 
significant actual and potential negative impact on business ethics, environmental protection, human rights 
and labor practices.

B6 Product Responsibility

One of the objectives of the Group is satisfaction. Adhering to the core value of “Striving for Success, Sharing 
and Growing with the Customers”, the Group strives to provide customers with quality and responsible 
products and services as guaranteed by our excellent quality management system and first class service 
capabilities.

Chinasoft International’s 2016 “Elite Class” Outward Bound Training
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The Group forms a comprehensive strategic partnership with the financial, telecommunications, internet, 
transportation and energy sector magnates, and through this partnership, constantly develops the global 
market, accumulates and develops a great number of solutions and products for the industry, and provides 
customer with an integrated, high qual i ty, and high ef f ic iency technical serv ice that has overal l 
competitiveness and industry characteristics. The objective is to become an industry leading supplier of 
end-to-end information technology service with a foothold in China and providing service globally. Meanwhile, 
the Group constructs an IT crowdsourcing service platform through a trustworthy network of organizations 
supported by the best management implementation, with “JointForce” at its core. The Company strives to 
become the customers’ long term, stable, and reliable partner and a global IT service enterprise. During the 
Reporting Period, the Company was awarded in the IAOP the honor of “2016 Global Outsourcing Top 100”, 
became one of the first batch of large-scale class-one information system integrators and service enterprises, 
listed again in the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology’s “China Software Business Revenue Top 
100 Enterprises”, awarded the title of Xian’s “Strategic Emerging Industry’s Star Enterprise”, and awarded the 
honor of “2016 China’s Top 10 Innovative Software Enterprise”, etc.

The “JointForce” platform developed by the Group is an effective attempt to utilize the internet and new 
technology. It is also an implementation and innovation of the crowdsourcing model. The Group combines 
the efforts of development staff, IT service provider, and the customer through the “JointForce” platform, and 
provides value to the customer in the form of a lower-cost and more responsive service to satisfy customer 
demands. The Group is convinced that once the platform is released, corporate customers will be able to 
conduct transformational development through the internet with this platform. At the same time, this will also 
encourage more software enterprises to participate in the innovations of business models and explore new 
paths in transformational development

The Group considers customer information security as the enterprise’s security in production operation, and 
a safeguard to the healthy development in customer relationship. Faced with increasingly acute threats in 
networking, system, and data security, the Group will continuously improve its capabilities in safeguarding 
information security, and will do so by improving security management, clearing potential hazards, upgrading 
technological levels, conducting strict monitoring and safeguarding measure. From the three perspectives of 
business constraints, technical security and self-management, the Group enhances the level of security 
management and protection capabilities to preserve the customers’ privacy.

The Group strictly adheres to the requirements of local regulations in protecting customer privacy. During the 
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any incident of violation of customer privacy or have received 
related complaints or found any related complaint to be valid.

B7 Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with China’s laws and regulations, and the stipulations in the “Employee Code of 
Business Conduct” issued by the Company. Employees should under no circumstances offer and/or receive 
bribes, and/or participate in corrupt misconducts. The Company will promptly report to the relevant 
authorities of any persons who are involved with such crimes.

The Group has effectively launched integrity building and established a sound internal audit system of rules 
and regulations and an internal audit and control system for the reinforcement of internal control, risk control 
and anti-corruption management. The Group has established an internal audit task force to monitor Company 
income and expenditure, financial statements, and other economic activities so as to reduce business risks. 
At the same time, the Group encourages all employees to participate in supervision, information feeding back 
and reporting of internal operation deficiencies or irregularities in the Group, through various established 
channels. Behaviors such as briberies, frauds, corruption and other types of illegal operation are strictly 
prohibited to facilitate Group’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations in its business operation.

B8 community Benefits

We are convinced that social welfare activities are not only obligations, but also the prerequisite for Company 
growth and development. As a member of society, the Group acquires resources from society, and must 
contribute to society, and, therefore, actively participate in social welfare activities.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group organized various public welfare activities, including the “Walk for 
JointForce, Share and Assist the Young”. The Group sent greetings to sanitation workers during festive 
holidays, visited Xian’s “Hand-in-hand Special Education Center” and Dalian’s “Autism Support Center” and 
sent love to the children. With these community activities, the Company has always practiced to fulfill 
corporate social responsibilities. It insists on doing the ordinary things, light up the road ahead with love and 
care and contributes continuously to the cause of China’s social welfare.

Joint Force • Walk for the Community Walk For the Community • Sent Rice Dumplings to 

Sanitation Workers on Dragon Boat Festival
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The following sets out the profile of the Directors and senior management of the Company:

DiRecToRS

executive Directors

Dr. Chen Yuhong (陳宇紅), aged 54, is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is responsible for 

the overall business development of the Group. He has over 20 years of practicing experience in software information 

industry. Dr. Chen holds a doctorate degree in optics from Beijing Institute of Technology (北京理工大學) in 1991. Prior to 

joining the Company on 25 April 2000, Dr. Chen worked at China National Computer Software & Technology Service 

Corporation (“CS&S”) from October 1996 to April 2000, subsequently was appointed as vice president in June 1999 and as 

senior vice president of CNTC (中軟網絡資訊技術有限公司) in December 2003. He has also been appointed a director of 

Chinasoft Resources Information Technology Services Limited. He was also a director of CS&S Cyber Resources Software 

Technology (Tianjin) Co., Ltd., an associate company of CS&S from 1999 to March 2002. From June 1991 to October 1996, 

he was the deputy general manager of China Great Wall Computer Software Co., Ltd. (中國長城電腦軟體公司).

Dr. Tang Zhenming (唐振明), aged 54, is the senior vice president of the Company. He is responsible for the Group’s training 

department. Dr. Tang obtained a doctorate degree in motor electronic control from Beijing Institute of Technology (北京理工

大學) in 1994. Prior to joining the Company on 25 April 2000, Dr. Tang was employed by Beijing Institute of Technology 

Industrial Company (北京理工大學產業總公司) as deputy general manager from May 1995 to March 2000 and by American 

W&P Company, Beijing Office (美國W&P公司北京辦事處) as officer from December 1993 to March 1995.
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non-executive Director

Dr. Zhang Yaqin (張亞勤), aged 51, was appointed on 31 December 2008. Dr. Zhang Ya-Qin is currently the President of 

Baidu Corporation, in charge of emerging business and basic technology system and also the Chairman of Baidu R&D 

Centre in U.S. Prior to joining Baidu, Dr. Zhang was Microsoft’s Corporate Vice President and Chairman of Asia R&D Group, 

leading Microsoft’s R&D efforts in Asia-Pacific, Microsoft’s largest R&D establishment outside of US with over 3,000 

scientists and engineers. Over 15 year tenure at Microsoft, he has taken various key positions, including the Managing 

Director of Microsoft Research Asia (2000-2004), Chairman of Microsoft China (2007-2012), Corporate Vice President of 

Mobile and Embedded Products (2004-2006), and Asia R&D Chairman until September 2014. Before joining Microsoft, Dr. 

Zhang was Director of the Multimedia Technology Laboratory at Sarnoff Corp. Princeton, New Jersey (RCA Laboratories), 

where he oversaw the development of several significant digital video encoding and communications technologies for 

commercial and surveillance/security systems. Prior to that, from 1989 to 1994, Dr. Zhang was a senior technical staff 

member at GTE Laboratories Inc. (now part of Verizon) Corp. in Waltham, MA. Dr. Zhang is a Fellow of Institute of Electrical 

and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and has published more than 500 papers in leading international conferences and journals. 

He has been granted more than 60 US patents in digital video, Internet, multimedia, wireless and satellite communications. 

He was a key contributor to the ISO/MPEG and ITU standardization efforts in digital video and multimedia. In 1997, he 

became the youngest ever Fellow of IEEE and has served as editor-in-chief for several influential IEEE journals. Currently, 

Zhang serves on the Board of Directors of five high-tech IT companies. He is an honorary or guest professor at more than 

20 prestigious universities, and is an advisor to several government agencies. Zhang is also the vice Chairman of Committee 

100, a group of leading Chinese-Americans to promote the political, scientific, social, and economic exchanges between 

the US and China. Dr. Zhang received his B.S. and M.S. in Electrical Engineering from the University of Science and 

Technology of China (USTC) in 1983 and 1985. He received his Doctor of Science in Electrical Engineering from George 

Washington University, Washington D.C. in 1989.

Mr. Samuel Thomas Goodner, aged 50, is the founder and former CEO of Catapult Systems, a Microsoft-focused 

information technology consulting firm with over 400 employees and 9 regional offices across the United States. 

Mr. Goodner founded Catapult Systems in 1993 at the age of 26. Prior to starting Catapult, he worked in business 

development at Service Systems International and developed software applications for Dell Computer Corporation. Over the 

past 20 years, Mr. Goodner also founded two software product companies, PowerDOC and Inquisite, and launched several 

service brands under the Catapult Systems umbrella including Mobile Alchemy, a mobile application development firm, and 

Slingrock, an interactive, branding, design and marketing agency. Mr. Goodner served as a mountain infantry officer in the 

Swiss Army, is a graduate of the MIT/Inc Birthing of Giants program, and a member of the Austin chapter of the Young 

Presidents’ Organization (YPO). He has been repeatedly recognized for his innovation and leadership and was a recipient of 

the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year award in 2008. Mr. Goodner holds a Bachelor of Science in Computer Science 

from Texas A&M University.
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independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zeng Zhijie (曾之杰), aged 49, was appointed on 21 April 2003. Mr. Zeng is currently the chairman and a managing 

partner of Shenzhen Hongtai Fund (深圳鴻泰基金), and the chairman of Houwang Investment (厚望投資). He has been active 

in the venture capital industry for twenty years. Since 2008, Mr. Zeng has taken the positions of senior managing director of 

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited, and general manager of Kaixin Investment Co., Ltd. He was responsible for venture capital 

and growth stage business. From 2001 to 2008, he was a managing director of Walden International, an established global 

venture capital firm. He was mainly responsible for venture investments in China and the Asia-pacific region. Prior to Walden 

International as the general manager, Mr. Zeng worked for CITIC Pacific Ltd. in Hong Kong and Mitsubishi Corporation in 

Tokyo, Japan. At present, Mr. Zeng serves as independent director for three listed companies: Chinasoft International 

Limited (SEHK), Smit Holdings Limited (SEHK) and CTS International Logistics Corp Ltd. (Shanghai Stock Exchange). He 

also serves as independent director of United Overseas Bank. Mr. Zeng also serves as the 1st Co-chairman of the Venture 

Capital Association of Investment Association of China, the executive director of AAMA China branch and board member of 

WRSACC 2005 Committee. He was listed in Thousand Talents Program and Beijing Recruitment Program of Global Experts 

organized by Organization Department of the CPC Central Committee. Mr. Zeng obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics 

from the University of Nagasaki, Japan, and a master of science degree in management from Stanford University.

Dr. Leung Wing Yin Patrick (梁永賢), aged 60, was appointed on 22 March 2006. Dr. Leung has many years working 

experience in internal auditing and corporate finance in banks. He holds a doctor’s degree in accounting from the University 

of New South Wales, Australia, and is a member of Certified Public Accountants of Australia, a member of the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Dr. Leung is an Assistant 

Professor and a Doctor Student Supervisor at the School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University. Dr. Leung previously worked as a consultant in a firm of Certified Public Accountants and as a Senior Lecturer at 

Charles Sturt University, Australia and the City University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Lai Guanrong (賴觀榮), aged 53, was appointed on 2 June 2015. Dr. Lai is currently the vice chairman of ABC Life 

Insurance Co., Ltd. (農銀人壽保險股份有限公司). Dr. Lai graduated from the School of Economics of Xiamen University in 

1983 with a bachelor’s degree, specialising in finance. He was awarded a master’s degree by research by the Graduate 

School of the People’s Bank of China (now known as the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University) in 1986. He was 

awarded a doctor’s degree by research by the School of Economics of Xiamen University in 2001. He also took part in the 

8-month special topic training “Dialogue between financial capital and technological innovation” organised by Tsinghua 

University in 2014. Dr. Lai was the secretary and deputy head of the office of the Fujian Province branch of the People’s 

Bank of China. He led the establishment of the first securities company in Fujian and one of the first batch of securities 

companies in China, Minfa Securities Company Limited (閩發證券有限公司), and acted as the deputy general manager 

leading its work after the establishment of the company. He has led and successfully planned the merger and acquisition of 

listed companies, namely the merger of Xuji Electric (許繼電氣) (stock code: 000400SZ) with another listed company, Tianyu 

Electric (天宇電氣). In 1993, Dr. Lai led and successfully planned the listing of the earliest listed Fujian company, Fuyao 

Glass (福耀玻璃) (stock code: 600660SH); he also took part in the acquisition of Shenzhen Pu Rui Kang Biotechnology 

Company Limited (深圳市普瑞康生物技術有限公司). In 1996, Dr. Lai acted as the general manager of Fujian Min Qiao Trust 

Investment Company Limited (福建閩僑信託投資有限公司) and took over its management. After one year, Min Qiao Trust, 

which had been on the brink of bankruptcy, became the trust company with the highest gross profit and return on net 

assets ratio in the province. He has also been the president of Huafu Securities Company (華福證券公司), a provincialowned 

enterprise. When Dr. Lai was involved in the setting up of Jiahe Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (嘉禾人壽保險股份有限公司) and 

acted as its legal representative and president, he and the shareholders successfully introduced the Agricultural Bank of 

China as a controlling shareholder of Jiahe Life Insurance, together leading Jiahe Life Insurance into a new stage of 

development. In September 2000, Dr. Lai was invited to give a keynote speech on “The Capital Market and Technology 

Enterprise Development” at the “9.8 Management and Wealth Forum” (9.8管理與財富論壇) of the China Fair for International 

Investment and Trade (中國九八投資貿洽會).
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SenioR MAnAGeMenT

Mr. Frank Waung (汪其方), age 51, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He has over 20 years experience in 

financial management. Mr. Waung holds a bachelor’s degree in Computer Engineering from the University of California at 

Santa Cruz and has a master’s degree in business administration from the Wharton School. Prior to joining the Company on 

17 April 2012, Mr. Waung was the Chief Financial Officer for China Pharma Holdings Inc., a NYSE AMEX listed China-based 

manufacturer of western pharmaceuticals from 2009 through 2012. Mr. Waung has also worked as an investment banker 

with a focus on China for Hickey Freihofner Capital, a special situations analyst at Della Camera Capital Management, a 

senior market economist and convertible securities trader at SG Cowen, as well as a quantitative marketer at Credit Suisse 

First Boston. 

Mr. Simon Chung (鍾鎮銘), aged 55, is the global chief operating officer of the Company and the chief executive officer in 

ITO business of Japan. He is responsible for the overall daily operation of the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in 

IT professional services covering account management, service delivery management, technical sales, quality assurance 

and control, project management and customer support operation in the area of public government, telecom and finance 

sectors. He holds a bachelor’s degree in Computing Mathematics from the University of Wollongong in Australia. Prior to 

joining the Company, he was a project director of Atos Origin responsible for the management of large scale projects and 

service delivery for major clients in Asia Pacific from 1996 to 2005. 

Mr. Simon Zhang (張崇濱), aged 54, is the senior vice president and chief human resources officer of the Company. He is 

responsible for the human resources management of the Company. Mr. Zhang worked in Shaanxi Provincial Tourism Bureau 

after graduating from the Department of Economics of Northwest University in 1987. Prior to joining the Company, he was 

the General Manager of Chongqing Three Gorges Liner Corporation (under China International Travel Service in Xi’an) from 

1997 to 1999. From 1994 to 1997, he was the Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Northwestern branch in 

Weijiang Plastics Co. Ltd., which was a Sino-US joint venture. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Zhang was employed as Chief 

Business Representative in U.S. Phoenix Medical Equipment Company.

coMPAnY SecReTARY

Ms. Leong Leung Chai, Florence (梁良齊), aged 37, is currently the Financial Controller of the Company and responsible for 

financial reporting, company secretarial functions and assists the Chief Financial Officer on Group’s accounting issues. 

Before joining the Company in November 2005, Ms. Leong worked in an international audit firm for several years. She holds 

a bachelor degree in Accountancy and has over 10 years’ experience in auditing, financial reporting and listing compliance. 

She is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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To THe SHAReHoLDeRS oF cHinASoFT inTeRnATionAL LiMiTeD

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

oPinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinasoft International Limited (the "Company") and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on pages 82 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements 

of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASiS FoR oPinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibil it ies under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibil it ies for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfil led our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.
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KeY AuDiT MATTeRS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

We have identified goodwill impairment assessment 

as a key audit matter because, in determining the 

recoverable amount, the estimates on which the 

discount rates and growth rates are based entail a 

significant degree of management judgement and 

may be subject to management bias. 

The determination of whether the carrying amount 

of goodwill is recoverable requires management to 

make s ign i f i can t  es t ima tes  conce rn ing the 

estimated discount rates and growth rates based 

on  managemen t ’s  v i ew o f  f u t u r e  bus i ness 

prospects. 

Detai ls of goodwil l and the corresponding key 

e s t i m a t i o n  u n c e r t a i n t y  o n  i t s  i m p a i r m e n t 

assessments are disclosed in notes 14 and 4 to the 

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to goodwil l impairment assessment 

included:

• Assessing the valuation methodology;

• Challenging the assumptions used, including specifically the 

growth rates used in preparing the impairment testing model 

based on our knowledge on the business and industry;

• Performing a retrospective review, comparing the historical 

figures with prior year’s budget;

• Performing an independent assessment of the discount rate 

used in preparing the impairment test ing model in the 

assistance of our internal fair value specialists; and

• Reconcil ing input data to supporting evidence, such as 

approved budgets and considering the reasonableness of 

these budgets.
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KeY AuDiT MATTeRS – conTinueD

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition from project-based 

development contracts

We have ident i f ied revenue recogni t ion f rom 

project-based development contracts as a key 

audit matter because the estimates on contract 

costs outcome and expected cost to complete the 

contracts are based entail a significant degree of 

management judgement and may be subject to 

management bias. 

Revenue  f r om p ro j ec t -based  deve l opmen t 

contracts is recognised under the percentage of 

complet ion method which requires est imation 

made by management. In addition, management’s 

estimates of contract costs outcome and expected 

cost to complete the contracts based on the 

budgets prepared for the contracts is h ighly 

judgmental and is based on past experiences and 

assumptions. 

De ta i l s  o f  t he  r evenue f r om p ro j ec t -based 

development contracts and corresponding key 

estimation uncertainty on recognition are disclosed 

in notes 5 and 4 to the consol idated f inancial 

statements, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from project-based 

development contracts, on a sample basis, included:

• Chal lenging the Group’s cr i t ica l  judgements used on 

estimation of costs to complete the contract;

• Assessing the reasonableness of changes if any on the 

expected cost to complete the contracts;

• Assessing the stage of completion through obtaining the 

Group’s calculations and agreeing the inputs of the contract 

costs outcome to supporting evidence;

• Recalculating the percentage of completion rate and revenue 

recognised for project-based development contracts;

• Performing gross profit analysis; and

• Inspecting the completion report for projects completed in 

the current year.

oTHeR inFoRMATion

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those charged with Governance for the consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely 

to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high 

level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements – continued

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 

to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Tsang Kai Tai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

27 March 2017
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2016 2015

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 5 6,783,367 5,129,111

Cost of sales and services (4,767,529) (3,605,903)
  

Gross profit 2,015,838 1,523,208

Other income 41,908 46,259

Other gains or losses 1,807 (17,625)

Selling and distribution costs (219,022) (178,581)

Administrative expenses (806,614) (627,264)

Research and development costs (345,269) (195,318)

Allowance for doubtful debts (17,958) (62,055)

Other expenses (88,012) (91,961)

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – (1,074)

Finance costs 6 (95,735) (92,509)

Share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method 17,492 1,907

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 111,724

Gain arising from changes in fair value of contingent 

consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary 20,152 3,283
  

Profit before taxation 524,587 419,994

Income tax expense 7 (114,754) (87,010)
  

Profit for the year 8 409,833 332,984
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2016 2015

NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

– exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 19,497 10,236

– reclassification to profit or loss upon disposal of a subsidiary – 3,355
  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 19,497 13,591
  

Total comprehensive income for the year 429,330 346,575
  

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 442,081 280,056

Non-controlling interests (32,248) 52,928

409,833 332,984
  

Total comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to:

Owners of the Company 461,578 293,548

Non-controlling interests (32,248) 53,027
  

429,330 346,575
  

Earnings per share

Basic 11 RMB0.2034 RMB0.1405
  

Diluted RMB0.1979 RMB0.1360
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2016 2015

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 819,799 537,593

Intangible assets 13 231,075 283,103

Goodwill 14 1,008,479 995,610

Investments accounted for using the equity method 15 104,190 78,857

Available-for-sale investment 16 61,965 49,151

Prepaid lease payments 17 38,723 39,583

Other receivable 19 30,000 11,688

Deferred tax assets 27 7,646 6,516
  

2,301,877 2,002,101
  

Current assets

Inventories 18 20,893 30,260

Trade and other receivables 19 2,092,700 1,429,127

Bills receivable 23,186 8,828

Prepaid lease payments 17 860 893

Amounts due from customers for contract work 21 1,430,206 1,516,660

Amounts due from related companies 22 59,939 49,862

Pledged deposits 23 670 44,891

Bank balances and cash 23 1,298,972 1,265,831
  

4,927,426 4,346,352
  

Current liabilities

Amounts due to customers for contract work 21 122,271 87,750

Trade and other payables 24 1,203,843 940,372

Bills payable 25 812 2,120

Amounts due to related companies 22 37,983 34,667

Dividend payable 83 78

Taxation payable 130,450 87,353

Convertible loan notes 28 – 89,622

Borrowings 26 922,452 1,297,016

Consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary 21,035 –
  

2,438,929 2,538,978
  

Net current assets 2,488,497 1,807,374
  

Total assets less current liabilities 4,790,374 3,809,475
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2016 2015

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 27 18,943 20,504

Consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary – 39,205

Convertible loan notes 28 244,296 –

Borrowings 26 194,496 263,496
  

457,735 323,205
  

4,332,639 3,486,270
  

Capital and reserves

Share capital 29 106,387 95,645

Share premium 30 2,652,697 2,106,029

Reserves 30 1,505,130 1,045,531

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,264,214 3,247,205

Non-controlling interests 68,425 239,065
  

Total equity 4,332,639 3,486,270
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 183 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors 

on 27 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

	 Dr. chen Yuhong Dr. Tang Zhenming

	 DIRECTOR	 DIRECTOR
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Attributable to the owners of the company
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

other
reserves

Translation
reserve

Share
options
reserve

convertible
loan notes

reserve

General
reserve

fund

Statutory
enterprise
expansion

fund

Statutory
surplus
reserve

fund
Accumulated

profits Total

non-
controlling

interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)

At 1 January 2015 88,014 1,654,687 13,715 (11,532) 48,813 30,391 15,793 26,749 72,658 558,091 2,497,379 203,652 2,701,031
             

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 280,056 280,056 52,928 332,984
Other comprehensive income 

for the year
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations – – – 10,226 – – – – – – 10,226 10 10,236
– Reclassification to profit or loss 

upon disposal of a subsidiary – – – 3,266 – – – – – – 3,266 89 3,355
             

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – 13,492 – – – – – 280,056 293,548 53,027 346,575

             

Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise 
of share options 1,145 50,303 – – (10,629) – – – – – 40,819 – 40,819

Recognition of share option expenses – – – – 13,637 – – – – – 13,637 – 13,637
Cancellation of share options – – – – (1,216) – – – – 1,216 – – –
Issue of ordinary shares 3,947 281,430 – – – – – – – – 285,377 – 285,377
Capital contribution from 

non-controlling shareholders of a 
subsidiary – – 12,274 – – – – – (124) (1,138) 11,012 16,488 27,500

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – – – – – – – (14,542) (14,542)

Disposal of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – (19,560) (19,560)
Conversion of convertible loan notes 2,539 119,609 – – – (16,715) – – – – 105,433 – 105,433
Appropriations – – – – – – – – 14,599 (14,599) – – –

             

At 31 December 2015 95,645 2,106,029 25,989 1,960 50,605 13,676 15,793 26,749 87,133 823,626 3,247,205 239,065 3,486,270
             

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 442,081 442,081 (32,248) 409,833
Other comprehensive income 

for the year
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations – – – 19,497 – – – – – – 19,497 – 19,497
             

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – 19,497 – – – – – 442,081 461,578 (32,248) 429,330

             

Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise 
of share options 1,365 60,588 – – (6,766) – – – – – 55,187 – 55,187

Recognition of share option expenses – – – – 45,285 – – – – – 45,285 – 45,285
Cancellation of share options – – – – (784) – – – – 784 – – –
Issue of ordinary shares 3,602 185,156 – – – – – – – – 188,758 – 188,758
Acquisition of additional equity interest 

of subsidiaries – – (148,758) – – – – – 11,773 86,619 (50,366) (138,392) (188,758)
Issue of convertible loan notes – – – – – 42,519 – – – – 42,519 – 42,519
Conversion of convertible loan notes 5,775 300,924 – – – (32,651) – – – – 274,048 – 274,048
Appropriations – – – – – – – – 30,995 (30,995) – – –

             

At 31 December 2016 106,387 2,652,697 (122,769) 21,457 88,340 23,544 15,793 26,749 129,901 1,322,115 4,264,214 68,425 4,332,639
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2016 2015

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 524,587 419,994

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 56,192 50,647

Amortisation of intangible assets and prepaid lease payments 88,155 91,961

Finance costs 95,735 92,509

Allowance for doubtful debts 17,958 62,055

Share option expenses 45,285 13,637

Interest income (4,781) (4,316)

Share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method (17,492) (1,907)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 103 436

Gains on disposal of subsidiaries – (111,724)

Gains arising from changes in fair value of contingent

consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary (20,152) (3,283)

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – 1,074

Loss on termination of the interest rate swap – 2,264

Exchange gain (losses) (1,910) 20,370
  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 783,680 633,717

Increase in trade and other receivables (740,076) (243,133)

Increase (decrease) in amounts due to customers for contract work 34,521 (124,455)

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from customers for contract work 86,454 (106,235)

Increase in amounts due from related parties – (3,087)

Increase in trade and other payables 207,802 185,750

Increase in bills receivable (14,358) (8,828)

Decrease in inventories 9,367 1,698

Decrease in bills payable (1,308) (33,671)
  

Cash generated from operations 366,082 301,756

Income taxes paid (74,348) (42,195)
  

Net cash generated from operating activities 291,734 259,561
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2016 2015

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (303,857) (272,381)

Placement of pledged deposits (10,579) (91,494)

Development costs paid (35,425) (59,194)

Purchase of software – (9,082)

Investment in available-for-sale investment (12,814) (5,895)

Subscription of investments accounted for using the equity method (9,900) (2,500)

Payments for termination of interest rate swap – (2,264)

Advances to related parties (10,077) (197)

Withdrawal of pledged deposits 54,800 69,343

Repayment of loans to staff – 19,244

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 33 – 12,371

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries in prior year 25,665 –

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investment in prior year 44,568 8,000

Interest received 4,781 4,316

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 242 2,238

Dividend received from investments accounted for using equity method 2,059 1,720
  

Net cash used in investing activities (250,537) (325,775)
  

Financing activities

New bank loans raised 3,092,248 2,149,266

Process from issuance of ordinary shares 201,727 285,377

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (201,727) –

Proceeds from exercise of share options 55,187 40,819

Issue of convertible loan notes 458,649 –

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary – 27,500

Advance from a related company 3,316 7,000

Repayment of borrowings (3,535,812) (1,907,460)

Interest paid (67,885) (75,326)

Interest paid on convertible loan notes (20,200) (7,452)

Repayment of advance from a related party – (2,022)
  

Net cash generated from financing activities (14,497) 517,702
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 26,700 451,488

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,265,831 811,435

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 6,441 2,908
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, 

representing bank balances and cash 1,298,972 1,265,831
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1. GeneRAL inFoRMATion oF THe coMPAnY

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 16 February 

2000 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the "Stock Exchange") with effect from 20 June 2003.

On 29 December 2008, the listing of the shares of the Company was transferred to the Main Board of the Stock 

Exchange.

The addresses of the registered office and principal places of business of the Company are disclosed in the 

"Corporate Information" section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi, which is same as the functional currency of the 

Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 

"Group") are development and provision of information technology ("IT") solutions services, IT outsourcing services, 

IT emerging services and training services.

2. APPLicATion oF neW AnD AMenDMenTS To HonG KonG FinAnciAL RePoRTinG 

STAnDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interest in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 

impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures 

set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLicATion oF neW AnD AMenDMenTS To HonG KonG FinAnciAL RePoRTinG 
STAnDARDS (“HKFRSs”) – conTinueD

 Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative for the first time in the current year. The 

amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by a HKFRS if the 

information resulting from that disclosure is not material, and give guidance on the basis of aggregating and 

disaggregating information. However, the amendments reiterate that an entity should consider providing additional 

disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in HKFRS is insufficient to enable users of financial 

statements to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the entity’s financial 

position and financial performance.

As regards the structure of the financial statements, the amendments provide examples of systematic ordering or 

grouping of the notes.

The Group has applied these amendments retrospectively and the information to particulars of subsidiaries of the 

Company was reordered to Note 41. Other than the above presentation and disclosure changes, the application of 

the amendments to HKAS 1 has not resulted in any impact on the financial performance or financial position of the 

Group in these consolidated financial statements.

new and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 

yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the re lated 

Amendments1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classi f icat ion and Measurement of Share-based Payment 

Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative4

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses4

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle5

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate

Other than described below, the directors of the Company consider the application of the new and revised HKFRSs 

that have been issued but are not yet effective would not have any material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements.
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2. APPLicATion oF neW AnD AMenDMenTS To HonG KonG FinAnciAL RePoRTinG 
STAnDARDS (“HKFRSs”) – conTinueD

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, 

general hedge accounting and impairments for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently 

measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model 

whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at 

the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose 

objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have 

contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding, are general ly measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"). All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their 

fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an 

irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held 

for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

• In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed 

to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to 

account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to 

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit 

event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management policies as at 31 December 2016, application of 

HKFRS 9 in the future will have impacts on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The 

Group’s available-for-sale investment, which is stated at cost less impairment, will either be measured as fair value 

through profit or loss or be designated as FVTOCI (subject to fulfilment of the designation criteria). In addition, the 

expected credit loss model may result in early provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the 

Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate 

of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a detailed review.
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HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 

arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including 

HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 

or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the in exchange for those goods or 

services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control' 

of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more 

prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive 

disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, 

principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The directors of the Company are in the process of assessing the potential impacts of HKFRS 15 in respect of the 

Group’s Technical professional services business and Internet IT services business contracts, in particular, the 

identification of performance obligations under HKFRS 15 and the allocation of total consideration to the respective 

performance obligations that will be based on relative fair values and may potentially affect the timing and amounts 

of revenue recognition. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 

until the Group performs a detailed review. In addition, the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments 

for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Lease and the related interpretations when it 

becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a 

customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting and is replaced by 

a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, 

except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The 

lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. 

Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of the lease 

modifications, amongst other. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease 

payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified as investment 

properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 

16, lease payment in relation to lease liabilities will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be 

presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a 

lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these assets depending on 

whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which the corresponding 

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forwards the lessor accounting requirements in 

HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of RMB320,193,000 as 

disclosed in note 36. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease 

under HKFRS 16 and hence the Group will recognised a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of 

all these lease unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, 

the application of new requirements may result changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated 

above. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the 

Company complete a detailed review.
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Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 

changes in liabilities arising from financing activities including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 

changes. Specially, the amendments require the following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities to be 

disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries 

or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values and (v) other 

changes.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application 

permitted. The application of the amendments will result in additional disclosures on the Group’s financing activities, 

specifically reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the consolidated statement of financial 

position for liabilities arising from financing activities will be provided on application.

3. SiGniFicAnT AccounTinG PoLicieS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures 

required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange ("Listing Rules") and by the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 

instruments which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost 

is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 

account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 

account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 

purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment 

transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions that are within the 

scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as 

net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
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Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 

access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 

the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 

loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 

year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the 

Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Basis of consolidation – continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 

the subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components 

of equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 

interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 

after re-attribution of the relevant equity component and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognised directly in equity, and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including any goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 

attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 

relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of 

the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by 

applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is 

lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS39, when applicable, 

the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 

the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 

except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 "Income Taxes" and HKAS 19 "Employee Benefits", 

respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 

payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the 

acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 "Share-based Payment" at the acquisition date (see the 

accounting policy below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 "Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations" are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 

over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after 

re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 

the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 

relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 

interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 

from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 

value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of 

the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the 

corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise 

from additional information obtained during the "measurement period" (which cannot exceed one year from the 

acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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Business combinations – continued

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments 

depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 

remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, 

with the corresponding gain of loss being recognised in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or 

liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 

acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 

business (see the accounting policy above) less any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs") (or 

groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination which represent the lowest level 

at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a 

reporting period, the CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before 

the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU (or groups of CGUs)is less than the carrying 

amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 

the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit 

(or groups of CGUs). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss 

recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount 

of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 

policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 

control.
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interests in associates and joint ventures – continued

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for 

equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for l ike 

transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint 

venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. 

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or 

joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in 

the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 

recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 

investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, 

any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 

liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 

investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 

acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 

respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 

the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 "Impairment of Assets" as a 

single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its 

carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal 

of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 

investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is 

accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in 

profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is 

a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and 

the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant 

interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the 

associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that 

associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to 

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 

profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 

customer returns, rebates and other similar allowance.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured: when it is probable that future 

economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, 

as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers in respect of sales of goods prior to meeting the above criteria 

on revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Income from provision of outsourcing services and training services is recognised when the services are provided.

Income from provision of solutions and outsourcing services on project-based development contracts is recognised 

based on the percentage of completion method in accordance with the accounting policy on project-based 

development contracts below.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through 

the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' rights to receive payment have been 

established.

Project-based development contracts

Where the outcome of a contract for project-based development can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are 

recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, 

measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total 

costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims 

and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is 

considered probable.

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of 

contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the 

period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as 

an expense immediately.
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Project-based development contracts – continued

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the 

surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed 

contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due 

to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed 

but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and 

other receivables.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 

recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 

of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they become receivable.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 

liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a 

finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both 

elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classifies as an operating lease. Specifically, the 

minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the 

building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building 

element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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Leasehold land and building – continued

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted 

for as an operating lease is presented as "prepaid lease payments" in the consolidated statement of financial position 

and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably 

between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 'profit before taxation' as 

reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income 

or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 

tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 

recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, 

deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 

temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 

and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation – continued

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 

its assets or liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 

accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress are stated in the consolidated statement of 

financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment other than 

construction in progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual 

values, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are 

reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 

prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production or for 

its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction 

in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for 

its intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the 

assets are ready for intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 

item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment – continued

Buildings under construction for future owner-occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of construction for production or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of 

prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period is included as part of costs of buildings under 

construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of 

buildings commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary for 

them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management).

intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful l ives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 

recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation 

method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted 

for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 

project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 

the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally generated 

intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is 

incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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intangible assets – continued

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 

recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 

acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 

disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments mainly represent payments for obtaining land use rights. Payment for obtaining land use 

rights is charged to profit or loss or included as part of costs of buildings under construction on a straight line basis 

over the lease terms.

inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, 

first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 

completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect 

of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with 

finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and 

consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating 

units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect 

of goodwill above) – continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the 

impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) 

and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying 

amount of an assets is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value 

in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the 

asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to 

the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 

in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The 

classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bill receivables, amounts due from 

related companies, pledged deposits, bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale ("AFS") financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified 

as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting period (see 

accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 

period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 

more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 

financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 

collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period of 30 to 

180 days and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 

rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 

exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the 

allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 

and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the 

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 

asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 

impairment not been recognised.
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Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 

equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 

rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis, other than those financial liabilities classified as at 

FVTPL, of which interest expense is included in net gains or losses.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liability is contingent consideration payable on 

acquisition of a subsidiary.

Financial l iabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss in gain (loss) arising from changes in fair 

value of contingent consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary. Fair value is determined in the manner 

described in note 32.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payable, amounts due to related companies, dividend 

payable, consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary and borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments – continued

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified separately as financial liability and equity in 

accordance with substance of the contractual arrangements and definitions of a financial liability and an equity 

instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability 

that does not have an associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the 

fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax 

effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in 

equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to 

share premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, the 

balance recognised in equity will be transferred to accumulated profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 

upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity 

components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity 

component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the 

carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using the effective 

interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which case 

the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 

entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 

Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 

received.
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Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments – continued

Derecognition – continued

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 

consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 

at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rate prevailing 

at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 

year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates at the dates 

of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as 

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 

disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences 

accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit 

or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation 

are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 

end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefits schemes or other defined contribution retirement schemes such 

as the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service 

entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as 

and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless 

another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employee (such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount 

already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees of the Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the 

grant date.

The fair value determined at the grand date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 

vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group 

revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original 

estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a 

corresponding adjustment to share option reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the 

fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 

share capital and share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised 

at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated 

profits.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required to 

make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which 

goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount determination of the CGUs as at 31 December 2016 is based 

on the present value calculation which requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from 

the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are 

less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. During the year ended 31 December 2016, no impairment 

loss was recognised by the Group (2015: nil). As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of goodwill is 

RMB1,008,479,000 (2015: RMB995,610,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 

14.

Project-based development contracts

Revenue from project-based development contracts is recognised under the percentage of completion method 

which requires estimation made by management. The Group’s management estimates the contract costs, outcome 

and expected cost to complete the contracts based on the budgets prepared for the contracts. Because of the 

nature of the activities, management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract outcome and expected 

costs to complete in the budget prepared for each contract as the contract progresses. Any revisions to estimates of 

contract outcomes and expected costs to completion would affect contract revenue recognition. Should expected 

costs to complete exceed contract revenue, a provision for contract loss would be recognised.
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Allowance for doubtful debts

In determining whether there is objective evidence of al lowance for doubtful debts, the Group takes into 

consideration the collectability, aged analysis of trade receivables and estimation of future cash flows. A considerable 

amount of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current 

creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer. The amount of the allowance for doubtful debts is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 

interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are 

less than expected, an allowance for doubtful debts may arise. As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of 

trade receivables is RMB1,745,753,000 (2015: RMB1,154,199,000) which is after allowance for doubtful debts of 

RMB182,171,000 (2015: RMB151,431,000) (see note 19).

Amortisation of intangible assets

The carrying value of the Group’s intangible assets as at 31 December 2016 was approximately RMB231,075,000 

(2015: RMB283,103,000). The Group amortises the intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives of 3 to 10 years, commencing from the date of the intangible asset is available for use. The estimated 

useful lives and dates that the Group place the intangible assets into productive use reflects the directors of the 

Company’s estimate of the periods that the future economic benefits can be derived from the usage of the Group’s 

intangible assets. If the estimated useful life of intangible assets did not reflect its actual useful life, additional 

amortisation may be required.

5. TuRnoVeR AnD SeGMenT inFoRMATion

Turnover represents the net amounts received and receivable for goods sold and services rendered during the year.

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the 

"CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the category 

of customers by the Group’s operating divisions.
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The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:

1. Technical professional services group (“TPG”) - development, provision of solutions, emerging and IT 

outsourcing services for banks and other financial institutions, telecommunication carriers and other 

large-scale multinational companies, including sale of products

2. Internet IT services group (“IIG”) - development, provision of solutions and IT outsourcing services for 

government, tobacco industry and other small-scaled companies and training business, including sale of 

products

Information regarding the above segments is reported as below.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results by reportable operating segment:

Segment revenue Segment results

2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Technical professional services business 5,481,921 3,780,692 533,611 300,814

Internet IT services business 1,301,446 1,348,419 115,656 128,574
    

6,783,367 5,129,111 649,267 429,388
    

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recognised a total of RMB1,647,477,000 (2015: 

RMB1,709,560,000) revenue from projected-based development contracts.

Reconciliation of segment results to profit before taxation:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment results 649,267 429,388

Other income, gains and losses unallocated 4,727 86,329

Interest charge on convertible loan notes (32,792) (8,736)

Corporate expenses (71,482) (75,559)

Share option expenses (45,285) (13,637)

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – (1,074)

Gain arising from changes in fair value of contingent

consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary 20,152 3,283
  

Profit before taxation 524,587 419,994
  

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no 

inter-segment sales in either year.
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Segment revenues and results – continued

The accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 

described in note 3.

Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment without allocation of corporate expenses, share option 

expenses, gain arising from changes in fair value of contingent consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary, 

interest charge on convertible loan notes and certain items of other income, gains and losses recorded at corporate 

level. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and 

performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

Information reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment does not 

include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in its country of domicile (i.e. the PRC) and to a lesser extent, USA and 

Japan.

The Group’s revenues from external customers (based on location of the operations) by geographical location are 

detailed below:

Revenues from external 

customers

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 6,338,687 4,571,517

USA 408,062 524,057

Japan 36,618 33,537
  

6,783,367 5,129,111
  

Segment revenue by products and services:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sale of software and hardware products 209,597 297,389
  

Provision of services

Technical professional services 5,413,546 3,578,708

Internet IT services 1,160,224 1,253,014
  

6,573,770 4,831,722
  

6,783,367 5,129,111
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information about major customers

Revenues from customer of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as 

follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A1 3,634,503 1,952,239
  

1 Revenue from TPG.

No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both 2016 and 2015.

other segment information

2016 iiG TPG unallocated Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation 60,003 82,299 2,045 144,347

Allowance (reversal of allowance) for doubtful debts 26,631 (8,673) – 17,958

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 27 76 – 103
    

2015 IIG TPG Unallocated Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation 61,092 80,026 1,490 142,608

Allowance for doubtful debts 26,211 35,844 – 62,055

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 76 360 – 436
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6. FinAnce coSTS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on borrowings wholly repayable within five years 69,633 78,995

Interest on borrowings not wholly repayable within five years – 13,133

Imputed interest on consideration payable

on acquisition of a subsidiary 918 1,287

Effective interest on convertible loan notes 32,792 8,736

Loss on derecognition of trade receivables 4,329 3,491
  

Total borrowing cost 107,672 105,642

Less: amounts capitalised in construction in progress (Note) (11,937) (13,133)
  

95,735 92,509
  

Note: The amount represents the actual borrowing costs incurred on the specific borrowings for the purpose of constructing a 

property.

7. incoMe TAX eXPenSe

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Tax charge comprises:

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

– current year 129,162 84,916

– over-provision in prior years (12,250) (9,129)
  

116,912 75,787

The US Federal and State Income taxes 48 4,727

Japan Corporate Income Tax 485 283
  

117,445 80,797

Deferred tax (note 27) (2,691) 6,213
  

114,754 87,010
  

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law") and Implementation 

Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards unless subject 

to tax exemption set out below.
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7. incoMe TAX eXPenSe – conTinueD

Pursuant to a certificate issued by Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission dated 30 October 2014, 

Chinasoft International Information Technology Limited (the “Chinasoft Beijing”) had been designated as a High and 

New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) till the end of 2017. As a result, Chinasoft Beijing was subject to the income tax 

rate of 15% for both years.

Pursuant to certificates issued by Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission dated 28 October 2011 

and 30 October 2014, Chinasoft Resources Information Technology Services Limited (the “Chinasoft Resources 

Beijing”) had been designated as a HNTE till the end of 2014 and extended for another three years till the end of 

2017. As a result, Chinasoft Resources Beijing was subject to the income tax rate of 15% for both years.

Pursuant to a certificate issued by Shanghai Municipal Science and Technology Commission dated 23 October 

2014, Shanghai Huateng Software Systems Co., Ltd (the “Shanghai Huateng”) had been designated as a HNTE till 

the end of 2017. As a result, SHHT is subject to the income tax rate of 15% for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

In addition, according to the Notice of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry of Finance, 

the State Taxation Administration and National Development Reform Commission on Relevant Issues Concerning the 

Preferential Policies on Enterprise Income Tax of Software and Integrated Circuit Industry (“Cai Shui 2016 No. 49”), 

and the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation Administration on Further Encouraging the 

Development of Enterprise Income Tax Policies for the Software Industry and Integrated Circuit Industry (“Cai Shui 

2012 No. 27”), Shanghai Huateng was entitled to a reduced income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31 December 

2016.

Pursuant to a certificate issued by the Industry and Information Technology Department of Shanxi Province dated 25 

December 2012, Chinasoft International Technology Services Limited (the "CSITS") had been designated as a 

software enterprise for a period up to 25 December 2017. As such, CSITS was entitled to the two years' exemption 

from income tax followed by three years of 50% tax reduction with effect from 2012. As a result, CSITS is entitled a 

50% tax reduction for the year ended 31 December 2015. In addition, according to Cai Shui 2016 No. 49, and Cai 

Shui 2012 No. 27, CSITS was entitled to a reduced income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31 December 2016 

as compared to 12.5% for the year ended 31 December 2015 (50% tax reduction).

Pursuant to a certificate issued by the Industry and Information Technology Department of Liaoning Province dated 

10 September 2013, Chinasoft International Technology service (Dalian) Ltd., (the "CSITS DL") had been designated 

as a software enterprise up to 31 December 2017. As such, CSITS DL was entitled to the two years' exemption from 

income tax followed by three years of 50% tax reduction with effect from 2013. As a result, CSITS DL was entitled a 

50% tax reduction for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

Pursuant to a certificate issued by the Industry and Information Technology Department of Beijing City dated 20 

October 2014, Chinasoft International Technology service (Beijing) Ltd., (the "CSITS BJ") had been designated as a 

software enterprise up to 31 December 2018. As such, CSITS BJ was entitled to the two years' exemption from 

income tax followed by three years of 50% tax reduction with effect from 2014. As a result, CSITS BJ was entitled a 

50% tax reduction for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: tax exemption).
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7. incoMe TAX eXPenSe – conTinueD

Pursuant to a certificate issued by the Industry and Information Technology Department of Shanghai City dated 30 

August 2014, Chinasoft International Technology service (Shanghai) Ltd., (the "CSITS SH") had been designated as 

a software enterprise up to 31 December 2018. As such, CSITS SH was entitled to the two years' exemption from 

income tax followed by three years of 50% tax reduction with effect from 2014. As a result, CSITS SH was entitled a 

50% tax reduction for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: tax exemption).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to profit before taxation as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 524,587 419,994
  

Tax at PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%) 131,147 104,999

Tax effect of share of results of interests in entities

measured under equity method (4,373) (477)

Tax effect attributable to tax

exemption and concessions granted to PRC subsidiaries (99,281) (67,650)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 50,474 37,839

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (5,038) (3,932)

Over-provision in prior years (12,250) (9,129)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (235) (2,336)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,865 28,850

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (963) (1,154)

Withholding tax (Note) 52,408 –
  

Income tax expense for the year 114,754 87,010
  

Note: As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 2 August 2016, the Group underwent an internal restructuring 

under which several PRC subsidiaries were transferred within the Group (the "Restructuring"). Under the Restructuring, the 

PRC subsidiaries distributed dividend amounting to RMB246,887,000 and the Group has realised a capital gain of 

RMB277,191,000 from the tax perspective. Pursuant to the EIT Law, the dividend received from PRC subsidiaries and 

capital gain arising from the intra-group disposal of certain PRC subsidiaries by oversea subsidiaries are subject to 10% 

withholding income tax and the related tax expense of RMB52,408,000 was incurred as a result of the Restructuring and 

recognised as income tax expense in 2016.
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8. PRoFiT FoR THe YeAR

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Directors' remuneration (note 9) 11,169 8,411

Other staff costs 4,855,958 3,285,933

Retirement benefits costs (excluding those for directors) 249,243 209,036

Share option expenses 43,980 11,875
  

Total staff costs 5,160,350 3,515,255

Less: Staff costs capitalised as development costs (35,425) (59,194)
  

5,124,925 3,456,061
  

Research and development costs expensed 348,863 198,425

Less: Government grants (3,594) (3,107)
  

345,269 195,318
  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 56,192 50,647

Amortisation of intangible assets 87,979 91,810

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 893 1,011
  

145,064 143,468
  

Less: Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

capitalised in construction in progress (717) (860)
  

144,347 142,608
  

Auditor’s remuneration 5,680 5,850

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 205,631 244,044

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 103 436

Minimum lease payments in respect of buildings 139,927 129,849

Net foreign exchange (gain) loss (included in other gain or loss) (1,910) 17,189

Interest income from pledged deposits and bank balances (4,781) (4,316)

Government grants (29,055) (34,881)

Value added tax refund (1,609) (1,235)
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9. DiRecToRS’, cHieF eXecuTiVe’S AnD eMPLoYeeS’ eMoLuMenTS

Directors' and chief executive’s emoluments

Details of emoluments to the directors and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Tang

Zhenming

Wang

Hui

Chief Executive

Chen

Yuhong Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note d)

A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees – – – –

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits 3,338 1,048 4,609 8,995

Retirement benefits 47 47 47 141

Share-based payments 31 31 31 93
    

Sub-total 3,416 1,126 4,687 9,229
    

The executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the management 

of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

Zhang

Yaqin

Samuel

Thomas 

Goodner Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note d)

B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees – – –

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits 129 200 329

Share-based payments 1,212 – 1,212
   

Sub-total 1,341 200 1,541
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9. DiRecToRS’, cHieF eXecuTiVe’S AnD eMPLoYeeS’ eMoLuMenTS – conTinueD

Directors' and chief executive’s emoluments – continued

The non-executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

Leung

Zeng WingYin Lai

Zhijie Patrick Guanrong Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note c)

C) INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees 103 103 193 399

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits – – – –
    

Sub-total 103 103 193 399
    

The independent non-executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the 

Company.

RMB’000

Total 11,169
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9. DiRecToRS’, cHieF eXecuTiVe’S AnD eMPLoYeeS’ eMoLuMenTS – conTinueD

Directors' and chief executive’s emoluments – continued

Details of emoluments to the directors and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Tang Wang

Chief Executive

Chen

Zhenming Hui Yuhong Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees – – – –

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits 831 2,123 2,694 5,648

Retirement benefits 40 44 44 128

Share-based payments 398 398 398 1,194
    

Sub-total 1,269 2,565 3,136 6,970
    

The executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the management 

of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

John Zhang Lin

Zhao Yaqin Sheng Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note b) (Note b)

B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees – – – –

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits – 241 – 241

Share-based payments – 568 – 568
    

Sub-total – 809 – 809
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9. DiRecToRS’, cHieF eXecuTiVe’S AnD eMPLoYeeS’ eMoLuMenTS – conTinueD

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments – continued

The non-executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

Leung

Zeng WingYin Song Lai

Zhijie Patrick Jun Guanrong Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note a) (Note c)

C) INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees 97 298 237 – 632

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits – – – – –
     

Sub-total 97 298 237 – 632
     

The independent non-executive directors' emolument shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the 

Company.

RMB’000

Total 8,411
 

Note a: Mr. Song Jun was retired on 18 May 2015.

Note b: Mr. John Zhao and Lin Sheng were resigned as non-executive directors of the Company on 27 April 2015.

Note c: Mr. Lai Guan Rong was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 2 June 2015.

Note d: Mr. Wang Hui was resigned as executive director of the Company and Mr. Samuel Thomas Goodner was appointed as a 

non-executive director of the Company on 18 May 2016.
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9. DiRecToRS’, cHieF eXecuTiVe’S AnD eMPLoYeeS’ eMoLuMenTS – conTinueD

employees' emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2015: two) were directors of the Company 

whose emoluments were included above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2015: three) highest paid 

individuals were as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 9,714 10,081

Share option expenses 17,380 6,108

Retirement benefits costs 129 112
  

27,223 16,301
  

The number of the highest paid employees including directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is 

as follow:

no. of employees

2016 2015

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 – 1

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 1

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 –

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 – 2

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 – 1

HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 1 –

HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 1 –

HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 1 –
  

5 5
  

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors and the five highest paid 

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during both years.
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10. DiViDenD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of 

HK1.2 cents (2015: nil) per ordinary share has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to 

approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

11. eARninGS PeR SHARe

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 

(profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 442,081 280,056

Effect of dilutive potential profit attributable to 

owners of the Company: Interest on convertible loan notes 32,792 8,736
  

Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 474,873 288,792
  

2016 2015

’000 ’000

number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 

purpose of basic earnings per share 2,173,087 1,992,602

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options 36,650 55,838

Convertible loan notes 190,144 74,659
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

purpose of diluted earnings per share 2,399,881 2,123,099
  

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2016 did not assume the exercise of 

the Company’s share options granted on 16 December 2015, 11 October 2016 and 17 November 2016 since the 

exercise prices of those share options were higher than the average market price of shares of the Company.
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12. PRoPeRTY, PLAnT AnD eQuiPMenT

Furniture,

fixtures and Motor Construction Leasehold

Buildings equipment vehicles in progress improvements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2015 – 236,585 15,262 213,769 115,540 581,156

Exchange adjustments – 1,425 13 – 38 1,476

Additions 9,322 41,157 1,011 205,897 16,699 274,086

Disposals – (16,188) (724) – (160) (17,072)

Disposal of subsidiaries – (31,690) (1,740) – (5,026) (38,456)
      

At 31 December 2015 9,322 231,289 13,822 419,666 127,091 801,190

Exchange adjustments – 1,728 14 – 46 1,788

Additions – 110,271 294 191,206 36,280 338,051

Transfer 603,521 – – (603,521) – –

Disposals – (1,564) (386) – – (1,950)
      

At 31 December 2016 612,843 341,724 13,744 7,351 163,417 1,139,079
      

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2015 – 159,213 10,939 – 75,201 245,353

Exchange adjustments – 1,170 9 – 28 1,207

Provided for the year – 32,926 1,111 – 16,610 50,647

Eliminated on disposals – (13,584) (673) – (141) (14,398)

Eliminated on disposal of 

subsidiaries – (15,829) (635) – (2,748) (19,212)
      

At 31 December 2015 – 163,896 10,751 – 88,950 263,597

Exchange adjustments – 1,053 10 – 33 1,096

Provided for the year 2,493 35,837 659 – 17,203 56,192

Eliminated on disposals – (1,258) (347) – – (1,605)
      

At 31 December 2016 2,493 199,528 11,073 – 106,186 319,280
      

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2016 610,350 142,196 2,671 7,351 57,231 819,799
      

At 31 December 2015 9,322 67,393 3,071 419,666 38,141 537,593
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12. PRoPeRTY, PLAnT AnD eQuiPMenT – conTinueD

The above property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 2%–3 1/3%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9%–33 1/3%

Motor vehicles 9%–20%

Leasehold improvements Over the relevant lease terms or 19%–33 1/3%, whichever is the lower

The Group has pledged buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB601,509,000 (2015: construction in 

progress with carrying amount of approximately RMB419,666,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the 

Group.

At 31 December 2016, the Group is in the process of obtaining the property certificate for the buildings with a 

carrying amount of RMB601,509,000 (2015: RMB9,322,000) which are located in the PRC.



Chinasoft International Limited     Annual Report 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

130

13. inTAnGiBLe ASSeTS

Contract-
based

Development Technical
customer-

related Technical Customer Non-compete
costs knowhow Software intangibles expertise relationship Patent Trade name Technology agreements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note i) (Note i) (Note ii)

COST
At 1 January 2015 266,582 17,367 43,467 19,704 12,494 240,925 13,764 1,005 23,344 11,065 649,717
Additions 59,194 – 9,082 – – – – – – – 68,276
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) – – (25,643) – – – – – – – (25,643)
Exchange adjustments – – 247 – – 2,313 – 2 – 507 3,069

           

At 31 December 2015 325,776 17,367 27,153 19,704 12,494 243,238 13,764 1,007 23,344 11,572 695,419
Additions 35,425 – – – – – – – – – 35,425
Exchange adjustments – – – – – 686 – 3 – 667 1,356

           

At 31 December 2016 361,201 17,367 27,153 19,704 12,494 243,924 13,764 1,010 23,344 12,239 732,200
           

AMORTISATION/IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2015 95,348 16,587 18,438 19,704 12,494 139,440 6,046 967 11,654 3,581 324,259
Provided for the year 44,142 580 7,426 – – 32,611 1,305 7 3,340 2,399 91,810
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary 
(note 33) – – (3,977) – – – – – – – (3,977)
Exchange adjustments – – 39 – – 139 – – – 46 224

           

At 31 December 2015 139,490 17,167 21,926 19,704 12,494 172,190 7,351 974 14,994 6,026 412,316
Provided for the year 57,858 200 5,227 – – 17,456 1,305 8 3,340 2,585 87,979
Exchange adjustments – – – – – 351 – 1 – 478 830

           

At 31 December 2016 197,348 17,367 27,153 19,704 12,494 189,997 8,656 983 18,334 9,089 501,125
           

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2016 163,853 – – – – 53,927 5,108 27 5,010 3,150 231,075

           

At 31 December 2015 186,286 200 5,227 – – 71,048 6,413 33 8,350 5,546 283,103
           

Development costs are internally generated. All other intangible assets were acquired from third parties.

Notes:

i. Contract-based customer-related intangibles and Technical expertise are fully amortised intangible assets and still in use 
by the Group.

ii. Part of the Customer relationship is fully amortised while the customer relationship still exists.
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13. inTAnGiBLe ASSeTS – conTinueD

All intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Development costs 5 years

Technical knowhow 3–10 years

Software 3–10 years

Contract-based customer-related intangibles 5 years

Technical expertise 5 years

Customer relationship 5–10 years

Patent 3.6–10 years

Trade name 5 years

Technology 5 years

Non-compete agreements 3–5 years

14. GooDWiLL

RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2015 1,179,376

Exchange adjustments 12,312
 

At 31 December 2015 1,191,688

Exchange adjustments 12,869
 

At 31 December 2016 1,204,557
 

IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 196,078
 

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2016 1,008,479
 

At 31 December 2015 995,610
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14. GooDWiLL – conTinueD

impairment testing on goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying amount of goodwill (net of impairment loss) as at 31 December 

2016 and 2015 has been allocated to the following individual CGUs:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Chinasoft Beijing 66,500 187,404

Shanghai Huateng 134,188 134,188

CSITS and existing outsourcing business 399,418 278,514

Catapult Systems, LLC ("Catapult") 201,333 188,464

MMIM Technologies Inc. ("MMIM") and related business 206,210 206,210

Computer Training Center of CS&S ("Training Center") 830 830
  

1,008,479 995,610
  

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and the methodology used for the year are summarised 

below:

The recoverable amounts of the following CGUs have been determined based on a value in use calculation. The 

calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year 

period, and discount rates shown below. The cash flows of the CGUs beyond the five-year period are extrapolated 

using steady growth rates shown below. These growth rates are based on the relevant industry. Management of the 

Group believes that the projected growth rates are reasonable. Other key assumptions for the value in use 

calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows and/or outflows which include budgeted sales and gross profit 

margin. Such estimation is based on the past performance of the CGUs and management’s expectations.

CGUs Discount rate Growth rate

2016 2015 2016 2015

Chinasoft Beijing 13% 13% 3% 3%

Shanghai Huateng 13% 13% 3% 3%

CSITS and existing outsourcing business 13% 13% 3% 3%

Catapult 16% 16% 3% 3%

MMIM and related business 13% 13% 3% 3%

Training center 13% 13% 3% 3%

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount of these CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of these CGUs.
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15. inVeSTMenTS AccounTeD FoR uSinG THe eQuiTY MeTHoD

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of unlisted investments 85,271 75,371

Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividend received 18,919 3,486
  

104,190 78,857
  

Included in the cost of unl isted investments is goodwi l l  of RMB3,052,000 and RMB38,266,000 (2015: 

RMB3,052,000 and RMB38,266,000) arising from China National Tobacco Information Company Limited and Beijing 

Chinasoft international Education Technology Co., Ltd ("Beijing Chinasoft EDU"), respectively.

Particulars of the Group’s significant investments accounted for using the equity method, both of which are 

associates of the Group at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

name

Form of business 

structure

Place of

establishment

Principal place 

of operation

Proportion of registered capital 

held by the Group nature of business

2016 2015

北京中煙資訊技術有限公司

China National Tobacco 

Information Company Limited 

Equity joint

venture enterprise

PRC PRC 20% 20% Maintenance of a policy 

making system for the 

production, operation and 

management of the 

tobacco industry

北京中軟國際教育科技有限公司

Beijing Chinasoft EDU (Note i)

Equity joint

venture enterprise

PRC PRC 49% 49% Provision of IT training 

services

Note: As described in note 33, the Group disposed a total of 17.46% equity interests in Beijing Chinasoft EDU in December 2015 

and the remaining 49% equity interests are classified as an investment accounted for using the equity method of the 

Group.
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15. inVeSTMenTS AccounTeD FoR uSinG THe eQuiTY MeTHoD – conTinueD

Summarised financial information of material investments accounted for using the equity method

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material investments accounted for using the equity 

method is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amount shown in the financial 

statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Beijing chinasoft eDu

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 148,484 172,322
  

Non-current assets 77,943 48,010
  

Current liabilities (129,361) (159,755)
  

Non-current liabilities (1,964) (2,618)
  

Year ended

31 December 

2016

From 22 

December 2015

to 31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 312,498 –
  

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year/period 37,143 –
  

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the investments accounted 

for using the equity method recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net assets of Beijing Chinasoft EDU 95,102 57,959

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Beijing Chinasoft EDU 49% 49%

Goodwill 38,266 38,266
  

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Beijing Chinasoft EDU 84,866 66,666
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15. inVeSTMenTS AccounTeD FoR uSinG THe eQuiTY MeTHoD – conTinueD

Aggregate information of investments accounted for using the equity method that are not individually material

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

The Group’s share of (loss) profit and total 

comprehensive (expense) income for the year (708) 1,907
  

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interests in these investments 19,324 12,191
  

16. AVAiLABLe-FoR-SALe inVeSTMenT

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity investment, at cost, non-current 61,965 49,151
  

On 23 January 2014, the Group entered into a partnership agreement (the "Partnership Agreement") with PointGuard 

Management I, L.P. ("PointGuard Management") and other two co-investment partners. Under the Partnership 

Agreement, the Group agreed to make a total amount of capital commitment of US$10,000,000 to PointGuard 

Ventures I, L.P. ("PointGuard Ventures"), a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership and engaged in venture 

capital investments in equity or equity-oriented securities of private and public companies with an emphasis on 

technology convergence companies. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, PointGuard Management has the sole 

and exclusive right to manage, control, and conduct the affairs of PointGuard Ventures and to do any and all acts on 

behalf of it. The directors consider that the Group cannot exercise control nor significant influence on PointGuard 

Ventures.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group contr ibuted US$10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB61,965,000) (2015: 

US$8,037,500, equivalent to RMB49,151,000) to PointGuard Ventures which represents 13.29% (2015: 14.67%) of 

the share of interest. The investment is measured at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value 

estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured 

reliably.
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17. PRePAiD LeASe PAYMenTS

Trademark

Land use right usage right Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2015 43,023 1,610 44,633

Exchange adjustments – 92 92
   

At 31 December 2015 43,023 1,702 44,725

Exchange adjustments – 107 107
   

At 31 December 2016 43,023 1,809 44,832
   

AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2015 1,720 1,430 3,150

Provided for the year 860 151 1,011

Exchange adjustments – 88 88
   

At 31 December 2015 2,580 1,669 4,249

Provided for the year 860 33 893

Exchange adjustments – 107 107
   

At 31 December 2016 3,440 1,809 5,249
   

CARRYING VALUE

At 31 December 2016 39,583 – 39,583
   

At 31 December 2015 40,443 33 40,476
   

2016 2015
  

Land use Trademark Land use Trademark

 right usage right Total  right usage right Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current assets 38,723 – 38,723 39,583 – 39,583

Current assets 860 – 860 860 33 893
      

39,583 – 39,583 40,443 33 40,476
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17. PRePAiD LeASe PAYMenTS – conTinueD

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise payments associated with a land use right of RMB39,583,000 (2015: 

RMB40,443,000) in the PRC under medium-term lease.

The payment for the trademark usage right is amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

The land use right is amortised on a straight-line basis over a lease term of 50 years.

The Group has pledged land use r ight with a carrying amount of approximately RMB39,583,000 (2015: 

RMB40,443,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

18. inVenToRieS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Computer hardware, equipment and software products 20,893 30,260
  

19. TRADe AnD oTHeR ReceiVABLeS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 1,927,924 618,621

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (182,171) (151,431)
  

1,745,753 467,190

Trade receivables from related companies (Note) – 687,009
  

1,745,753 1,154,199

Advances to suppliers 72,727 81,208

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 304,220 205,408
  

2,122,700 1,440,815
  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current assets 30,000 11,688

Current assets 2,092,700 1,429,127
  

2,122,700 1,440,815
  

Note:	 The balances principally arose from provision of services by the Group to certain related companies (see note 40). The 

balances as at 31 December 2015 included an amount of RMB679,982,000 due from the group of Huawei and its 

subsidiaries ("Huawei Group") which was a related party following the establishment of CSITS in April 2012. In February 

2016, the Company acquired the 40% equity interest of CSITS from Huawei and Huawei Group were not related parties of 

the Group thereafter.
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19. TRADe AnD oTHeR ReceiVABLeS – conTinueD

The credit terms of the Group range from 30 to 180 days. An aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for 

doubtful debts), presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 90 days 1,602,798 749,704

Between 91–180 days 94,115 226,564

Between 181–365 days 22,878 164,307

Between 1–2 years 25,099 9,773

Between 2–3 years 863 3,851
  

1,745,753 1,154,199
  

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit 

limits by each customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed each time. 83% (2015: 61%) of the trade 

receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit quality assessed by the Group.

Included in the Group’s t rade receivables balance are debtors with an aggregate carry ing amount of 

RMB138,343,000 (2015: RMB363,592,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not 

provided for an impairment loss as the Group is satisfied with the subsequent settlement and the credit quality of 

these customers had not been deteriorated. Accordingly, the Group does not consider these balances impaired. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 90 days 88,463 168,857

Between 91–180 days 6,941 111,795

Between 181–365 days 17,070 69,316

Between 1–2 years 25,006 9,773

Between 2–3 years 863 3,851
  

Total 138,343 363,592
  

The Group has provided full impairment losses for all receivables aged over 3 years because historical experience is 

such that receivables that are past due beyond 3 years are generally not recoverable.
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19. TRADe AnD oTHeR ReceiVABLeS – conTinueD

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at beginning of the year 185,502 132,198

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 44,677 62,060

Amounts recovered during the year (26,719) (5)

Amounts written-off as uncollectible (16,560) (4,281)

Disposal of subsidiaries – (4,769)

Exchange adjustments 17 299
  

Balance at end of the year 186,917 185,502
  

20. TRAnSFeR oF FinAnciAL ASSeTS

The following are the Group’s trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 that were factored to a 

bank on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these 

receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the cash 

received on the transfer as a secured borrowing (see note 26). These receivables are carried at amortised cost in the 

Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of trade and bills receivables 30,857 113,525

Carrying amount of associated liabilities 30,857 113,525
  

Net position – –
  

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2016, trade receivables amounting to RMB481,030,000 (2015: 

RMB263,712,000) had been factored to independent third parties without recourse. The Group has derecognised 

these trade receivables in their entirety as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of these trade receivables to the counter parties. Losses related 

to derecognition of the trade receivables was RMB4,329,000 (2015: RMB3,491,000) which was charged to the profit 

or loss.
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21. AMounTS Due FRoM (To) cuSToMeRS FoR conTRAcT WoRK

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 3,832,206 3,451,205

Less: Progress billings (2,524,271) (2,022,295)
  

1,307,935 1,428,910
  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Amounts due from contract customers for contract work 1,430,206 1,516,660

Amounts due to contract customers for contract work (122,271) (87,750)
  

1,307,935 1,428,910
  

There are no advances received from customers for contract work at the end of 2016 and 2015.

22. AMounTS Due FRoM/To ReLATeD coMPAnieS

At the end of 2016 and 2015, the amounts due from related companies mainly represent dividend receivable from an 

associate of the Group and the advance to associates of the Group. The balances are unsecured, non-interest 

bearing and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to related companies principally represent an advance from a non-controlling owner of a subsidiary 

of the Company, which is unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.35% (2015: 4.35%) per annum and with a term of one 

year.

23. PLeDGeD DePoSiTS/BAnK BALAnceS

Pledged deposits

The amount represents deposits pledged to certain banks as collaterals for short-term trade facilities granted to the 

Group and is therefore classified a current asset. The deposits carry interest at the prevailing market interest rate. 

The weighted average interest rate at the end of the reporting period was 0.90% (2015: 0.77%) per annum. The 

pledged deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant liabilities under the trade facilities.

Bank balances

The amounts comprise short-term bank deposits carried at the weighted average interest rates at 0.38% 

(2015:0.43%) per annum as at 31 December 2016.

At the end of the reporting period, included in bank balances and pledged deposits are the following amounts 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate.
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23. PLeDGeD DePoSiTS/BAnK BALAnceS – conTinueD

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Hong Kong Dollar 4,402 20,730

United States Dollar 31,016 8,004

Japanese Yen 10,282 2,103
  

24. TRADe AnD oTHeR PAYABLeS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 552,475 473,040

Deposits received from customers 17,800 33,170

Other payables and accrued charges 633,568 434,162
  

1,203,843 940,372
  

An aged analysis of trade payables, presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as 

follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 90 days 493,523 366,278

Between 91–180 days 20,484 23,706

Between 181–365 days 18,791 21,568

Between 1–2 years 10,770 24,579

Over 2 years 8,907 36,909
  

552,475 473,040
  

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 90 days. The Group has financial risk management 

policies in place to ensure that sufficient working capital is maintained to meet its obligations when they fall due.
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25. BiLLS PAYABLe

An aged analysis of bills payable is as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 90 days 812 2,120
  

26. BoRRoWinGS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unsecured bank loans (Note (i)) 925,291 1,248,250

Secured bank loans (Note (ii)) 191,657 312,262
  

1,116,948 1,560,512
  

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount repayable:

Within one year 922,452 1,036,831

More than one year but within five years 194,496 211,358

More than five years – 52,138
  

1,116,948 1,300,327

Carrying amount of bank borrowings that are repayable

on demand due to breach of loan covenants – 260,185

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under

current liabilities (922,452) (1,297,016)
  

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 194,496 263,496
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26. BoRRoWinGS – conTinueD

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total borrowings

At floating interest rates (Note (iii)) 715,283 936,247

At fixed interest rates (Note (iv)) 401,665 624,265
  

1,116,948 1,560,512
  

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysis of borrowings by currency

Denominated in RMB 1,116,948 1,142,208

Denominated in USD – 418,304
  

Notes:

(i) Guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

(ii) Trade and bill receivables with a net carrying value of approximately RMB30,857,000 (2015: RMB125,662,000) are pledged 

to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group. The remaining bank loans amount to RMB160,800,000 are secured by 

the land use rights and buildings (2015: RMB186,600,000 are secured by the land use rights and construction in progress) 

of the Group.

(iii) Interests on RMB borrowings are charged at interest rates announced by the People’s Bank of China. The weighted 

average interest rate for the year is 5.37% (2015: 5.18%) per annum. Interest on USD borrowings are mainly charged at 

LIBOR plus 2.95% for 2015.

(iv) Interests on fixed interest rates borrowings are charged at interest rates ranged from 4.35% to 6.31% (2015: 4.6% to 7%) 

per annum.
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26. BoRRoWinGS – conTinueD

In respect of bank borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB260,185,000 as at 31 December 2015, the bank has 

the following requirements: (i) any fund or affiliate of Hony Capital Management Limited ("Hony Capital Parties") must 

legally and beneficially, directly or indirectly, own at least 12% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company that are 

traded on the Stock Exchange, and Hony Capital Parties remain, legally and beneficially, directly or indirectly, the 

single largest shareholder of the Company; and (ii) the Company must adhere to certain financial covenants.

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 23 April 2015 that the Company was notified that Hony 

Capital Parties had disposed of an aggregate of 335,076,453 shares ("Disposal of Shares", together with the breach 

of financial covenants, collectively referred to as the "Non-Compliances") of the Company, which represents 

approximately 17.29% of the total number of shares issued on 23 April 2015. Upon the Disposal of Shares, Hony 

Capital Parties ceased to hold any of the Company’s Shares. The Disposal of Shares is not consistent with the 

requirements of the bank. Therefore, the borrowings have been classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 

2015.

The bank was aware of the Non-Compliances and had not requested the Company for an immediate repayment of 

the amount borrowed. As at 31 December 2015, the Company was working closely with the bank to renegotiate the 

terms of the bank borrowings.

On 17 February 2016, the Company made full repayment of the total outstanding bank borrowings relating the Non-

Compliances amounting to RMB260,185,000 and obtained all necessary waivers from the bank regarding the Non-

Compliances.
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27. DeFeRReD TAXATion

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets recognised by the Group and movement thereon during 

the current and prior year:

Difference 

between

carrying 

amount and

customer Deferred

Property

plant and Accrued

tax basis of 

interests

relationship Patent Technology revenue Tax losses equipment expenses in an associate others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 (15,272) (1,929) (1,754) 489 1,396 804 6,838 – 1,653 (7,775)

Credit (charge) to  

profit or loss 5,584 326 501 2 (1,396) – (1,914) (7,677) (1,639) (6,213)
          

At 31 December 2015 (9,688) (1,603) (1,253) 491 – 804 4,924 (7,677) 14 (13,988)

Credit (charge) to  

profit or loss 1,808 325 503 (5) 1,336 (804) (514) – 42 2,691
          

At 31 December 2016 (7,880) (1,278) (750) 486 1,336 – 4,410 (7,677) 56 (11,297)
          

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 7,646 6,516

Deferred tax liabilities (18,943) (20,504)
  

(11,297) (13,988)
  

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately RMB370,470,000 (2015: 

RMB383,834,000) available for offset against future profits. In 2016, a deferred tax asset has been recognised in 

respect of RMB3,611,000 (2015: Nil) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the 

remaining RMB366,859,000 (2015: RMB383,834,000) tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 

Tax losses of RMB370,470,000 (2015: RMB383,834,000) will expire in various year before 2021 (2015: 2020).
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27. DeFeRReD TAXATion – continued

Under the new EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profit earned by PRC 

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards at 5% or 10% according the relevant tax treaties. Deferred taxation has 

not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to 

undist r ibuted prof i ts of the PRC subsid iar ies and associates as at 31 December 2016 amount ing to 

RMB1,164,297,000 (2015: RMB1,128,484,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

28. conVeRTiBLe LoAn noTeS

convertible loan notes issued in 2016

During the year, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Huarong International Asset Management 

Growth Fund L.P. (the "Subscriber") pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the 

Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, a RMB denominated USD settled convertible loan notes which 

would be settled by aggregate principal amount of US$70,000,000 (translated to RMB458,649,000 at a fixed 

exchange rate of RMB6.5521 to USD1, or RMB Equivalent Principal Amount). The convertible loan notes were issued 

in two tranches. The first and second tranche convertible loan notes amount to US$30,000,000 (translated to 

RMB196,564,000 at a fixed exchange rate) and US$40,000,000 (translated to RMB262,085,000 at a fixed exchange 

rate), and have been issued on 15 February 2016 and 10 March 2016, respectively. The maturity dates of the first 

and second tranche convertible loan notes (the "Maturity Date") are 15 February 2019 and 10 March 2019, 

respectively.

The convertible loan notes entitle the holders to convert them into 181,987,612 ordinary shares of the Company 

(unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled) at any time on or prior to the Maturity Date at a 

conversion price (subject to adjustment for among other things, consolidation or subdivision of shares, capitalisation 

issue, capital distribution and certain other dilutive events) of HK$3 per share, translated to RMB2.52 per share at 

fixed exchange rate. Interest of 4.5% per annum will be paid semi-annually with the first interest payment dates fell 

on 15 August 2016 and 10 September 2016 for the first and second tranche convertible loan notes, respectively. 

Outstanding convertible loan notes will be settled by the Company at the Maturity Date in US$ in an amount 

equivalent to the RMB Equivalent Principal Amount outstanding together with accrued interest.

The Company has no right to require early cancellation or redemption of any of the convertible loan notes prior to the 

Maturity Date. The note holder may terminate and request immediate redemption of the convertible loan notes in 

US$ in an amount equivalent to the RMB Equivalent Principal Amount then outstanding together with accrued 

interest upon occurrence of certain events of defaults. Details of the issue of convertible loan notes were set out in a 

circular dated 3 February 2016 issued by the Company.

At initial recognition, the conversion option component of the convertible loan notes that may be settled by the 

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity was 

separated from the liability component. The conversion option component upon initial recognition is presented in 

equity under the heading of convertible loan notes reserve. The effective interest rates of the liability component for 

the first tranches and second tranches are 8.36% and 8.08% per annum, respectively.
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28. conVeRTiBLe LoAn noTeS – conTinueD

convertible loan notes issued in 2010

In November 2010, the Company announced the completion of issued of 4.25% convertible loan notes in the 

principal amount of RMB200,000,000 (the"2010 Convertible Loan Notes")

The 2010 Convertible Loan Notes entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at any 

time between the date of issue of the notes and their settlement date on 29 November 2016 at a conversion price of 

(subject to adjustment for among other things, consolidation or subdivision of shares, capitalisation issue, capital 

distribution and certain other dilutive events) of HK$2 per share, translated to RMB1.718 per share at fixed exchange 

rate. If the notes have not been converted, they will be redeemed by the Company on 29 November 2016 at the 

principal amount outstanding together with accrued interest thereon up to an including 29 November 2016. Interest 

of 4.25% will be paid semi-annually until the settlement date.

The Company has no right to require early cancellation or redemption of any of the convertible loan notes prior to 29 

November 2016. The note holder may terminate and request immediate redemption of the convertible loan notes at 

their principal amount then outstanding together with accrued interest upon occurrence of certain events of defaults. 

All the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes have been converted as at 31 December 2016.

The convertible loan notes contain two components, liability and equity elements. The equity element is presented in 

equity headed convertible loan notes reserve. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 7.24% per 

annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible loan notes for the year is set out below:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 89,622 193,771

Converted by the notes holders (274,048) (105,433)

Issued during the year 416,130 –

Interest charge (note 6) 32,792 8,736

Interest paid (20,200) (7,452)
  

Carrying amount at the end of the year 244,296 89,622
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29. SHARe cAPiTAL

number nominal

of shares amount

HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each:

Authorised:

At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 and 2016 4,000,000,000 200,000
  

Amount shown

number in the financial

of shares Amount statements

HK$ RMB’000

issued and fully paid

At 1 January 2015 1,874,585,283 93,729,265 88,014

Exercise of share options (Note i) 28,200,000 1,410,000 1,145

Conversion of convertible loan notes (Note ii) 64,022,721 3,201,136 2,539

Issue of ordinary shares (Note iii) 100,000,000 5,000,000 3,947
   

At 31 December 2015 2,066,808,004 103,340,401 95,645

Exercise of share options (Note i) 31,880,000 1,594,000 1,365

Conversion of convertible loan notes (Note ii) 130,376,917 6,518,846 5,775

Issue of ordinary shares (Note iv) 85,109,515 4,255,475 3,602
   

At 31 December 2016 2,314,174,436 115,708,722 106,387
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29. SHARe cAPiTAL – conTinueD

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2016, share options to subscribe for 31,880,000 (2015: 28,200,000) ordinary shares 

of HK$0.05 each were exercised from HK$0.97 to HK$2.15 (2015: HK$1.67 to HK$2.15) per share (see note 38). These 

shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2016, convertible loan notes issued in 2010 with the principal amount of 

RMB90,000,000 (2015: RMB110,000,000) were converted into 52,382,227 (2015: 64,022,721) ordinary shares of HK$0.05 

each at a conversion price of RMB1.718 (2015: RMB1.718) per share (see note 28). In addition, convertible loan notes 

issued in 2016 with the principal amount of USD30,000,000 (translated to RMB196,563,000 at a fixed exchange rate) were 

converted into 77,994,690 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each at a conversion price of HK$3.00 (translated to RMB2.52 at a 

fixed exchange rate) per share (see note 28). These shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect.

(iii) For the purpose of business expansion and supplement working capital, the Company issued 100,000,000 ordinary shares 

of HK$0.05 each, for consideration of HK$3.68 per share during the year ended 31 December 2015. These shares rank 

pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect.

(iv) In February 2016, the Company issued 85,109,515 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each to Huawei Technology Company 

Limited ("Huawei") to acquire the 40% equity interests of CSITS, details are set out in note 34.

30. SHARe PReMiuM AnD ReSeRVeS

Share premium

In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable to the 

owners of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 

distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. 

The share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

No dividend has been paid and distributed in years 2015 and 2016.

other reserves

When the proportion of the equity held by non-controlling interests changes, the carrying amounts of the controlling 

and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Other 

reserve mainly represents the differences between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 

and the fair value of the consideration paid or received after taking account of the effect of reallocation of certain 

other reserves of the subsidiaries.
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30. SHARe PReMiuM AnD ReSeRVeS – conTinueD

General reserve fund and statutory enterprise expansion fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, foreign invested enterprises are required to provide for 

the general reserve fund and the statutory enterprise expansion fund. Appropriations to such reserve funds are made 

out of net profit after taxation as reported in the statutory financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries prepared in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC and the amount and allocation basis are 

decided by their respective boards of directors annually. The general reserve fund can be used to make up prior year 

losses of these subsidiaries, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue. 

The statutory enterprise expansion fund is used for expanding the capital base of these subsidiaries by means of 

capitalisation issue.

Statutory surplus reserve fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries other than foreign invested 

enterprises are required to provide for the statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriations to such funds are made out 

of 10% of the net profit after taxation as reported in the statutory financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries 

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC.

31. cAPiTAL RiSK MAnAGeMenT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 

strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 26, 

convertible loan notes disclosed in note 28, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners 

of the Company, comprising share capital, share premium, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure semi-annually. As part of this review, the directors of the 

Company consider the cost of capi ta l and the r isks associates wi th each c lass of capi ta l.  Based on 

recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 

payment of dividends, new share issues and as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS

categories of financial instruments

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 3,406,547 2,712,063

Available-for-sale investment 61,965 49,151
  

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 2,418,933 2,463,614

FVTPL – contingent consideration payable – 20,152
  

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, bills receivable, amounts due from/to 

related companies, pledged deposits, bank balances and cash, available-for-sale investment, trade and other 

payables, dividend payable, borrowings, bills payable, consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary and 

convertible loan notes. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated 

with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these 

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)	 Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have bank balances and cash, trade receivables denominated in foreign 

currencies arising from income generated from provision of services, trade and other payables arising from 

purchases dominated in foreign currencies and borrowing, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. 

Approximately 0.9% (2015: 0.4%) of the Group’s income generated from provisions of services is 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entity providing the services.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 

at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Hong Kong Dollar 15,947 20,730 15,867 9,717

United States Dollar 45,346 15,797 – 418,304

Japanese Yen 23,985 8,987 3,304 –
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Market risk – continued

(i)	 Currency risk – continued

It is the Group’s policy for each operating entity to operate in local currency as far as possible to minimise 

currency risk. The Group’s principal businesses are conducted in Renminbi. Since the impact of foreign 

exchange exposure is minimal, no hedging against foreign currency exposure has been carried out by the 

management but the management has kept on monitoring the movement of all foreign currency exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar and Japanese Yen.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in Renminbi against the 

relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk and represents 

management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 

analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 

at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive/negative number 

below indicates an increase/decrease in post-tax profit where Renminbi strengthens 5% against the relevant 

currencies. For a 5% weakening of Renminbi against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal and 

opposite impact on the result.

Hong Kong Dollar Impact United States Dollar Impact Japanese Yen Impact

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Post-tax profit for the year (3) (413)(a) (1,700) 15,094(b) (776) (337)(c)
      

(a) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on Hong Kong Dollar trade receivables and bank balances 

and other payables at the end of the reporting periods.

(b) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on United States Dollar trade receivables, bank balances at 

the end of the reporting periods.

(c) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on Japanese Yen trade receivables, bank balances and 

trade payables at the end of the reporting periods.
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Market risk – continued

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a fixed rate financial instruments will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future 

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2016, except for an amount of RMB715,283,000 (2015: RMB936,247,000) of bank 

borrowings at floating rates, all remaining bank borrowings of the Group are at fixed rate.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to convertible loan notes (see note 28 for 

details), borrowings with fixed interest rates (see note 26) and amounts due to related companies (see note 

22). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable rate bank borrowings (see 

note 26) and short-term bank deposits (see note 23) which are mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of 

prevailing interest rate announced by the Peoples' Bank of China and London Inter Bank Offered Rate in 

respect of an unsecured bank loan. The Group kept certain borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to 

minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge 

its exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December 2016 and 2015. The directors of the Company will 

consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for remaining 

floating rate borrowings (see note 26). A 50 basis points (2015: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used 

for floating rate borrowings when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and 

represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

In respect of the floating rate borrowings, if interest rates had been 50 basis points (2015: 50 basis points) 

higher and all other variable were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 

2016 would decrease/increase by RMB2,682,000 (2015: RMB3,511,000).
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations as 

at 31 December 2016 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets 

as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of 

the Group has delegated specific persons responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other 

monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the 

recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable at each end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate 

impairment losses, if necessary, are made for irrecoverable amounts.

In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings in the PRC and 

HK.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 94.4% 

(2015: 97.6%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2016. The Group has concentration of credit risk as 

60.5% (2015: 53.6%) and 69.1% (2015: 57.1%) of the total trade receivable was due from the Group’s largest 

customer and the five largest customers respectively. In addition, there is concentration of credit risk on liquid funds 

which are deposited with several authorised banks in the PRC. Other than the above, the Group does not have any 

other significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 

cash flows.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has available unuti l ised general borrowing facil it ies of approximately 

RMB461,696,000 (2015: RMB127,235,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. It has been drawn up 

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be 

required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are 

floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Liquidity risk  – continued

Liquidity tables

On demand Over 6 Carrying

Weighted or months but Total amount at 31

average less than not more Over 2 undiscounted December

interest rate 6 months than 1 year 1–2 years years cash flows  2016

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2016

Non derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 997,776 – – – 997,776 997,776

Bills payable 812 – – – 812 812

Amounts due to related companies 4.35 35,673 3,026 – – 38,699 37,983

Dividend payable 83 – – – 83 83

Borrowings 5.37 524,786 428,322 55,119 165,540 1,173,767 1,116,948

Convertible loan notes 8.08 11,958 6,028 11,958 268,014 297,958 244,296

Consideration payable on 

acquisition of a subsidiary 21,331 – – – 21,331 21,035
      

1,592,419 437,376 67,077 433,554 2,530,426 2,418,933
      

On demand Over 6 Carrying

Weighted or months but Total amount at 31

average less than not more Over 2 undiscounted December 

interest rate 6 months than 1 year 1–2 years years cash flows 2015

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2015

Non derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 757,562 – – – 757,562 757,562

Bills payable 2,120 – – – 2,120 2,120

Amounts due to related companies 4.35 27,003 8,150 – – 35,153 34,667

Dividend payable 78 – – – 78 78

Borrowings 5.38 985,609 341,229 17,032 332,365 1,676,235 1,560,512

Convertible loan notes 7.24 2,105 93,343 – – 95,448 89,622

Consideration payable on acquisition 

 of a subsidiary – – 19,968 – 19,968 19,053

Contingent consideration payable on 

acquisition of a subsidiary (Note) – – 21,435 – 21,435 20,152
      

1,774,477 442,722 58,435 332,365 2,607,999 2,483,766
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Liquidity risk  – continued

Liquidity tables – continued

The amounts included above for variable interest rate borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest 

rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Note:	 The amounts included above for contingent consideration arising from business combination are the maximum amounts 

of cash the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement if certain milestones are achieved by the acquirees. 

Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the directors have assessed the fair value of the contingent 

consideration which will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the 

actual financial performance of the acquirees.

Fair value

Some of the Group’s financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following 

table gives information about how the fair values of these financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the 

valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial liabilities Fair value as at

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 

and 

key input(s)

Significant 

unobservable input(s)

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Contingent consideration in a 

business combination 

included in consideration 

payable on acquisition of a 

subsidiary

– (Note iii) Liabilities – 

RMB20,152,000

Level 3 Discounted cash flow 

method was used to 

capture the present 

value of the expected 

future cashflows 

arising from the 

contingent 

consideration, based 

on an appropriate 

discount rate.

2015: Discount rate of 

4.75% (Note i)

2015: 

Probability-adjusted 

profits, with a range 

from RMB35,442,000 

to RMB95,694,000 

(Note ii)
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32. FinAnciAL inSTRuMenTS – conTinueD

Fair value– continued

Notes:

i. A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the 

contingent consideration, and vice versa. A 5% increase in the discount rate holding all other variables constant would 

decrease the carrying amount of the contingent consideration by RMB61,000 as at 31 December 2015.

ii. A slight increase in the probabil ity-adjusted profits used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value 

measurement of the contingent consideration, and vice versa. A 5% decrease in the probability-adjusted profits holding all 

other variables constant would decrease the carrying amount of the contingent consideration by RMB1,382,000 as at 31 

December 2015.

iii. At the end of 2016, the directors of the Company concluded that the condition for the contingent consideration payable 

was not reached, and accordingly, the contingent consideration payable was nil as at 31 December 2016.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 

at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

33. DiSPoSAL oF SuBSiDiARieS

Disposal of Beijing chinasoft eDu

In December 2015, the Group entered into two share transfer agreements to dispose a total of 17.46% equity 

interests of a subsidiary, Beijing Chinasoft EDU, which carried out a significant portion of the Group’s training 

business. The disposal was effected in order to generate cash flows for the expansion of the Group’s other business. 

The disposal was completed on 22 December 2015. After the completion, the Group holds 49% of the equity 

interest in Beijing Chinasoft EDU and able to exercise significant influence over the Company because it has the right 

to appoint 1 out of the 5 directors of that company per revised Articles of Association of Beijing Chinasoft EDU. The 

remaining 49% equity interests in Beijing Chinasoft EDU was classified as investments accounted for using the equity 

method of the Group. The net assets of Beijing Chinasoft EDU at the date of disposal were as follows:
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33. DiSPoSAL oF SuBSiDiARieS – conTinueD

Disposal of Beijing chinasoft eDu – continued

Consideration received

RMB’000

Cash received 50,033

Consideration receivable 18,934
 

68,967

Fair value of the 49% equity interests remained

in Beijing Chinasoft EDU 66,666
 

135,633
 

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost

22/12/2015

RMB’000

Current assets

Inventories 33

Trade and other receivables 58,443

Bank balances and cash 33,137

Amounts due from related companies 80,709
 

172,322
 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 18,957

Intangible assets 21,666
 

40,623
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33. DiSPoSAL oF SuBSiDiARieS – conTinueD

Disposal of Beijing chinasoft eDu – continued

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost – continued

22/12/2015

RMB’000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 28,207

Amount due to a related company 80,360

Dividends payable 33,932

Taxation payable 4,947

Borrowings 12,309
 

159,755
 

Net assets disposed of 53,190
 

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB’000

Consideration receivable and received 135,633

Non-controlling interests 19,560

Net assets disposed of (53,190)
 

Gain on disposal 102,003
 

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB’000

Cash consideration 50,033

Less: Bank balance and cash disposed of (33,137)
 

16,896
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33. DiSPoSAL oF SuBSiDiARieS – conTinueD

Disposal of Double Bridge Technologies, inc. ("Double Bridge")

On 6 November 2015, Hinge Global Resource Inc. ("HGR") entered an agreement with a third party to dispose all its 

100% shareholdings in Double Bridge for a consideration of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to RMB19,481,000). The 

transaction was completed on 30 December 2015. The net assets of Double Bridge at the date of disposal were as 

follows:

Consideration received

RMB’000

Cash received 1,299

Consideration receivable 18,182
 

19,481
 

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost

30/12/2015

RMB’000

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 6,413

Bank balances and cash 5,824

Amounts due from related companies 931
 

13,168
 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 287
 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7,050
 

Net assets disposed of 6,405
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33. DiSPoSAL oF SuBSiDiARieS – conTinueD

Disposal of Double Bridge Technologies, inc. (“Double Bridge”) – continued

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB’000

Consideration received and receivable 19,481

Net assets disposed of (6,405)

Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary  

reclassified from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of the subsidiary (3,355)
 

Gain on disposal 9,721
 

Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB’000

Cash consideration 1,299

Less: Bank balance and cash disposed of (5,824)
 

(4,525)
 

34. cHAnGeS in oWneRSHiP inTeReST in SuBSiDiARieS

In October 2015, the Company and Huawei entered into a subscription and acquisition agreement pursuant to which 

(i) Huawei has conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue 85,109,515 

ordinary shares at HKD2.80 per share; and (ii) the Company had conditionally agreed to acquire, and Huawei has 

conditionally agreed to sell, 40% equity interest in CSITS. Details of the transactions were set out in a circular dated 

23 November 2015 issued by the Company. The substance of the transactions is that the Company issued 

85,109,515 ordinary shares to Huawei to acquire the 40% equity interest in CSITS held by Huawei. The conditions of 

these transactions such as the approval from board of directors and the shareholders of the Company and Huawei 

were satisfied in February 2016. The transactions were completed in February 2016 and CSITS became a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Group afterward. The market value of the shares subscribed by Huawei as at transaction the 

completion date amounts to HK$222,987,000 (equivalent to RMB188,758,000). The transactions were accounted 

for as an equity transaction with non-controlling shareholder of an existing subsidiary, and the differences between 

the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity component 

and the market value of the shares subscribed by Huawei is recognised directly in equity.
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35. PLeDGe oF ASSeTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged certain bank deposits as collaterals for short-term trade 

facilities granted to the Group as per note 23.

The Group had also pledged certain trade receivables, land use right and buildings to secure bank borrowings 

granted to the Group as per note 26.

36. oPeRATinG LeASe coMMiTMenTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings which fall due as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 112,655 100,358

In the second to fifth year inclusive 207,538 134,714

Over five years – 1,137
  

320,193 236,209
  

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain premises for training centers, office 

properties and storeroom. Leases are negotiated for lease terms ranging from one year to seven years (2015: one 

year to seven years) for the Group and rentals are normally fixed during the lease period.

37. cAPiTAL coMMiTMenTS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in  

the consolidated financial statements

– acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,421 86,574

– investment in an entity accounted for using equity method 89,100 –
  

92,521 86,574
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe

The Company’s share option scheme (the "Existing Share Option Scheme") was adopted pursuant to a resolution 

passed on 2 June 2003 by the shareholders for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the people and 

the parties working for the interest of the Group. The Existing Share Option Scheme will remain valid for a period of 

ten years commencing on 2 June 2003. Pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 May 2013, the Existing Share Option 

Scheme which will be expired on 1 June 2013 was terminated and a new share option scheme (the "New Share 

Option Scheme") (together with the Existing Share Option Scheme, collectively referred to as the "Share Option 

Schemes") was adopted. Upon termination of the Existing Share Option Scheme, no further options may be offered 

thereunder but in all other respects the provisions of the Existing Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and 

effect. The expiry of the Existing Share Option Scheme will not in any event affect the terms of those outstanding 

options that have already been granted under the Existing Share Option Scheme.

Under the Share Option Schemes, the board of directors may grant options to eligible participants including the 

directors, full-time and part-time employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associates, suppliers and 

customers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associates to subscribe for shares in the Company in 

accordance with the terms of the Share Option Schemes. An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 

30 days from the date of offer, and a consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by each of the participants on acceptance 

of the grant of options.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Schemes at any time during a period 

of not more than ten years after the date on which an offer of the grant of an option is accepted. The subscription 

price for shares under the Share Option Schemes will be a price determined by the board of directors and notified to 

each grantee and will be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of 

the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding 

the date of offer and; (iii) the nominal value of a share.

The Company may grant options under the Share Option Schemes and any other share option schemes of the 

Company entitling the grantees to exercise up to an aggregate of 10% of the total number of shares in issue 

immediately upon the listing of the shares on the Stock Exchange and subject to renewal with shareholders' 

approval. However, the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options 

granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Schemes and any other share option schemes of the 

Company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time. The number of shares in 

respect of which options may be granted to any individual in aggregate within any 12-month period is not permitted 

to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. 

Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in any one year exceeding the 

higher of 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved by 

the Company’s shareholders.
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The movements of the share options granted to the directors and other employees of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:

number of share option
 

outstanding Granted during exercised expired outstanding

Type of option holders Date of grant exercise price Vesting period exercise period at 1.1.2016 the year during the year during the year at 12.31.2016

Executive directors:

Tang Zhenming 30.3.2006 HK$0.97 Nil 30.3.2006–29.3.2016 – – – – –

30.3.2006–29.3.2007 30.3.2007–29.3.2016 200,000 – (200,000) – –

30.3.2006–29.3.2008 30.3.2008–29.3.2016 200,000 – (200,000) – –

30.3.2006–29.3.2009 30.3.2009–29.3.2016 400,000 – (400,000) – –

10.4.2007 HK$1.78 Nil 10.4.2007–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2008 10.4.2008–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2009 10.4.2009–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2010 10.4.2010–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

12,800,000 – (800,000) – 12,000,000
     

Chen Yuhong 23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000
     

Wang Hui 23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000
     

Non-executive directors:

Zhang Yaqin 16.12.2015 HK$3.27 Nil 16.12.2015–15.12.2018 900,000 – – – 900,000

16.12.2015–15.12.2016 16.12.2016–15.12.2018 900,000 – – – 900,000

16.12.2016–15.12.2017 16.12.2017–15.12.2018 1,200,000 – – – 1,200,000
     

3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The movements of the share options granted to the directors and other employees of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2016 are as follows: – continued

number of share option
 

outstanding Granted during exercised expired outstanding

Type of option holders Date of grant exercise price Vesting period exercise period at 1.1.2016 the year during the year during the year at 12.31.2016

Employees: 30.3.2006 HK$0.97 Nil 30.3.2006–29.3.2016 50,000 – – (50,000) –

30.3.2006–29.3.2007 30.3.2007–29.3.2016 1,575,000 – (775,000) (800,000) –

30.3.2006–29.3.2008 30.3.2008–29.3.2016 2,125,000 – (1,300,000) (825,000) –

30.3.2006–29.3.2009 30.3.2009–29.3.2016 1,350,000 – (525,000) (825,000) –

10.4.2007 HK$1.78 Nil 10.4.2007–9.4.2017 1,085,000 – – – 1,085,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2008 10.4.2008–9.4.2017 3,220,000 – – – 3,220,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2009 10.4.2009–9.4.2017 3,200,000 – (250,000) – 2,950,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2010 10.4.2010–9.4.2017 3,600,000 – (250,000) – 3,350,000

23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 24,000,000 – (5,855,000) – 18,145,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 17,480,000 – (8,325,000) – 9,155,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 32,000,000 – (13,800,000) – 18,200,000

16.12.2015 HK$3.27 Nil 16.12.2015–15.12.2018 10,500,000 – – – 10,500,000

16.12.2015–15.12.2016 16.12.2016–15.12.2018 10,500,000 – – – 10,500,000

16.12.2015–15.12.2017 16.12.2017–15.12.2018 14,000,000 – – – 14,000,000

11.10.2016 HK$3.69 11.10.2016–10.10.2017 11.10.2017–10.10.2020 – 40,000,000 – – 40,000,000

11.10.2016–10.10.2018 11.10.2018–10.10.2020 – 24,000,000 – – 24,000,000

11.10.2016–10.10.2019 11.10.2019–10.10.2020 – 16,000,000 – – 16,000,000

17.11.2016 HK$3.69 Nil 17.11.2016–16.11.2019 – 15,000,000 – – 15,000,000

17.11.2016–16.11.2017 17.11.2017–16.11.2019 – 15,000,000 – – 15,000,000

17.11.2016–16.11.2018 17.11.2018–16.11.2019 – 20,000,000 – – 20,000,000
     

124,685,000 130,000,000 (31,080,000) (2,500,000) 221,105,000
     

Total 160,485,000 130,000,000 (31,880,000) (2,500,000) 256,105,000
     

Exercisable at the end of the year 35,405,000
 

Weighted average exercise price HK$2.34 HK$3.69 HK$2.02 HK$0.97 HK$3.08
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The movements of the share options granted to the directors and other employees of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Number of share option
 

Outstanding Granted during Exercised Expired Outstanding

Type of option holders Date of grant Exercise price Vesting period Exercise period at 1.1.2015 the year during the year during the year at 12.31.2015

Executive directors:

Tang Zhenming 30.3.2006 HK$0.97 Nil 30.3.2006–29.3.2016 – – – – –

30.3.2006–29.3.2007 30.3.2007–29.3.2016 200,000 – – – 200,000

30.3.2006–29.3.2008 30.3.2008–29.3.2016 200,000 – – – 200,000

30.3.2006–29.3.2009 30.3.2009–29.3.2016 400,000 – – – 400,000

10.4.2007 HK$1.78 Nil 10.4.2007–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2008 10.4.2008–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2009 10.4.2009–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2010 10.4.2010–9.4.2017 500,000 – – – 500,000

23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

12,800,000 – – – 12,800,000
     

Chen Yuhong 23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000
     

Wang Hui 23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000
     

10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000
     

Non-executive directors:

Zhang Yaqin 16.12.2015 HK$3.27 Nil 16.12.2015–15.12.2018 – 900,000 – – 900,000

16.12.2015–15.12.2016 16.12.2016–15.12.2018 – 900,000 – – 900,000

16.12.2016–15.12.2017 16.12.2017–15.12.2018 – 1,200,000 – – 1,200,000
     

– 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The movements of the share options granted to the directors and other employees of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2015 are as follows: – continued

Number of share option
 

Outstanding Granted during Exercised Expired Outstanding

Type of option holders Date of grant Exercise price Vesting period Exercise period at 1.1.2015 the year during the year during the year at 12.31.2015

Employees: 30.3.2006 HK$0.97 Nil 30.3.2006–29.3.2016 50,000 – – – 50,000

30.3.2006–29.3.2007 30.3.2007–29.3.2016 1,575,000 – – – 1,575,000

30.3.2006–29.3.2008 30.3.2008–29.3.2016 2,125,000 – – – 2,125,000

30.3.2006–29.3.2009 30.3.2009–29.3.2016 1,350,000 – – – 1,350,000

10.4.2007 HK$1.78 Nil 10.4.2007–9.4.2017 1,335,000 – (250,000) – 1,085,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2008 10.4.2008–9.4.2017 3,470,000 – (250,000) – 3,220,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2009 10.4.2009–9.4.2017 3,200,000 – – – 3,200,000

10.4.2007–9.4.2010 10.4.2010–9.4.2017 3,600,000 – – – 3,600,000

19.9.2012 HK$1.67 Nil 19.9.2012–18.9.2015 3,640,000 – (3,640,000) – –

19.9.2012–18.9.2013 19.9.2013–18.9.2015 8,700,000 – (8,700,000) – –

19.9.2012–19.9.2014 19.9.2014–18.9.2015 11,600,000 – (8,840,000) (2,760,000) –

23.1.2014 HK$2.15 Nil 23.01.2014–22.01.2017 24,000,000 – – – 24,000,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2015 23.01.2015–22.01.2017 24,000,000 – (6,520,000) – 17,480,000

23.01.2014–22.01.2016 23.01.2016–22.01.2017 32,000,000 – – – 32,000,000

16.12.2015 HK$3.27 Nil 16.12.2015–15.12.2018 – 10,500,000 – – 10,500,000

16.12.2015–15.12.2016 16.12.2016–15.12.2018 – 10,500,000 – – 10,500,000

16.12.2016–15.12.2017 16.12.2017–15.12.2018 – 14,000,000 – – 14,000,000
     

120,645,000 35,000,000 (28,200,000) (2,760,000) 124,685,000
     

Total 153,445,000 38,000,000 (28,200,000) (2,760,000) 160,485,000
     

Exercisable at the end of the year 30,405,000
 

Weighted average exercise price HK$1.84 HK$3.27 HK$1.78 HK$1.67 HK$2.34
     

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price at the dates of exercise 

is HK$3.37 (2015: HK$3.09).
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The estimated fair value of the share options granted on 16 December 2015 was HK$0.73 to HK$0.96 per option. 

Fair values were calculated using the binomial option pricing model. The variables and assumptions used in 

computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors' best estimate. The value of an option varies 

with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price on grant date HK$3.27

Exercise price HK$3.27

Expected volatility 52.03%

Time to maturity 3 years

Risk-free rate 0.72%

Expected dividend yield 0.00%

Expected exercise period 0–3 years

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period of 

1,092 days up to 2015.

The estimated fair value of the share options granted on 11 October 2016 was HK$1.16 to HK$1.33 per option. Fair 

values were calculated using the binomial option pricing model. The variables and assumptions used in computing 

the fair value of the share options are based on the directors' best estimate. The value of an option varies with 

different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price on grant date HK$3.69

Exercise price HK$3.69

Expected volatility 48.23%

Time to maturity 4 years

Risk-free rate 0.73%

Expected dividend yield 0.00%

Expected exercise period 1–3 years

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period of 

1,461 days up to 2016.
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38. SHARe oPTion ScHeMe – conTinueD

The estimated fair value of the share options granted on 17 November 2016 was HK$0.97 to HK$1.25 per option. 

Fair values were calculated using the binomial option pricing model. The variables and assumptions used in 

computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors' best estimate. The value of an option varies 

with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price on grant date HK$3.65

Exercise price HK$3.69

Expected volatility 52.54%

Time to maturity 3 years

Risk-free rate 0.95%

Expected dividend yield 0.00%

Expected exercise period 0–3 years

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period of 

1,095 days up to 2016.

The Group recognised a total expense of RMB45,285,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 

RMB13,637,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

39. ReTiReMenT BeneFiTS ScHeMeS

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirements plans 

for its employees in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its 

employees to the retirements plans, and has no further obligation for the actual payment of the previous or post 

retirement benefits. The relevant state-sponsored retirements plans are responsible for the entire present obligation 

to retired employees.

In accordance with the relevant mandatory provident fund laws and regulations of Hong Kong, the Group operates a 

Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") scheme ("MPF Scheme") for all qualifying Hong Kong employees. The assets of 

the scheme are held separately from those of the Group and under the control of an independent MPF service 

provider. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make 

contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group in respect of the MPF 

Scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the total cost of retirement benefits contributions charged to profit or loss 249,384,000 (2015: 

RMB209,164,000) represents contributions to the schemes made by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the 

respective schemes.
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40. ReLATeD PARTY TRAnSAcTionS

During the year, the Group had the following transactions with related companies, other than those disclosed 

elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements:

Notes

For the 

period from

1/1/2016 to 

25/2/2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Provision of IT outsourcing services

– Huawei Group (a) 354,165 1,953,094
  

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Provision of IT solution service

– Beijing Chinasoft Zhengtong Information Technology  

Limited ("Chinasoft Zhengtong") (b) – 1,917
  

Notes:

(a) Huawei was the non-controlling owner with significant influence over CSITS, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the 

Company. Following the establishment of CSITS in April 2012, Huawei Group became a related party of CSITS thereafter. 

On 25 February 2016, the Company acquired the 40% equity interests of CSITS from Huawei, details are set out in Note 

34. Huawei was not a related party of the Group afterwards.

During the per iod from 1 January 2016 to 25 February 2016, the Group provided IT outsourcing services of 

RMB354,165,000 (year ended 31 December 2015: RMB1,953,094,000) to Huawei Group. At 31 December 2015, an 

amount of RMB679,982,000 due from Huawei Group was included in trade and other receivables in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.

(b) Chinasoft Zhengtong is an associate of the Group.
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40. ReLATeD PARTY TRAnSAcTionS – conTinueD

compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 15,417 14,771

Retirement benefits costs 250 231

Share option expenses 6,145 2,222
  

21,812 17,224
  

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the 

performance of individuals and market trends.
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41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY

Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are set out as follows:

Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

Chinasoft International Samoa/ US$1 100 100 – – Investment holding

 Holdings Limited  Hong Kong ("HK")

Chinasoft International HK HK$100 – – 100 100 Investment holding

 (Hong Kong) Limited  and trading of standalone

 software products

Chinasoft International HK HK$1 – – 100 100 Inactive

 Treasury Management

 (Hong Kong) Limited

中軟国际科技服務(香港)有限公司 HK HK$100,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

 Chinasoft Technologies Services services

 Limited (Hong Kong)

Chinasoft International Inc. United States of US$0.01 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

 America ("USA")  services

北京中軟國際信息技術有限公司 People’s RMB200,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of solutions, IT

 Chinasoft Beijing  Republic of China  outsourcing, IT consulting

 (other than HK)  services, software

 (“PRC”)  development and trading 

 of standalone software 

 and hardware products
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41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY – conTinueD

Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

中軟國際(廣州)信息技術有限公司 PRC HK$5,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of solutions, IT

Chinasoft International  outsourcing, IT consulting

 (Guang Zhou) Information  services and trading

 Technology Limited (Note i)  of standalone software 

 and hardware products

中軟總公司計算器培訓中心 PRC RMB500,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT

Training Center (Note ii)  training services

中軟國際(昆明)信息技術有限公司 PRC HK$8,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of solutions, IT

Chinasoft International  outsourcing, IT consulting

 (Kunming) Information  services and trading

 Technology Limited (Note i)  of standalone software 

 and hardware products

中軟國際(湖南)信息技術有限公司 PRC US$1,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of solutions, IT

Chinasoft International  outsourcing, IT consulting

 (Hunan) Information  services and trading

 Technology Limited (Note i)  of standalone software 

 and hardware products

中軟賽博資源軟件技術(天津)有限公司 PRC RMB5,000,000 – – 76 76 Provision of IT outsourcing

CS&S Cyber Resources  services

 (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.

廈門中軟海晟信息技術有限公司 PRC RMB80,000,000 – – 51 51 Provision of solutions, IT

Xiamen Chinasoft Haisheng  outsourcing, IT consulting

 International Technology Limited  services and trading

 (“CSIHS”)  of standalone software 

 and hardware products
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Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

北京中軟資源信息科技服務有限公司 PRC US$800,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Chinasoft Resources Beijing (Note i)  services 

深圳市中軟資源技術服務有限公司 PRC RMB5,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Shenzhen Chinasoft Resources  services 

 Information Technology

 Services Limited

上海中軟資源技術服務有限公司 PRC RMB3,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Shanghai Chinasoft Resources  services

 Information Technology

 Services Limited 

 (“Chinasoft Resources Shanghai”) 

日本創智株式會社 Japan JPY22,500,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Japan Powerise Co., Ltd.  services

HGR Cayman Islands US$3,956,000 97.35 97.35 – – Investment holding 

上海華騰軟件系統有限公司 PRC US$8,000,000 – – 100 97.65 Development and provision

Shanghai Huateng (Note i)  of IT system

大連信華軟件技術有限公司 PRC US$150,000 – – 97.35 97.35 Provision of IT

Dalian Xinhua Software Co., Ltd. (Note i)  outsourcing services

株式會社東京信華 Japan JPY10,000,000 – – 100 97.35 Provision of IT

Kabushiki Kaisha Tokyo Xinhua Limited  outsourcing services

中軟國際資源信息技術(無錫)有限公司 PRC USD3,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Chinasoft International Information  services

 Technology (Wuxi) Limited (Note i)

41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY – conTinueD
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Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

深圳市金華業軟件系統有限公司 PRC RMB1,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Shenzhen Jinhuaye Software Ltd.  services

蘇州華騰軟件系統有限公司 PRC RMB2,000,000 – – 100 97.65 Provision of solutions, IT

Suzhou Huateng Software  outsourcing, IT consulting

 Systems Co., Ltd  services and trading

 of standalone software 

 and hardware products

中軟國際電子商務有限公司 PRC RMB6,027,271/ – – 67 67 Provision of e-tickets 

Chinasoft International E-Co. Ltd. RMB30,000,000  agency services

中軟國際(中國)科技有限公司 PRC HK$20,000,000/ – – 100 100 Provision of solutions, IT

Chinasoft International (China) HK$100,000,000  outsourcing, IT consulting

 Technology Limited (“CSI China”) 

 (Note i)

南京中軟資源科技服務有限公司 PRC US$6,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Nanjing Chinasoft Resources  services

 Information Technology Services 

 Limited (Note i)

漢普管理諮詢(中國)有限公司 PRC RMB55,026,571 – – 85 85 Provision of consulting 

Han Consulting (China) Ltd.  services

 (“Han Consulting”)

掌中無限控股有限公司

MMIM Cayman Islands US$561 100 100 – – Investment holding

掌中無限信息服務有限公司 HK HK$1 – – 100 100 Provision of IT emerging

Mobile Instant Messaging and  services

 Information System, Ltd.

41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY – conTinueD
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Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

北京掌迅互動信息技術有限公司 PRC US$13,150,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT emerging

MMIM Interactive Co., Ltd.  services

 (“MMIM Interactive”) (Note i)

北京掌中無限信息技術有限公司 PRC RMB10,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT emerging

MMIM Info. Technology Co., Ltd.  Services

 (“MMIM Technology”) (Note iv)

中軟國際科技服務有限公司 PRC RMB100,000,000 – – 100 60 Provision of IT outsourcing

CSITS (Note v)  services

中軟國際(上海)科技服務有限公司 PRC RMB10,000,000 – – 100 60 Provision of IT outsourcing

CSITS SH  services

北京中軟國際科技服務有限公司 PRC RMB10,000,000 – – 100 60 Provision of IT outsourcing

CSITS BJ  services 

中軟國際科技服務(湖南)有限公司 PRC RMB5,000,000 – – 100 60 Provision of IT outsourcing

Chinasoft International Technology  services

 Service (Hunan) Ltd.

中軟國際科技服務(大連)有限公司 PRC RMB10,000,000 – – 100 60 Provision of IT outsourcing

CSITS DL  services

中軟國際(西安)軟件技術有限公司 PRC RMB100,000,000 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

Chinasoft International Software  services

 Technology (Xian) Ltd. (Note i)

大連全數科技有限公司 PRC US$150,000 – – – 97.35 Provision of IT outsourcing

Dalian Digital Technology  services

 Co., Ltd. (Dalian Digital) (Note vi)
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Place of issued and

incorporation or fully paid equity interest

establishment/ share capital/ attributable to

name of company operation registered capital the Group Principal activities
 

Directly indirectly
  

2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %

Cyber Resources Software Technology Ireland EUR100.00 – – 100 100 Provision of IT outsourcing

 (Ireland) Limited  services

Catapult USA US$992,248 – – 100 100 Provision of Microsoft 

 product and technology 

 consultancy services

衷道投資有限公司 PRC US$30,000,000 – – 100 100 Investment holding

Chinasoft International 

 Investment Limited

CSI Innovation Inc. USA US$0.1 – – 100 100 Investment holding

Chinasoft Intl Global Limited HK HK$77.5 – – 100 100 Investment holding

CSI Innovations (Hong Kong) Limited HK US$10 – – 100 100 Investment holding

Chinasoft International Brilliant Limited 

 (Cayman) *(“Brilliant”) Cayman Islands US$10 – – 100 – Investment holding

中軟國際科技服務(南京)有限公司* PRC RMB20,000,000 – – 100 – Provision of IT 

 outsourcing service

武漢中軟國際科技服務有限公司* PRC RMB50,000,000 – – 100 – Provision of IT 

 outsourcing service

CSI Interfusion Kft* Hungary HUF3,000,000 – – 100 – Provision of solutions

 IT outsourcing

 IT consulting

CSI Interfusion sdn bhd* Malaysia MYR100 – – 100 – Provision of solutions

 IT outsourcing

 IT consulting

* Newly established during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Except for convertible loan notes issued by the Company, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities 

outstanding at 31 December 2016 or at any time during the year.

Note i: These entities are registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprises under the PRC law.

Note ii: These entities are registered as institutional organisations under the PRC law.

Note iii: All the PRC established entities, except for those mentioned in Note i and Note ii above, are registered as limited 

liability companies.

Note iv: The registered owners of MMIM Technology, two individuals, hold the legal ownership of equity of MMIM Technology 

on behalf of the Group by a series of agreements enacted among the registered owners of MMIM Technology and 

Chinasoft Beijing. The agreements have in substance enabled the Group to have power over MMIM Technology, rights 

to variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns, despite the absence of 

formal legal equity interest held by the Group therein.

Note v: During the year ended 31 December 2012, CSI China, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and Huawei entered 

into an agreement to establish CSITS in April 2012 as part of the Group’s planned consolidation of its IT outsourcing 

business. Pursuant to the agreement, CSITS was owned by CSI China and Huawei as to 60% and 40%, respectively, 

in accordance with their respective contribution of the registered capital. CSITS was accounted for as a subsidiary of 

the Company. In February 2016, the Company acquired the 40% equity interests from Huawei and CSITS become a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Details are set out in Note 34.

Note vi: The entity was deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling 

interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup 

eliminations.
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The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-controlling 

interests:

name of subsidiary

Place of

incorporation

and principal

place of 

business

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting

rights held by

non-controlling interests

Profit (loss) allocated to

non-controlling interests

Accumulated

non-controlling interests

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

CSITS and its  

subsidiaries (Note) PRC – 40% (22,143) 39,674 – 160,535

CSIHS PRC 49% 49% (1,323) 2,950 46,367 47,690

Individually immaterial 

subsidiaries with 

non-controlling interests 22,058 30,840
  

68,425 239,065
  

Note: On 25 February 2016, the Company acquired the 40% equity interests of CSITS from Huawei and CSITS become a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Group. Details are set out in Note 34.

cSiTS and its subsidiaries 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets n/A 1,331,246
  

Non-current assets n/A 143,199
  

Current liabilities n/A (1,065,140)
  

Non-current liabilities n/A (7,967)
  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company n/A 240,803
  

Equity attributed to non-controlling interests n/A 160,535
  



Chinasoft International Limited     Annual Report 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

180

41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY – conTinueD

cSiTS and its subsidiaries

For the 

period from

1/1/2016 to 

25/2/2016

For the 

year ended

31/12/2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 452,988 2,678,183
  

Expenses (508,345) (2,578,998)
  

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expenses) income for the period/year (55,357) 99,185
  

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (318,266) 12,207
  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (19,024) (38,829)
  

Net cash inflow from financing activities 52,547 155,405
  

Net cash (outflow) inflow (284,743) 128,783
  



Chinasoft International Limited     Annual Report 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

181

41. PARTicuLARS oF SuBSiDiARieS oF THe coMPAnY – conTinueD

cSiHS 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 158,273 157,080
  

Non-current assets 14,389 15,837
  

Current liabilities (78,036) (75,591)
  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 48,259 49,636
  

Equity attributed to non-controlling interests 46,367 47,690
  

Revenue 137,539 159,194
  

Expenses (140,239) (153,174)
  

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) income for the year (2,700) 6,020
  

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (1,166) 6,863
  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (747) (10,517)
  

Net cash inflow from financing activities 2,376 6,210
  

Net cash inflow 463 2,556
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Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 2,152,671 1,879,960
  

Current assets

Other receivables 1,733 5,845

Amounts due from subsidiaries 89,036 129,873

Prepaid lease payments – 33

Pledged deposits – 6,773

Bank balances and cash 4,166 9,272
  

94,935 151,796
  

Current liabilities

Other payables 4,940 5,782

Amounts due to related companies 10,000 5,960

Borrowings – 415,057

Dividend payable 83 78

Convertible loan notes – 89,622
  

15,023 516,499
  

Net current liabilities 79,912 (364,703)
  

Total assets less current liabilities 2,232,583 1,515,257
  

Non-current liabilities

Convertible loan notes 244,296 –
  

1,988,287 –
  

Capital and reserves

Share capital 106,387 95,645

Reserves (Note) 1,881,900 1,419,612
  

Total equity 1,988,287 1,515,257
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Note: Movement in reserves

Share Convertible

Share option loan notes Accumulated

premium reserve reserve loss Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 1,654,687 48,813 30,391 (682,567) 1,051,324
     

Loss and total comprehensive 

expenses for the year – – – (69,347) (69,347)

Issue of ordinary share upon 

exercise of share options 50,303 (10,629) – – 39,674

Recognition of share option 

expenses – 13,637 – – 13,637

Issue of ordinary shares 281,430 – – – 281,430

Conversion of convertible loan 

notes 119,609 – (16,715) – 102,894

Cancellation of share options – (1,216) – 1,216 –
     

At 31 December 2015 2,106,029 50,605 13,676 (750,698) 1,419,612
     

Loss and total comprehensive 

expenses for the year – – – (132,767) (132,767)

Issue of ordinary share upon 

exercise of share options 60,588 (6,766) – – 53,822

Recognition of share option 

expenses – 45,285 – – 45,285

Cancellation of share options – (784) – 784 –

Issue of ordinary shares 185,156 – – – 185,156

Issue of convertible loan notes – – 42,519 – 42,519

Conversion of convertible loan 

notes 300,924 – (32,651) – 268,273
     

At 31 December 2016 2,652,697 88,340 23,544 (882,681) 1,881,900
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ReSuLTS

For the year ended 31 December

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 2,768,171 3,205,985 4,429,202 5,129,111 6,783,367
      

Profit (loss) before taxation 187,716 204,918 297,239 419,994 524,587

Taxation (37,574) (4,890) (42,183) (87,010) (114,754)
      

Profit (loss) for the year 150,142 200,028 255,056 332,984 409,833
      

Attributable to:

 Owners of the Company 133,189 148,301 200,038 280,056 442,081

 Non-controlling interests 16,953 51,727 55,018 52,928 (32,248)
      

150,142 200,028 255,056 332,984 409,833
      

HKD (cents) HKD (cents) HKD (cents) HKD (cents) HKD (cents)

Dividend – – – – 1.2
      

ASSeTS AnD LiABiLiTieS

As at 31 December

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 3,442,350 4,672,957 5,344,466 6,348,453 7,229,303

Total liabilities (1,380,067) (2,231,756) (2,643,435) (2,862,183) (2,896,664)
      

2,062,283 2,441,201 2,701,031 3,486,270 4,332,639
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